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Chairman'’s Statement
FEHE

To Our Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Chi Kan Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “FY 2022").

We are a Hong Kong-based formwork contractor, mainly engaged
in the provision of (a) formwork services, comprising of: (i)
conventional formwork which is built on-site by mainly using timber
and plywood; and (ii) prefabricated formwork which is built out of
prefabricated modules by mainly using aluminium and steel; and
(b) other construction services. During the course of providing our
formwork services, we may also be requested by our customers, in
the form of variation orders, to provide other construction services,
including plastering, installing curtain wall and other miscellaneous
works on an ancillary basis.

Though we are faced with ever increasing competition among
contractors in tendering for new projects, we are mindful to
maintain our profit margin to safeguard our shareholders’ interests.
Nevertheless, we remain confident and are well-positioned in the
market as our operation model of subcontracting works allows
us flexibility to remain resilient to adverse impact. In FY 2022,
facing strong competitions, we are still able to be awarded 16
new contracts with an aggregate contract sum of approximately
HKS$1,112.0 million. As at 31 March 2022, we had a total of 32
contracts (31 March 2021: 28 contracts) on hand and the amount of
contract sum yet to be recognised as at 31 March 2022 amounted
to approximately HK$1,376.1 million (31 March 2021: approximately
HK$1,381.6 million).

The Group has engaged in E-Commerce business since March
2021. We are strategically positioned as a brand retailer in various
E-Commerce platforms, and provide brand commodities for our
customers. With continuously rapid development of online retail
business, we cooperated with over 40 suppliers and offered 500
types of products in the E-Commerce platforms. Our sustainable and
rapid development of online retail business would be achieved by
providing high quality and diversified products.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

FY 2022 was an unprecedentedly challenging year during which
the COVID-19 pandemic across the world has dampened the
economic situation. Although there are still many uncertainties on
the road to recovery, the Group is in the hope that the development
of COVID-19 vaccines and the recent launch of mass vaccination
around the world will begin to signal the end of this pandemic and
mark the beginning of economic recovery from which the Group
will benefit. Above all, with the leadership of our professional team
and the dedication of our united employees, we believe the Group
can overcome all difficulties and can thrive.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, customers, subcontractors, suppliers
and business partners for their continuous support, and to our
management and staff members for their diligence, dedication and
contribution to the growth of the Group.

LO Hon Kwong
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B IR B am M oA

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Group are (i) construction business
which included provision of formwork services and other
construction services; and (i) E-Commerce business.

Construction Business

The Group is a Hong Kong-based formwork contractor, mainly
engaged in the provision of (a) formwork services, comprising of: (i)
conventional formwork which is built on-site by mainly using timber
and plywood; and (ii) prefabricated formwork which is built out of
prefabricated modules by mainly using aluminum and steel; and (b)
other construction services.

Formwork is the temporary supporting structures and moulds used
in construction where concrete is poured in and to be moulded
into the required structural shape and size. When we undertake a
formwork project, we are generally responsible for project planning
and implementation, procurement of materials, quality control
and overall management of our direct labour and workers of
our engaged subcontractors in carrying out the implementation
of formwork services in accordance with the main contractors’
requirements and specifications.

During the course of providing our formwork services, we may also
be requested by our customers, in the form of variation orders, to
provide other construction services, including plastering, installing
curtain wall and other miscellaneous works on an ancillary basis.

During the FY 2022, 16 new projects with an aggregate contract
value of approximately HK$1,112.0 million were awarded to the
Group. 12 existing projects were completed during the year. As at
31 March 2022, 32 projects with the outstanding contract sum of
approximately HK$1,376.1 million were all in progress.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB wm M oA

E-Commerce Business

The Group has engaged in E-=Commerce business since March 2021
via Baiyin Chi Kan Technology Development Company Limited (“CK
Baiyin”), which is incorporated in People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
on 24 February 2021. The Group hold 51% equity interest in CK
Baiyin whereas an independent third party holds 49% equity interest
in CK Baiyin.

The Group is strategically positioned as a brand retailers in private
E-Commerce platforms. We have cooperated with three private
E-Commerce platforms to provide brand commodities that match
with the need of our customers. Specifically, the income of the
Group is generated from retailing in the private E-Commerce
platforms.

With the continuously rapid development of online retail business,
we have cooperated with over 40 suppliers and brand merchants,
and committed to provide high quality and diversified products
in our best effort. Under our E-=Commerce business, we offer over
500 types of products, including agricultural products rich in
selenium, nutritional supplements, daily necessities, and cosmetic
and skin care products. Quality of products would be regarded
as our primary consideration in choosing products and products
and manufacturers would be strictly selected for the sake of better
products and quality, so as to achieve the sustainable development
of corporation.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the FY2022, the Group’s audited consolidated revenue
amounted to approximately HK$1,574.3 million (FY2021:
approximately HK$826.2 million). The increase were mainly due
to (i) 32 projects on hand as at 31 March 2022 (FY2021: 28) which
contributed approximately HK$1,133.2 million from construction
business (FY2021: approximately HK$826.2 million); and (ii) revenue
of approximately HK$441.2 million from E-Commerce business.

During the FY2022, the gross profit amounted to approximately
HK$322.4 million (FY2021: approximately HK$60.7 million),
while the gross profit margin was approximately 20.5%
(FY2021: approximately 7.3%). Gross profit margin increased
by approximately 13.2% from approximately 7.3% for FY 2021
to approximately 20.5% for FY 2022 due to combined effect of
increase in gross profit for E-=Commerce business by approximately
64.5% and decrease in gross profit for construction business by
approximately 4.0%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Other incomes primarily comprise government grant and other
income last year. Other incomes for the year decreased by
HK$13.8 million from approximately HK$15.7 million for FY 2021
to approximately HKS$1.9 million for FY 2022, which mainly due
to the combined effect of decrease in government grant by
approximately HK$15.2 million and increase in commission income
by approximately HK$1.9 million.

Selling and administrative expenses (the “S&A Expenses”) primarily
comprise selling commission, staff costs, business development
expenses, depreciation, consultancy fee and legal and professional
charges. The S&A Expenses for the year increased by HK$218.9
million to approximately HK$245.8 million, compared with
approximately HK$26.9 million of last year, which mainly due to
increase in operating expenses for E-=Commerce business.

As a result, profit attributable to the owners of the Company for
the year decreased to approximately HK$38.8 million, representing
a decrease of 9.4% over approximately HK$42.8 million in last
year. Excluding the non-recurring listing related expenses and
government subsidies, the adjusted profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$38.8
million, compared with approximately HK$36.3 million of last year,
representing an increase of approximately 6.0%.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Failure to diversify our customer base

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from our five largest
customers, in particular our largest customer, Hip Hing Group;
and any decrease or failure to maintain business relationship with
whom could materially adversely affect our business operations and
financial performance;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB wm M oA

As our Group does not enter into any long-term written agreements
with our customers, and that our contracts are awarded by tender
on a project-by-project basis, there is no assurance that our Group
would be able to retain its major customers in the future. If we
are unable to secure new projects from our major customers or if
there is a significant decrease in the number of projects or size of
projects in terms of contract value awarded by our major customers
for whatever reasons, our business, results of operations and
financial performance would be materially and adversely affected
when we fail to secure suitable projects of comparable size and
quantity as replacement. Besides, if any of our major customers
encounter liquidity problems, it may result in delay or default in
settling progress payments with us, which in turn would have an
adverse impact on our cash flow and financial position. We cannot
guarantee that we will be able to diversify our customer base by
either securing new customers or securing significant number of
new projects from other customers on comparable terms in order to
partly or wholly offset the loss of revenue from our major customers,
in which case our business, results of operation, financial position
and future prospects may be materially and adversely affected. Even
if we manage to secure new customers, it would take time and
resources for us to develop the relationship with new customers
by adapting our systems and procedures to meet the project
requirements of new customers. If we are unable to secure new
customers, our business, results of operations, financial performance
and future prospects may be materially adversely affected.

Failure to obtain new projects

Our Group's revenue is non-recurring in nature and failure to
secure new projects would materially and adversely affect our
Group's business, results of operations, financial position and future
prospects;

There is no assurance that (i) our Group would be invited to or be
informed of the tendering or bidding process for new projects;
(i) the terms and conditions of potential new contracts would be
comparable to our existing contracts; (iii) our customers would
continue to include our Group in the tendering process; and (iv) our
tenders would be selected by our customers. If we are unable to
maintain our competitiveness in, among other things, standards of
management, industrial expertise, financial capability, reputation,
regulatory compliance and terms and conditions of our tenders, our
Group may be less likely to be selected as subcontractor for new
projects. If our customers cease to engage us to provide formwork
services and we fail to replace such customers in a timely manner,
our business, results of operations and financial position may be
materially and adversely affected.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong Kong

The outbreak of COVID-19 in Hong Kong may significantly and
adversely impact our business operation and financial performance;

In such event, the resultant unfavourable economic conditions
of Hong Kong, dampened market sentiment and decreased
purchasing power of the general public could be a disincentive for
property developers or other ultimate customers to commence
new construction projects, thus delaying or reducing the number
of new projects to be awarded to us. Health safety risks during
the occurrence of COVID-19 may also lead to labour shortage,
increase in wages of the workers and/or interruption of our business
operation, delaying the work progress of our projects as a result. In
case of any infection report of COVID-19 found in construction sites,
the Hong Kong government will likely suspend the operation of the
sites for health safety reasons and our workers may be prevented
from working on site, and thereby resulting in unexpected delay to
the progress of our projects. Such delay and suspension may affect
our ability to discharge the contractual obligations owed to our
customers, which may cause material and adverse impact to our
business operation and financial performance. Since a large portion
of formwork materials are supplied from the PRC, any temporary
closure of suppliers’ production facilities, transportation restrictions
and boundary control may lead to a disruption of our supply chain
and delay the progress of our ongoing projects. The above adverse
impacts, especially if they materialise and persist for a substantial
period, may significantly and adversely affect our business operation
and financial performance. Furthermore, if we cannot receive
the payments from our customers in a long term due to delay or
suspension of our projects under the outbreak of COVID-19, we may
not be able to undertake more projects in the near future because
our internal resources as well as our existing banking facilities
would not be sufficient to support our expansion plan, which may
adversely affect our financial position and future prospects.

Cash flow mismatch

Our Group may need to incur various upfront costs before receipt
of payments from customers, and such cash flow mismatch may
materially and adversely affect our liquidity and financial position;

In undertaking our project works, we may incur various upfront
costs, including (i) payment to our subcontractors; (ii) payment of
material costs; (iii) direct labour costs to our workers; and (iv) other
costs such as utilities and insurance, as required.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Our Group's cash inflows mainly comprise progress payments from
our customers. Our customers will pay progress payments after
our works has commenced and the value of the completed works
is confirmed and certified by our customers. Our customers will
generally retain a maximum amount of 5% of the total contract sum
as retention money, which will be released if no defects are found in
our works.

The greater the number of projects our Group is required to carry
out, the larger the upfront costs our Group will likely have to incur.
This may lead to a significant outflow of financial resources within
a short period of time, and our cash flows and financial position
may deteriorate due to the potential timing mismatch between
receipt of progress payments from our customers, and payments
to our suppliers and subcontractors. There is no assurance that
our customers will make progress payments on time or that the
retention money will be released in a timely manner or in full after
the inspection process of completed works, which may in turn give
rise to disputes. When there is delay in the inspection process or
when a dispute arises in respect of certification of works by our
customers, it may result in delay of progress payments. Furthermore,
in the course of project implementation, our customers may also
place orders to change the original design or specifications or
require additional works or reduce the scope of our works. However,
such additional works may not be fully covered under the scope
of variation orders set out in the original terms of contract. As
such, there may be occasions where additional fees cannot be
determined or generally agreed upon with our customers before the
commencement of such additional works, and we may only receive
part of the progress payments during the course of the project. Any
failure by our customers to make progress payments to us or release
the retention money may have a material adverse impact on our
liquidity and financial position.

There is also no assurance that we will not record negative operating
cash flows in the future. Net cash outflows from operating activities
may adversely affect our liquidity position, and reduce our financial
flexibility and our ability to obtain additional borrowings from banks,
which in turn may adversely affect the implementation of our future
plans.
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Discrepancy between estimated costs and actual costs

Our Group determines our price based on the estimated time and
costs required to complete the works, but the actual time and
costs incurred may exceed our estimation due to unexpected
circumstances, and such discrepancy may adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial performance.

Our Group's pricing model depends on our estimation of the costs
to be incurred for each project plus a mark-up for the desired profit
margin. An accurate estimation of costs is therefore crucial for
maintaining our Group'’s business growth and profitability. However,
the actual time and costs involved in completing our projects
may be adversely affected by various factors that are beyond our
control, including but not limited to, shortage and cost escalation in
materials and direct labour, condition of the construction sites, on-
site project arrangement by our customers, inefficiency and delay
caused by errors, adverse weather conditions, disputes with our
customers or subcontractors, change in design by our customers,
worksite accidents and changes in governmental policies. In such an
event, our Group may have to bear additional costs for completing
and delivering the works within the requisite timeframe. We may
also be required to pay our customers liquidated damages for the
delay in completion of works. Any previous delay in the delivery of
our works may also be taken into consideration by our customers
during the course of the competitive tendering process, and thus
may have an adverse impact on our chances of winning future
tenders.

In particular, labour cost (including workers of our subcontractors
and us) is the major cost for our construction projects. If there is any
unexpected significant increase in labour cost, we may not be able
to shift the costs to our customers due to the competitive market
environment and/or contractual provisions with our customers,
which may result in adverse effect to the financial performance of
our Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS, WORKING
PARTNERS AND EMPLOYEES

The Group maintains long-term relationships with its customers
and working partners (including subcontractors, suppliers and
consultants), some of which have established more than 10 years of
working relationship with the Group. The close working relationship
can also be demonstrated by the increasing number of project
portfolios and continuous cooperation with working partners which
may be engaged by the Group in one or more of its projects at the
same time. Building successful long-term relationships with them
is a key element of the Group’s business model, which is closely
interlinked with all the other elements of its model. Successful
long-term relationships are built on trust — a trust that the Group is
able to provide quality service and excellent customer experience.
To achieve this, the Group needs experienced people with the
right skills and capabilities as well as continuous supports from its
working partners.

The Group also maintains a very stable and experienced
management team and an amicable long-term relationship with
its employees. The Group's key management team comprises
executive Directors and senior management, their biographies
mentioned in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” in this report. The Group's experienced
management team, coupled with a stable pool of skilled labour, is
one of its key drives in delivering high quality work to customers in
order to attain high customers’ satisfaction.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATION

The Directors confirmed that during FY 2022 and up to the date
of this report, the Group had obtained all the registrations and
certifications required for its business and operations in Hong Kong,
and had complied with the applicable laws and regulations in Hong
Kong in all material respects.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to environmental protection and
sustainable development through promoting and adopting green
practices in its business activities. Initiatives within the Group
include, but are not limited to, encouraging employees to reduce
paper consumption by reuse of single-sided printed paper, to assess
the necessity of printing where appropriate and to use duplex
printing. The Environment, Social and Governance Report of the
Company prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the Listing
Rules are set out on pages 56 to 97.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group's overall funding and treasury activities are currently
managed and controlled by the Directors and senior management.
The Directors and senior management will closely monitor the
Group's liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group’s assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its
funding needs.

REBRREXRE

AEE+OERRARIAUFERR  RUB#
BERREEREHTRIGEER - AEEEE

HeR B R B R B RN 2 B & 8 5 8 B ENRI 4%
R ERFGEINENBEN - URERER?T

BN A AEE o AR RIRE _E R BT &%
RBIZIRE L RERREIHN6ATITH o

RBEE  MBERRESREE

AEENMBEEEREFEDRBOHEELD
EIEAE\E&%&? tle-EERBEEEAER

DERAKENRBEDIN - AEERAEE
é{F BEREMARNRDESRBRENEGH

é{i}%w o

As at
31 March 2021
202193 A31H

As at
31 March 2022
7202263 H31H

mE LR
BERBHLE(%)?
BARBEEE(%)

Current ratio'
Gearing ratio (%)?
Debt to equity ratio (%)*

42 times 15
3.0%
N/A N3 A

3.3 times 1&
4.2%
N/A T3E A

Notes:

1. Current ratio is calculated based on the total current assets divided by

the total current liabilities as at the respective year end.

2. Gearing ratio is calculated based on the payables incurred not in
the ordinary course of business (being bank borrowings and lease
liabilities) divided by total equity as at the respective year end and
multiplied by 100%.

3. Debt to equity ratio is calculated based on the net debt (being bank
borrowings and lease liabilities net of cash and cash equivalents)
divided by the total equity as at the respective year end and
multiplied by 100%.
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Current ratio decreased from 4.2 as at 31 March 2021 to 3.3 as at 31
March 2022, mainly due to increase in trade payables. Gearing ratio
increased from 3.0% as at 31 March 2021 to 4.2% as at 31 March
2022, mainly due to increase in bank borrowings. Debt to equity
ratio is not applicable as at 31 March 2022 due to the cash and
cash equivalents larger than the total of bank borrowings and lease
liabilities at that date.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$217.9 million (31 March 2021: approximately
HK$196.8 million) and restricted cash of approximately HK$17.5
million (31 March 2021: HK$17.5 million). Such restricted bank
balances were held for the requirement of our general banking
facilities. The Group expected to fund the future cash flow needs
through internally generated cash flows from operations and bank
facilities.

The capital structure of the Group consisted of equity of
approximately HK$403.6 million and debts (lease liabilities and bank
borrowings) of approximately HK$16.8 million as at 31 March 2022.

The Group adopts a prudent approach in cash management. Apart
from certain debts including lease liabilities and bank borrowings,
the Group did not have any material outstanding debts as at 31
March 2022. Payment to settle trade payable represented the
significant part of the cash outflow of the Group. Taking into
account the light debt leverage, the Group is able to generate
cash and meet upcoming cash requirements. In any case, the
Group may utilise its banking facilities of HK$70.0 million, of which
the unutilised and unrestricted banking facilities amounted to
approximately HK$55.0 million.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds from the Listing involving the issue of 250,000,000
Shares of the Company amounted to approximately HK$97.0
million. The following table sets out the breakdown of the use of net
proceeds from the Listing and up to 31 March 2022:

LR RIEFEAR

£

/8 =
(G

T8 % %8 6 #5217 250,000,000 A% 2 A &)

A% - {B{E3E97,000,00087C - F"REH B EHE
202243 A31 B HARE AT S S OBF REM AR AR ¢

Expected
Utilised Unutilised  timeline for
Intended amount amount  utilizing
use of net (asat 31 March (as at 31 March  the unutilized
proceeds 2022) 2022)  net proceeds
P8 RIA (PR2022%F (2022 EBRARBA
FRREY 3A318) 3A31H)  FER0A
FEIRE EBARIE  RKPAKE HED
HKS'million HKS'million HKS'million  TEHARFFEIER
BEAT  EEET AT
Financing the upfront BRAEMEER 824 824 - Fully utilized
funding needs for our ENESTE TEHA
projects
Expanding our workforce TS T 49 4.9 - Fully utilized
TEHA
General working capital —REEES 9.7 9.7 - Fully utilized
TEEHA
97.0 97.0 -
EMPLOYEES =]

The Group had 1,026 employees as at 31 March 2022 (2021: 830).
The Group offers competitive remuneration package that is based
on overall market rates and employee performance, as well as
performance of the Group. Remuneration package is comprised
of salary, performance-based bonus, and other benefits including
training and provident funds.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 March 2022.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s motor vehicle under hire purchase
arrangement is secured by the lessors’ charge over the leased asset
with net book values of approximately HKSNil (31 March 2021:
HKS0.1 million). In addition, as at 31 March 2022, bank deposits
of HK$17.5 million were pledged to secure the banking facilities
granted to the Group (31 March 2021: HK$17.5 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the Financial Statements, the Group
had no other contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2022 (2021: Same).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency risk
as substantially all of the Group's transactions are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (“RMB”). In this respect, the
only risk it faced arose from exposures mainly to RMB. The risk
was mitigated as the Group held Hong Kong dollars RMB bank
accounts to finance transactions denominated in these currencies
respectively.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group did not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of its foreign currency transactions, assets
and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider using hedging instruments in respect of
significant foreign currency exposure as and when appropriate.

MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that affects the Group’s profitability or its ability
to meet business objectives.

The management of the Group manages and monitors these risks
like changes in government policies, changes in interest rate or
inflation to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

Save as disclosed in Note 27 to the Financial Statements, there were
no significant investments held, material acquisitions or disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies during FY 2022.

SHARE OPTIONS

Written resolutions were passed on 17 July 2020 to adopt the share
option scheme (the “Scheme”). No share options have been granted,
exercised or cancelled under the Scheme since its adoption date
and up to the date of this annual report. The Scheme will remain in
force for a period of 10 years after the date of adoption.

PROSPECTS

The outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (the “COVID-19
Outbreak”) since January 2020 may affect the business environment.
The Group considered that the COVID-19 Outbreak did not
significantly impact the Group's financial performance for the
year, but if such situation continues in the long term, the Group's
business operations and financial results may be affected, the extent
of which could not be estimated at the date of this annual report.
To mitigate and diversify the above-mentioned risks arising from
the COVID-19 Outbreak, the Group participated in the E-Commerce
business in March 2021.

In recent years, mobile internet was widely used in PRC, with the
sustainable growth in gross domestic product and the ongoing
impacts from the pandemic, all of these have profoundly altered the
consumption habits of citizens and driven their demand to online
consumption. It is expected that there will be room to achieve
sustainable growth in online retail market.

After participating in E-Commerce business, there was a rapid
growth of our financial performance during the year, and it
is expected that there will be a continued stable growth on
E-Commerce business. In order to increase the market share of the
E-Commerce business in PRC, we plan to further expand technical
platforms, increase the types of products and enhance the smart
service.
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For our construction business in Hong Kong. The Group is facing
the challenging business environment and vigorous competition,
taking into account the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region'’s policy in increasing land supply and
commitment to infrastructure investments, the Board is still
confident with the Group's future development in its scale of
operations due to its long established reputation, its listing status
and healthy financial position.

The Group strive to maintain our comprehensive advantages in face
of vigorous competition and complicated business environment,
addressing the unexpected global challenges, realising growth in
income and net profit continuously, and creating values for our
shareholders incessantly. We will stay true to ourselves, keep our
mission in mind, and take up social responsibility. We will lay solid
foundation to foster regional economic development; we will make
greater contribution to realise common prosperity in our country
and society.
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Our Board of Directors consists of six Directors, including two
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. Our Board of Directors
is responsible for and has general powers for the management
and conduct of our business. The following table sets forth the
information concerning our Directors:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (&), aged 63, was appointed as an
executive Director and the chairman of our Board on 9 August 2019.
Mr. Lo is also the director in certain subsidiaries of the Company.
He is responsible for the overall strategic planning and business
development and overseeing the daily operation of our Group.

Mr. Lo attained his secondary school education in the PRC. Mr. Lo
has over 35 years of experience in the construction industry. Prior to
the incorporation of CK Engineering together with Mrs. Lo in March
1996, Mr. Lo worked as a foreman in Holly Woodworks Engineering
Limited, a construction company in Hong Kong, from 1981 to 1989,
where he was responsible for monitoring construction projects. He
started and carried out his own construction business under the
trade name of “Chi Kan” from 1989 to 1996.

Ms. Chan May Kiu (FR3X18), aged 56, was appointed as an
executive Director and the chief operations officer of our Group on
9 August 2019. She is responsible for overseeing the administration,
human resources and financial matters of our Group.

Mrs. Lo attained her secondary school education in Hong Kong.
From October 1986 to July 1989, Mrs. Lo worked as a sales clerk
in Hang Hing Steel Furniture Company, a Hong Kong company
engaged in the sales of furniture, where she was responsible for
the sales and accounting matters of the company. From 1989 to
1993, Mrs. Lo worked as an accounts clerk in Holly Woodworks
Engineering Limited, a construction company in Hong Kong, where
she was responsible for the accounting matters of the company.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Zhongzhou (B £ M), aged 52, was appointed as non-
executive Director on 30 November 2021. He graduated from
Capital Normal University with a bachelor’s degree in calligraphy in
July 2002. Mr. Chen is currently the curator of Chen Zhongzhou Art
Gallery* (BRAEIMZATER). He is also the dean of the school of arts
of Qingdao Huanghai University (5 &&= /8 28t ET263) and the
school of fine arts of University of Jinan (B AXZ23EM k).

Chen is also working as a vice curator and an executive vice d|rector
(AR EAZEPT) and Zhongwai
(PINBRAXICHTS)

of China Zhigong Art Gallery*
Celebrities Culture Research Association*®
respectively.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (RRRE LB 2 M), aged 72, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 17 July
2020.

Sr. Dr. Leung obtained his Bachelor’s degree of Social Science
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1976.
In November 2002, he took up a distance-learning course and
graduated with a Doctorate’s degree of Philosophy in Business
Administration from Empresarial University, Costa Rica. In November
2004, he obtained his Master’s degree of Science in International
Real Estate from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Sr. Dr. Leung was qualified as an estate agent in Hong Kong
in August 2001. He was admitted as a registered professional
surveyor in the General Practice Division in January 2006, and in the
Planning and Development Division and the Property and Facility
Management Division in April 2014. Sr. Dr. Leung is currently a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators, a
fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and a fellow of The
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.
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Sr. Dr. Leung has over 40 years of experience in the surveying
industry and property market. He was previously employed by the
Lands Department of the Hong Kong government from January
1977 to June 1978, and from the 1980's onwards by various
property developers as well as a surveyor company in Hong Kong.
In February 1996, Sr. Dr. Leung also incorporated his own company,
New & Nice Limited (currently known as TL Properties Consultants
International Limited), which is engaged in the business of property
management and consultancy, and is currently the chairman of the
group responsible for supervising the overall project management
as well as formulating and implementing company policies and
strategies. He was an independent non-executive director of South
China Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as South China
(China) Limited), a company listed on the Main Board (stock code:
413) and South China Assets Holdings Limited (formerly known as
South China Land Limited), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8155) between December 2012 and June
2017. Since March 2016, Sr. Dr. Leung has been an independent
non-executive director of Wang On Properties Limited, a property
developer listed on the Main Board (stock code: 1243).
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Ms. Chan Sze Man (FRF#8), aged 41, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 July 2020.

Ms. Chan obtained her Bachelor's degree of Business Administration
in Accounting from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in November 2003. She has been a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since March 2016.

Ms. Chan has over 15 years of experience in the accounting and
auditing industry in Hong Kong. From September 2003 to April 2010,
Ms. Chan worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, an international
accounting firm, with her last position as a manger. In June 2010,
she joined Tongda Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board (stock code: 698), which is engaged in the electronic
products business, as an account manager and was promoted to
the position of chief financial officer and company secretary in
January 2011, where she was responsible for the corporate finance,
accounts and company secretarial functions until August 2018,
when she has been appointed as a non-executive director of the
company. Ms. Chan acted as an independent non-executive director
of Sunrise (China) Technology Group Limited (currently known as
KOALA Financial Group Limited), a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8226) from October 2012 to April 2015.
Ms. Chan also acted as an independent non- executive director
of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited, a company listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8147) from June 2014
to July 2017. She has served as an independent non-executive
director of Future Development Holdings Limited (formerly known
as China Child Care Corporation Limited), a company listed on
the Main Board (stock code: 1259) since September 2016. From
September 2018 to November 2019, Ms. Chan worked in Transmit
Entertainment Limited, a company listed on the Main Board (stock
code: 1326), which is engaged in media and entertainment business
in Hong Kong and the PRC, as the chief financial officer where she
was responsible for finance, accounts and secretarial matters of the
company.
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In March 2012, two writs of summons were issued against Seamless
Green China (Holdings) Limited (“Seamless Green”), a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8150), and its
directors including Ms. Chan. One of the claims alleged that the
directors of Seamless Green breached their fiduciary duties by
issuing a notice to convene a special general meeting in Dongguan,
Guangdong at an early hour of the day so as to discourage or
prevent shareholders from attending and voting at the special
general meeting. The other claim alleged that the directors of
Seamless Green breached their fiduciary duties by issuing warrants
and share options to others so as to dilute the then shareholders’
voting rights which might result in the relevant resolutions at the
special general meeting not being passed. The writs were issued
against Ms. Chan solely because she was then one of the directors of
Seamless Green and none of the claims was made against Ms. Chan
personally. Ms. Chan resigned from her position in November 2013.
The claims relating to Ms. Chan under the writs were dismissed in
April 2018

Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Chan has not been a director of
any public company the securities of which are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas during the three years
immediately preceding the date of this annual report.

Mr. Jiang Jungan (EZf££), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 17 July 2020.

Mr. Jiang obtained his Bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering
from Yangzhou University in September 1998. He obtained the
qualifications for Senior Engineer and Constructor in the profession
of roads in the PRC in December 2003 and December 2005
respectively.

Mr. Jiang has over 35 years of experience in the engineering industry
in the PRC. From 1980s to 2008, he worked for the engineering
department of Yancheng City (B3 T1) under various positions.
Since 2008, he has worked in China City Construction Second
Engineering Bureau Group Company Limited* (FIEE -T2
S£BEBR AR (currently known as China Overseas Construction
Group Company Limited* (FR/EIMNEREBEBRAR))
engaged in the business of road engineering and construction, and

, which is

Mr. Jiang is the chief engineer in charge of the technological aspects
of the company.
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Mr. Chu Pui Fai Raymond (53T #8), aged 65, is the safety manager
of our Group. He joined our Group in July 2019 and has been
responsible for the safety matters of our Group.

Mr. Chu obtained the Diploma in safety engineering from the
China University of Geosciences (Wuhan) in April 2004. In 2003, he
obtained various certificates in safety engineering in respect of (i)
theory of occupational safety and health; (ii) occupational safety and
health legislations; (iii) safety and health management; (iv) lifting
and mechanical safety engineering; (v) construction safety; (vi)
safety audit and site inspection; and (vii) investigation and reporting
of accident from The Society of Certified Safety Engineers of Hong
Kong. Mr. Chu is currently registered as a Safety Auditor and Safety
Officer of the Labour Department.

Mr. Chu has over 20 years of safety experience. From 1997 to
November 2014, he worked as a foreman/safety officer of Hip Hing
Construction Company Limited, a construction company in Hong
Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary of NWS Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board (stock code: 659). In Hip
Hing Construction Company Limited, Mr. Chu was responsible for
ensuring the safety compliance of various construction projects
of the company. In November 2014, he founded Construction
Engineering Safety Consultant Company and also acted as its safety
manager to review and advise on safety matters.
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Mr. Tam Ping Cheong Jackson (Bff &), aged 65, is the project
manager of our Group. He joined our Group in July 2019 and has
been responsible for managing projects of our Group.

Mr. Tam obtained the Certificate in civil engineering and the Higher
Certificate in civil engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in
November 1981 and November 1984 respectively.

Mr. Tam has over 40 years of experience in the construction industry.
From 1976 to 2004, he worked for various construction companies
in Hong Kong. Mr. Tam incorporated Chi Kan Engineering Company
Limited (2 E) T2 B PR /A 7)) in Macau together with Mr. Lo in July
2004, and he was responsible for managing various construction
projects until the dissolution of the company in October 2013. From
April 2014 to March 2015, he worked as a site agent of Leighton
Contractors (Asia) Ltd., a construction company in Hong Kong,
where he was responsible for overseeing the site operations of the
company. From May 2015 to May 2019, he worked as a site manager
of VESTA Engineering and Consulting Limited, a construction
engineering company, and was in charge of several residential
construction projects.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tsang Chun Kit (G ##), aged 36, has more than 10 years of
experience in accounting and auditing matters. Prior to joining the
Group as a financial controller in January 2019, Mr. Tsang gained
experience in handling company secretarial matters and assisting in
corporate finance matters for various listed companies. Mr. Tsang is
a practising member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also an associate member of The Chartered
Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute. He graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology with a Bachelor of Science degree in Applied
Physics in 2009.
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The Board submits the annual report together with the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
(the “Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in
the provision of formwork services and other construction services
in Hong Kong (the “Listing Business”), and E-=Commerce business in
PRC.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are
shown under note 27 to the Financial Statements.

GROUP REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 April
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Company Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. In preparation
of the Listing, the Group underwent the reorganisation pursuant
to which the Company became the holding company of the
subsidiaries now comprising the Group. For details of the
Reorganisation, please refer to note 1 to the Financial Statements.

The Listing was completed on 14 August 2020.
BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group, with the description of the
principal risks and uncertainties, for the year ended 31 March 2022
and the likely future development, are included in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report
on pages 6 to 19, which forms part of this report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 108 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2022.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on Friday, 9 September 2022, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 6 September 2022 to Friday,
9 September 2022, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. Shareholders
of the Company are reminded to ensure that all completed share
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar (Branch
Share Registrar) in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong (if
the transfer will be lodged before 15 August 2022) or 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, No. 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (if the transfer will
be lodged on or after 15 August 2022) not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 5 September 2022.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company
or by the Group after 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this
annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last four financial years are included in the
section headed “Financial Summary” in this annual report on page
224, which forms part of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2022 are
set out in note 24 to the Financial Statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

The Company did not enter into any contract, other than the
contracts of service with the directors or any person engaged in the
full-time employment of the Company, whereby any individual, firm
or body corporate undertakes the management and administration
of the whole, or any substantial part of any business of the
Company.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$259.5 million.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in note 14 to the
Financial Statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 86.4% (2021:
approximately 83.5%) of the Group's total construction revenue.
The largest customer accounted for approximately 57.9% (2021:
approximately 49.1%) of the Group's total revenue.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's five largest
subcontractors in aggregate accounted for approximately 65.6%
(2021: approximately 71.3%) of the Group's total subcontracting fee.
The largest subcontractor accounted for approximately 24.6% (2021:
approximately 25.3%) of the Group's total subcontracting fee.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's five largest
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 67.8% (2021:
75.9%) of the Group's total material costs. The largest supplier
accounted for approximately 39.7% (2021: approximately 33.8%) of
the Group's total material costs.

At no time during the year have directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company)
had any interest in these major customers, subcontractors and
suppliers.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Written resolutions were passed on 17 July 2020 to adopt the share
option scheme (the “Scheme”). No share options have been granted,
exercised or cancelled under the Scheme since its adoption date
and up to the date of this annual report. The Scheme will remain in
force for a period of 10 years after the date of adoption.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to this annual report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman)
Ms. Chan May Kiu

Non-executive Director

Dr. Yang Tao (resigned on 30 November 2021)
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou (appointed on 30 November 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Ms. Chan Sze Man
Mr. Jiang Jungan

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each
annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation. However, if the number
of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
but not less than one third shall be the number of retiring Directors.
The Directors to retire in each year shall be those who have been
in office longest since their last re-election or appointment but, as
between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors
on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.
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Further, pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director so appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting.

In accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the Articles of
Association, Ms. Chan Sze Man, Mr. Jiang Jungan and Mr. Chen
Zhongzhou shall retire from office at the 2022 annual general
meeting (the 2022 AGM"). All of the above retiring Directors, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2022 AGM.

Details of the Directors standing for re-election at the 2022 AGM are
set out in the circular to be despatched to the shareholders of the
Company together with this annual report.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management’on pages 20 to 26 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company and each of the independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company. The
appointment of each of the Directors is for a period of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and shall continue thereafter
until it is terminated by either party by giving not less than three
months’ notice.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the 2022
AGM has a service contract with any member of the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that every Director shall be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses and
liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in the execution
of his duties or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that such
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to such Director. There is appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Group. Such provision was in force as of date of
this annual report and during the financial year ended 31 March
2022.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in note 25 to the Financial Statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the
Financial Statements.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest in Securities

As at the 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) and the chief executives
of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations, within the meaning
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”),
were as follows:

EERE
EEREBTRABRE ST RS

MR2022F3A31H  ARAIEE([EE ) RARF]
FETBABRAR R REREAE (&R ES
KEAEIEGI([ B HREEGEA]))MRG - B
DRESHTF  HEQIREESF KSR EXVED
FINSDEEANME AR REBRERITBR
AaEl([BRFT ) MRS MR R (BIEIRIEE S K
RPN BB E S W EESNE AN ER
KR E) () IRIEEFH RS GG F 35218 AL
SRR RZIRFTIEN SR MARNER AR (OB
B AR S LR A ([ EMAR R )M s 0m#,
B ITAZERHETESFRR HZESTA (122
SR DAMS AN E RERFTHERS AR

(a) Long position in the Shares: (a) REGHEFE :

Capacity/ Approximate
Name of Directors Nature of interest Total interests Percentage
EEpgE B Rt RESARE BMOBEDE
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (“Mr. Lo") (Note 1) Interest in a controlled 549,750,000 54.9%
EENEAE(ESLE]D (MFED) operation

R EE R
Ms. Chan May Kiu (“Mrs. Lo") (Note 2) Interest of spouse 549,750,000 54.9%
BREGZ 2 ([EAK]) (H7E2) FoiBHEss
Notes: Ptz :

1. Mr. Lo holds the entire issued share capital of Magnificent Faith
Limited (“Magnificent Faith”) and is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by Magnificent Faith for the purpose of
the SFO. Mrs. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under
the SFO.

2. Mrs. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is deemed
to be interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under the SFO.
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(b) Long position in the Shares of associated corporation ofthe  (b) R F15H LERHLIIFA

Company:

Capacity/ Approximate
Name of Directors Name of associated corporation ~ Nature of interest Total interests Percentage
EEpg RBOEE £ E 5B/ EEME ERAE L FED
Mr. Lo (Note 1) Magnificent Faith Beneficial owner 549,750,000 54.9%
B (M) HE EREBA
Note:

1. Mr. Lo holds the entire issued share capital of Magnificent
Faith and is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held
by Magnificent Faith for the purpose of the SFO. Mrs. Lo is
the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under the SFO.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2022, the
following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fail to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who were directly or
indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any member of the Group:
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of Shares interests in

Name Nature of interest (Note 1) our Company

RGEHE LERNUNEIEE £

wE S ERB EEMtE (MHEE1) BABED

Magnificent Faith Beneficial owner 549,750,000 54.9%
=12 EnEA A ordinary Shares (L)
549,750,000%
AL

Mr. Lo (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 549,750,000 54.9%
& % & (FtsE2) corporation ordinary Shares (L)
SN E 549,750,000 %
AR (L)

Mrs. Lo (Note 3) Interest of spouse 549,750,000 54.9%
BN (FEE3) Ao (B e ordinary Shares (L)
549,750,000A%
AR

CT Vision Strategic Company Limited Beneficial owner 158,310,000 15.8%
("CT Vision”) BEA A ordinary Shares (L)
HREERBERRB([HREED 158,310,000/%
TEARWL)

Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory Interest in a controlled 158,310,000 15.8%
("Dr. Ho") (Note 4) corporation ordinary Shares (L)
& A E L (T fartE L 1) (FieE4) R LB R 158,310,0008%
AR

Notes: Bt
1. The letter (L) denotes the person’s long position in our Shares. 1
2. Magnificent Faith is a company incorporated in the BVl and is wholly- 2.

owned by Mr. Lo. Mr. Lo is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Magnificent Faith for the purpose of the SFO.

3. Mrs. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is deemed to be 3.
interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under the SFO.

CT Vision is a company incorporated in the BVl and is wholly-owned A

by Dr. Ho. Dr. Ho is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by

CT Vision for the purpose of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the
Directors were not aware of any other person (other than the
Directors) who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was
directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interest in Securities” above, at no time during the
year was the Company, its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of
the Company or their associates to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of Shares or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
was made by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company
which require compliance with any of the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders' approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules from
the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 39 to 55.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund prescribed
by the Mandatory Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and certain retirement benefit scheme under
the regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Save
as the aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any other pension
schemes during the year ended 31 March 2022.

COMPETING BUSINESS

For the FY2022, none of the Directors or the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective close associates had any interests
in any business, apart from the business of the Group, which
competes or likely to compete (either directly or indirectly) with the
business of the Group.

Non-Competition Undertaking by Controlling Shareholders

The Controlling Shareholders had entered into a deed of non-
competition on 17 July 2020 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”). The
Controlling Shareholders confirmed their compliance with all the
undertakings provided under the Deed of Non-Competition. The
independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the compliance
with the Deed of Non-Competition and are satisfied that the
Controlling Shareholders have complied with the terms of the Deed
of Non-Competition during FY2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct of
dealings in securities of the Company by Directors. Upon specific
enquires of all the Directors, each of them confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code
during the year.

EER

ARBRAZETBEEEATRENFIESE
ZEEER®RSE °

BT E

RNEE 2 ER M AR GG (BB EFIE
485 ) FTET AR R HIME AR A R P ZE AR EM
BI([H & )ERIE NS TRRERE S - BRET
FON 0 REBREZE2022903 8318 IEFERITE
S RN ST E -

AEBFUNER

RNFHBEFE  SEESHIEBBRRRES
EEMNBETBRARERNRE X HF X ATRER

F(EZIER)NEMNEBARES EER
BRERRIN) o

5 (A&

BERBRR A HmFEE

TRE AR AN 202057 A 17 B RAT B FRE ([ T35
FRE])  cERBRAERBEETFIRFEZET
WFT B E - BUIERTESC BB THFRIE
B TIER - WIS RIERR R R 202F I HREE
B 18 5T 5 F 2B MEK o

BTESETRZRZNEESTA

ARBCRA EMRRM SR8 EHBTAE
%ﬁﬁ SRR GRETR - FREFEEAR
BEHFHBRTER - KRAZBESFHARSEN

{§ EEFUHRRENAFED EFRLETE
FREVHY IR ERLE ©
Annual Report 2022 3R Chi Kan Holdings Limited %5 £)#= iR G R A 7] 37



Directors'Report
EERHE

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS UNDER RULE 13.18 OF THE
LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company as guarantor, and Chi Kan
Woodworks Company Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) as borrower, entered into facility agreements
relating to a HK$40 million (“Facility 1”) and a HK$30 million (“Facility
2") general banking and term loan facilities with licensed banks in
Hong Kong as lenders.

According to the Facility 1 and Facility 2, the Company, as guarantor,
has undertaken to the lenders that not less than 60% and 30%
operating sales proceeds to be credited to respective accounts.

A breach of the above undertakings will constitute an event of
default, and the lenders may cancel or suspend the facilities and
demand repayment of any outstanding amounts under the facility
agreements together with interest accrued thereon.

The above undertakings contain covenants relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholders of the Company which
are subject to disclosure under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Moore Stephens CPA Limited were firstly appointed as
auditors of the Company in 2022 upon the retirement of
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 have
been audited by Moore Stephens CPA Limited, who will retire and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2022
AGM.

By order of the Board
Chi Kan Holdings Limited

Lo Hon Kwong
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report of
the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance with an aim to protect the
interest of shareholders.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 (the “CG Code”) of the Listing Rules. Upon
the Listing and up to 31 March 2022, the Company complied with
all applicable provisions of the CG Code except for the deviation as
stated below:

Pursuant to A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The Company does not officially have chief
executive. The role and function of chief executive have been
performed by all the executive Directors collectively. The Board
believes that the present arrangement is adequate to ensure
an effective management and control of the Group's business
operations. The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of
the Group's structure as business continues to grow and develop in
order to assess whether any changes, including the appointment of
chief executive officer, is necessary.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules upon the Listing. All
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during FY2022 in response to
the specific enquiry made by the Company.

The Board has established written guidelines no less exacting than
the Model Code for relevant employees in respect of their dealings
in the securities of the company as required under the CG Code.
No incident of non-compliance of such guidelines by the relevant
employees was noted by the Company since the Listing.
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THE BOARD

The Board acts in good faith, with due diligence and care, to
discharge its duties concerning the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. The primary role of the Board is to protect
and enhance long term shareholders’ value; it also oversees the
management, business, strategies and financial performance of
the Group to ensure that good corporate governance policies and
practices are implemented within the Group. The management is
responsible for the execution of the strategies in the Group’s daily
operations and the implementation of the risk management and
internal control systems.

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of
this annual report is set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman)
Ms. Chan May Kiu

Non-executive Director

Dr. Yang Tao (resigned on 30 November 2021)
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou (appointed on 30 November 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Ms. Chan Sze Man
Mr. Jiang Jungan

The biographies of the Directors during the year and up to the date
of this annual report and the relationships among them are set
out in the “Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management”
section on pages 20 to 26 of this annual report. The executive
Directors bring a good balance of skills and experience to the
Company. The independent non-executive Directors provide their
independent judgement on the development, performance and risk
management of the Group. The Directors are fully aware that they
are individually and collectively accountable to shareholders.
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The executive Directors have entered into service contracts
with the Company and each of the independent non-executive
Directors have been appointed on a specific term of three years.
Notwithstanding the specific term of appointments, the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) provide
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at the
annual general meeting at least once every three years. At each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire shall retire from office by rotation and be eligible
for re-election by the shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitor the performance of the senior executives. The
Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests of the
Company.

Liability insurance for the Directors and senior management officers
of the Company was maintained by the Company with coverage for
any legal liabilities which may arise in the course of performing their
duties.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Since the Listing Date, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of
the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with
other senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for
implementing the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board
from time to time, and conducting the day-to-day operations of the
Group.

Executive Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review
the performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole, co-
ordinate overall resources and make financial and operational
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of
management including circumstances where management should
report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs
of the Group.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall
strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of
the Group. Directors may participate either in person or through
electronic means of communication.

Pursuant to code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board should
meet regularly and board meetings should be held at least four
times a year.
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The attendance of the respective Directors to the Board Meeting
since the Listing and up to the date of this annual report are set out

REFELMEAFHRARLFEFTESHNB
REINT

il<)S

below:
Attendance/
Number of
meeting during
FY2022
120225
BBEENHE
KB BRRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) EENREE(EE) 4/4
Ms. Chan May Kiu PREB L+ 4/4
Non-executive Director FHTES
Dr. Yang Tao (resigned on 30 November 2021) BEBE (2021511 A308 BHE) 2/4
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou (appointed on 30 November 2021) BRI 5 4= (7320214611 A30 B E R E) 1/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung RRRIE R Z R0 4/4
Ms. Chan Sze Man BREFBI AL 4/4
Mr. Jiang Jungan =HekE 4/4

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF DIRECTORS

During the FY2022, all Directors confirmed to comply with the
provision of the CG Code in relation to continuous professional
development. In doing so, the Directors have undertaken various
forms of activities relevant to the Company’s business, Directors’
duties and responsibilities. The Company held a training for all
Directors to provide them with knowledge on the duties and
responsibilities of the Directors before Listing.

ESRHEERRE

RNFHFRFE  2REFHERETELEENR
STABEMFEZEXEZERNE - FUBRES &
ERRTEARREY  EFBEME TAEBN
EEWANED - ARBENLEMAIAERESE
WIE - REETHEFNORAMEKE -
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The record of continuous professional development relating to
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that
have been received by the Directors for the FY2022 up to the date of

this annual report are summarised as follows:

H20RFMBFEREEEAFHREY  EFCEX
MEREEREUANEEMEBEROSESE
BRAOEBIIAT

Type of Training

(Note)
&R
(Bf3E)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) BEENFE(FE)
Ms. Chan May Kiu BRIEE 2+
Non-executive Director FHITES
Dr. Yang Tao (resigned on 30 November 2021) BEE A (R2021F11 B308 B E)
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou (appointed on 30 November 2021)  BR&EM e 4 (742021911 B30 H EEE)
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHTES
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung 2 RIR B TR ZAD B
Ms. Chan Sze Man PREFFE LT A B
Mr. Jiang Jungan ZRSEE B
Note: BiaE -
Type of Training B=IE R

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, A : HEZIIRRE  SBEETRAESRE  fzde -
seminars, conferences and workshops w18 & T 1S

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and B : BIEABEMNFERT « RE - 7 - M XiEHE
relevant publications i ki 4
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established certain Board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to oversee specific aspects of the
Company'’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which clearly
outline the committees’ authority and duties. The terms of reference
of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website
and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders
upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors. The members of the Board
committees during the period from the Listing Date and up to the
date of this annual report are set out below:

Audit Committee

Ms. Chan Sze Man (Chairlady)
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Mr. Jiang Jungan

Remuneration Committee

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Chairman)
Ms. Chan Sze Man
Mr. Jiang Jungan

Nomination Committee

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman)
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
Ms. Chan Sze Man

Board committee are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company's expense.

Annual Report 2022 F3R
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Audit Committee

The Company has set up the Audit Committee on 17 July 2020 with
written terms of reference of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems, scope of
audit and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters
of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s financial
statements and the Group's consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2022, including the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Company and the Group.

The attendance of the respective members to the Audit Committee
Meeting since the Listing and up to the date of this annual report are
set out below:

FREEE

RARIER2020F7 17BN BIZEES » Wil
ETBERTCEEATINERNEABRESE -
ERLZEeNTIEREAMDESTERIVEE
BEEBRERF - ASZEHRRRERERS « B
S E RINERHEMER - LANERATESA]
HARNEMEER - APIEH K EMERA T
BHRERIT AR TNZHE -

EREE e EHEE202F3A31B IEEEARN
AN BHRERRAEBAHUERE - BIEAQA
MAEEFTRAN SRR ER -

EREB EMARMBERNFHRAMEEERE
BEggznBRaEsmT

Attendance/

Number of

meeting during

FY2022

2022

BHREENHE

R/ GERE

Ms. Chan Sze Man (Chairlady) PRSI L (/%) 2/2

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung R RIFB TR ZRD 2/2

Mr. Jiang Jungan =RekE 2/2
The Audit Committee also met the external auditors on 24 June EAAZBE €N 2022%F6 A48 BINERZ ST &

2022 without the presence of the executive Directors. M EREBHITESMAS ©
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee on 17
July 2020 with written terms of reference of no less exacting
terms those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of the
Remuneration Committee include determining/reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that
no Director or any of his associates will participate in deciding his
own remuneration.

The Remuneration committee held two meetings to review and
make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure of the Company and the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management and other related
matters as well as review and make recommendation to the Board
on the remuneration of the new director appointed.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management are set out in the sections headed “Directors’
Remuneration” and “Remuneration of the Senior Management” in
this annual report.

FHESE

NATE 20207 A17BR HEE S - W3]
ETBERTCEEATINERNEABRESE -
FHEZE eI ERECEET M ENRITE
EREEEEABNTHESE 2BREZERAE
ERABMFTMECR KRB M EHAES
SRR - AR HIET b E B BUR R 2R
NEEREREFARRREE SR ETABEA
2HEETEASHN -

FIMEZEERTTMAEHE AR
RRRBUNATEENREEREABNHMT
BEMBFRETERLAESTSRIZR - K
MEZNMRAETZIFMEAMAESTSRLZ

A
A °

EELSEEEABNTMABENAFRIES
IR TSEERASHMISE -

Attendance/

Number of

meeting during

FY2022

2022

BMREENHE

RE EERE

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Chairman) 2RIRIE LB ERD(F/E) 2/2

Ms. Chan Sze Man PREFBZ T 2/2

Mr. Jiang Jungan =EeEE 2/2
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Nomination Committee

The Company has set up the Nomination Committee on 17 July
2020 with written terms of reference of no less exacting terms than
those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment
of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing
the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company's board
diversity policy, including but not limited to skills, industry and
regional experience, background, race, gender and other qualities
etc. In forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also
take into account factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board
for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings to review
the composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, to consider the qualifications
of the retiring directors standing election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 9 September 2022
as well as review and make recommendation to the Board on the
nomination of the new director appointed.
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The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of
diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

ez FEtNEaE -

=
Iy
Y
il
23
e
At
mﬂ}
H [

Attendance/
Number of
meeting during
FY2022
120225
BBEENHE
R GERE
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) BEIEN LA (EE) 2/2
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung 2RI B TR ZRD 2/2
Ms. Chan Sze Man PREF B+ 2/2
Corporate Governance Functions EERBAE
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set outin the EH&ZBERITHREFEEASTRISFRMEXDA.
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code. BB B ©

During FY2022 to the date of this annual report, the Board had
reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code by Directors and relevant employees,
and the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in
this Corporate Governance Report.

RONFHBFERERNFRALY  EEGCRR
ARANEEEABRRELRER BEZRSEER
ABRBIINBSEERER - ARRETERR
EEREHNBRREER EFMERREETR
ETRIMBER - ARARBETEEEGTAN
ERARALEE ARENHEAR
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the
Group's the risk management and internal control systems and
reviewing their effectiveness at least annually through the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its
oversight roles in the Group's financial, operational, compliance,
risk management and internal controls, while senior management
designs, implements and monitors the risk management and
internal control systems, and provides reports to the Board and
the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of these systems. Such
systems and internal controls are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group’s business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems.

The Company has established formal risk management policy and
risk assessment criteria for the Group. Senior management identify
risks that potentially impact the key processes of their operations on
an annual basis. Risks are scored and ranked by their impact on the
business and the likelihood of their occurrence. Senior management
and department heads assess the effectiveness of the existing
controls and formulate risk mitigating activities. Results of the
annual risk assessment are coordinated by the Company Secretary
and reported to the Audit Committee, including amongst other
things, significant risks of the Group and the appropriate control
activities to mitigate and/or transfer the identified risks.
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The Group has maintained internal control guidelines and
procedures on the Group’s operational cycles relating to revenue,
purchase and expenditure, and human resources etc., to ensure
proper accounting records are kept so that reliable financial
reporting can be provided, the effectiveness and efficiency of
operation can be achieved, and the compliance with applicable
laws and regulations and safeguarding of assets can be maintained.
These procedures, together with the Company’s compliance
manual, have also shaped the control environment in which
and how the Group operates, including the budgeting controls,
investment decision making, risk assessment and practices of
corporate governance.

The Company does not have a formal internal audit department,
however, the Board has put in place adequate measures to perform
the internal audit function at different aspects of the Group.

The Company has engaged an external consultant to conduct
a review on selected business processes of the Group’s internal
control system. Results of the review was communicated to the
Audit Committee. Issues identified are followed up for proper
implementation and the progress will be reported to the Audit
Committee periodically. The Audit Committee assists the Board to
conduct review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems on an ongoing basis and the directors
through the Audit Committees are kept informed of significant risks
that may impact on the Group’s performance. For the year ended 31
March 2022, the Board considered the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group to be effective and adequate.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting function.
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Regular meetings were held between the executive Directors
and senior management to review and monitor the business
and financial performance against the targets, the progress of
certification and contract receipts from the customers, the efficiency
in the use of the Group's resources in comparison to the budgets,
and the operational matters to ensure the Group has complied with
the regulations that have material impact to the Group’s business.
The aim is to enhance the communication and accountability of the
Directors and management so that significant strategic, financial,
operational and compliance risks or potential deviations are timely
identified and dealt with in proper manner, which significant issues
are reported back to the Board for their attention.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information,
the Group has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Group's Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquires.
While any potential inside information will be escalated to the
executive meetings or the Board via the established reporting
channels, the Directors will assess and determine if the inside
information of the Group exist where timely disclosure is required
to be made by way of an announcement published on the Stock
Exchange website. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorized access and use of inside information are
strictly prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company annually. Details of
the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the Financial
Statements.
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REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the remuneration of senior
management is listed below by band:

BREEEASHMH

REZE2022F3831HILFE - 5EEEABNH
e EHFI T -

Number of Person

Band of remuneration N5 E N
HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000 500,001/ 7T 2 1,000,000/ 7T 4

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022, Moore Stephens CPA Limited
is appointed as the external auditor of the Company. The fee paid
and payable in respect of audit services and non-audit services
amounted to HK$1,030,000 and HK$150,000 respectively.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate and
sufficient cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements
and future growth as well as its shareholder value. The Board
has the full discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
Shareholders, and any final dividend for a financial year will be
subject to Shareholders’ approval. In proposing any dividend
payout, the Board shall also take into account, among other things,
the Group's financial results, financial position, cash flow situation,
business conditions and strategies, expected future operations and
earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, interests of
Shareholders, any restrictions on payment of dividends and any
other factors the Board may consider relevant. Any payment of the
dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under
the Companies Act, the Company’s bye-laws and all applicable laws
and regulations.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. In
preparing the Financial Statements which give a true and fair view, it
is fundamental that the appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently. The statement of the external auditor of
the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the Financial
Statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on
pages 98 to 107 of this annual report. The Directors were not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company’s company secretary, Mr. Tsang Chun Kit, coordinates
the supply of information to the Directors and is the primary contact
person within the Company for all matters relating to the duties and
responsibilities of the company secretary. All Directors have access
to company secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

For details of his biography, please refer to the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

We seriously take care of the shareholders’ interest to ensure that
they are treated fairly and are able to exercise their shareholders’
rights effectively. Shareholders are entitled by the Articles
of Association and are also encouraged to participate in the
Company’s general meetings or appoint proxies to attend meetings
may request the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
and put forward proposals. Such requisition should be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary for such purpose and
should specify the objects of the meeting.
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The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of
the Company under the Articles of Association and the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to put forward
proposals at general meetings may refer to the preceding paragraph
to make written requisition to require the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

In case a shareholder wishes to nominate a person for election as
director in general meeting, the particulars of the candidate must
be stated in a nomination notice signed and deposited together
with a notice of willingness signed by the candidate to the company
secretary at the Company principal place of business (Rooms 1008
and 1009, 10 Floor, China Shipbuilding Tower, 650 Cheung Sha
Wan Road Kowloon, Hong Kong) or at the Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company. The notice should be
given at least seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining effective and timely
dissemination of the Group’s information to its shareholders and
the market. The annual shareholders’ meetings of the Company
are the primary forum for communication by the Company
with its shareholders and for shareholder participation. At the
annual general meeting of the Company, the Directors (or their
delegates as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders
and answer their enquires. In addition, the Company’s website
(http://www.chikanck.com) contains extensive company
information which is easily accessible.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change to the Company’s constitutional
documents since Listing Date. The articles of association are
available on the websites of the Company and Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries may put to the Board through the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Rooms 1008 and 1009, 10 Floor,
China Shipbuilding Tower, 650 Cheung Sha Wan Road Kowloon,
Hong Kong (email: info@chikanck.com).
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SCOPE OF THE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“Report”) describes the environmental, social and governance
("ESG") performance of Chi Kan Holdings Limited (the
"Company”) and the subsidiaries (collectively known as the
"Group”).

Formwork service is the fundamental business segment of the
Group and the Group has engaged in E-Commerce business
since March 2021 via Baiyin Chi Kan Technology Development
Company Limited (“CK Baiyin”), which was incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China ("PRC") on 24 February 2021.
The Group holds 51% equity interest in CK Baiyin whereas
an independent third party holds 49% equity interest in
CK Baiyin. For the principle of materiality, this ESG report
covers construction business and E-Commerce business
during the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “FY 2022" or the
“Year"), for disclosing the ESG performance of our offices and
the construction sites where the Group was engaged as a
formwork subcontractor.

In the construction sites where the Group was engaged, the
overall operations were in charge by the main contractors of
the projects. Under this operational model at the construction
sites where the Group was engaged, the quantitative
environmental data of project sites, such as records related to
waste generation and energy consumption, etc., were directly
managed by the main contractors, and the Group could not
access the mentioned records for disclosure in this Report.
Therefore, for the operation sites covered by this Report, the
quantitative environmental performance contributed by the
Group would focus on the office management in Hong Kong
and in PRC.

The Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and according
to the actual situation of the Group. The Report is published
annually in each financial year together with the Annual
Report of the Company for the Year.
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2.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Materiality: The Group regularly makes reference
to the industry sustainability standards at the local
and international level and strives to integrate with
them. At the same time, regular communication with
stakeholders of various aspects is used to identify the
most concerned and important sustainability topics
for the Group. Those sustainability topics will also be
incorporated into the Group's development policies
under the overall strategy of the Group’s operations.

Quantitative: The Group is committed to quantifying
and disclosing key performance indicators and data
within the environmental and social categories, and
whenever feasible, explaining the methods of data
collection and calculation to enhance transparency of
the data.

Balance: In order to maintain the balance of reporting
content, fair disclosure of sustainability performance
and challenges related to the Group and stakeholders is
provided with impartial information to the public.

Consistency: The Group adheres to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for disclosure,
which allows the Group to make meaningful annual
comparisons of past performance under the same
framework, and to disclose updated calculation
methods of relevant data when necessary.
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BOARD STATEMENT

The Group is committed to its stakeholders including
but not limited to employees, customers, suppliers,
creditors, regulators and the community for corporate
social responsibility. The Group believes in implementing
sound strategies and policies for environmental, social, and
governance would improve sustainability of the Group. Taking
a proactive approach to sustainability is an inherent part of
all aspects of the Group's corporate strategy, and also critical
to the Group's business success. The Group is of a view that
sustainability is an integral element in maintaining our leading
position in the industry and contributing positively to the
development of the communities.

The Board is fully aware of the importance of risk management
for sustainable development. The Board has the overall
responsibility for our ESG strategies and reporting, as well as
overseeing and managing our ESG-related risks. The Group
has developed an effective and sufficient risk management
and internal control system.

The Board delegates its responsibilities in regard to board
oversight of ESG issues to ESG management team to execute
the Group's ESG policies, identify, evaluate, prioritise, manage
and mitigate material ESG-related issues that might adversely
affect our business. ESG management team formulates
effective strategies to balance the environmental and social
objectives with our business targets and compare our
outcomes with these targets.

The Board reviews material ESG issues at a strategic level,
ensures it is aligned with the business strategy, and assists the
ESG management team to progress against most significant
goals and targets.

Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2REMR AR Annual Report 2022 F3R

ExeRsS

AEBERNREFNERY - BRETRR
BE TP fER BERA EERER
e BITEEUEEEE - AEEREER
BRAERE - 8 REAREE MBURBESR
ERKEZ HEER - BIREBUBHETA
FERRUAKEEZ T EEREMS D
AR R —FE D+ TR B E IS
W%t AEERRAFHEERAHEE
BERE  BAREEMERITRRALIA
TREE Rt R ER -

EZgRANEREERHAKERRNESR
- EEE 2 A A B EESGREE & IEH W
& AREBREERFINESCHRERR -
Kﬁlﬂﬁﬁﬁmﬁ)&ﬂ R8I e A BB

EZeREESCEEEBRR AEBEGSE
B BHAEEZESGHE - BB TE R
EEARETABRMNEBTRTAFEZ
BRESGEE ' BMEBNER AT - WHIK
PRk R 2 o ESGE 12 [E B il & B A &R
B - ISR IRIB AL g BIZA R ET
BiZ 2 MG FE - 305 5T SRR 9K
B e

%%@u”
BEPC A B HERS - W BIESGE
mé%%@k&ﬁ%

RS SR ERESGEH @ R
BEZER



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - g REAWmE

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group convenes annual general meeting with
shareholders to provide an effective channel for the board
of directors to exchange opinions with shareholders. The
Group's overall business performance is reporting to all
investors every year through publishing in our annual report
and annual general meeting. For those customers, suppliers
and subcontractors in close connection with the Group, they
could be communicated through appropriate channels to
listen to their opinions and requests.

In addition, for assuring the regulatory compliance of business
operations, the Group would pay close attention to the
opinions of regulatory authorities, responds and follows up in
a timely manner.

The stakeholders include the shareholders, governments
and regulatory bodies, employees, customers, suppliers
and society and the public. The Group discusses with the
stakeholders through various channels for their expectations
and relevant feedback of the Group as below:

Stakeholders
&

Expectation

HE

KhESH

AEBEERREGRARRBFRE - KiEM—
EEBMNRERESTTHEHRERIRER « &
SEEBNEBRRBGTGFHEHNARIFHR
FWRITREEFAE - UASIEEEETT
[  NREBEAFEZSENETP - HE
Pk BB ERGEEBEBR  KREBESE
BWERRFK -

BN BTREEBRENEEAR A%
Iﬂﬂ@&ﬁgﬁﬁmﬁﬁ KB 1E R BR
MR

FihERRBRR  BITREE#REE
P HER  URHEERAR - AEEE
BTIZERBERNERR - THESZ
HIZ - BEEAKERERE :

&g -

Communication and feedback

BERRE

Shareholders/Investors

BR/ REE MBERR

o Corpo rate governance

TEER

+ Risk management

R e

Government and
regulatory bodies

B KBS E

- Taxation compliance

SEOARTR

BIEER
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- Financial performance

- Regulatory compliance

- Annual general meetings/general
meetings
BREBFERE BRERRE

- Corporate reports and
announcements
ERERAE

- The Group's website

REE A h

- Policy announcement
E& ‘v/‘\/;I:

- Regulatory communications

BB EETAE

s~oo
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Stakeholders

A¥RE

Expectation

Communication and feedback

B E HAE BERRE
Employees - Career development platform « Promotion mechanism
=] EXERTE EPAL 1
- Salary and benefits - Competitive salary and employee
M K 4@ A benefits
BN E MRS R
- Occupational health and safety « Providing trainings for employees and
BEEREL S strengthen their safety awareness
ﬁ@aﬁf B RMNRREZ LS
=X
Customers - Delivery and quality of services « Phone conference, visits and
®F RUERBHBERREER meetings
TR LR EE
- Customer information security
REZFER
- Customer rights and interests
protection
RIEE R R
Suppliers - Integrity cooperation - Building a responsible supply chain
HIER BREHEERER By (A8 Er R HERE
+ Business ethics and credibility - Press releases, financial and
EESE RSS! other data relating to supplier/
subcontractor’s business
BT - EEtER S emEKE
28 0 B 75 I L A B
+ Regular meeting
EHgM|
Community - Community involvement + Charity and social investment
HE w226l rERtgkE
-+ Social responsibilities - Putting into use of environmental
eEHME protection and energy saving
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+ Environmental protection
IRIR
- Employment opportunities

TiEe
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FEEDBACK

For details of the ESG performance, corporate governance
as well as financial performance, please visit the Company’s
website at www.chikanck.com and the annual reports.
The Group treasures the feedback and comments on its
sustainability performance, please send the feedback and
enquiries to chikan@chikanck.com

MATERIALITY MATRIX

During the Year, the Group has evaluated a number of
environmental, social and operation related issues, and
assessed their importance to stakeholders and the Group
through various channels. This assessment helps to ensure the
Group's business development is in line with the expectations
and requirements of its stakeholders. The Group's and
its stakeholders’ matters of concern are presented in the
following materiality matrix:

8%

BRAESGRE - EERARMBRIA 25
15 BEEHAR B A www.chikanck.com &

S2HFHR - AEESHHEAIHEERRR

JRERER  WEREBEREH  BEHE
chikan@chikanck.com °

EEMIEME

RAFEE  AEEFEBTRRENZATHE
RE e kEERBEE  FHEEE

NERRNEE 2 ERIZE - IR HH B
RAEBE ZBBERTER/NEZEHNE
Ko AEBEEFNERLZZEIHIIRN
A TERMERRE

Importance to the Group

HEREZERM
Low Medium High
& 5 ]

4+ Anti-discrimination

+ Protecting labour rights

> Customers' satisfaction Level

RUIRAE {RES THEA EPmEKY
4 Staff training and promotion 4+ Staff compensation and welfare > Anti-corruption

opportunity policies RE)S

Importance to BIRIIREAKE EEEHMRER R

Stakeholders High > Product quality and safety

HEGEZ B EmBERLZR
BEHR > Suppliers management
HEREE

Medium > Community involvement
i RS
Low

& ELZEERERY

> Protecting customers’ privacy
REEFLE

$> Non-hazardous wastes produced 4 Preventive measures for child and <> Use of raw materials

forced labour

4 Occupational health and
workplace safety
BEZ2RIERERE

> Operational compliance

2EAR

R R

BHETRRHS T2

< Environmental 4 Employee > Operation
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The table underneath shows the aspects on the ESG Guide
to be assessed and those ESG issues were determined to be
material to the Group.

ESG Aspects as set forth in the ESG Reporting Guide Material ESG issues for the Group

ESGIE S| A& 5| ZESGEi i

HAKEMSBEKXZESGEE

(A) Environmental

(VR £

A1 Emissions

Al BERD

A2 Use of Resources

A2 BIR(ER

A3 Environment and Natural Resources
A3 RERBAER

A4 Climate change

A4 EAREME

(B) Social

(B) 4t &

B1 Employment and Labour Practices
BIERRAIER

B2 Health and Safety

B2 fZRREAZ &

B3 Development and Training
B3 /R KIF I

B4 Labour Standards

4 B TIRE

B5 Supply Chain Management
BS B E IR

B6 Product Responsibility

B6 EmEE

B7 Anti-corruption

B7 RES

B8 Community Involvement
B8 1t [ 22 E
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Emission from town gas and electricity consumed
RIRFER RN T E L Z B
Use of energy and paper

158 FA REIR M Aok

Labour practices

BITER

Workplace health and safety

RN Z 2R TIERER

Employee development and training

& B R &IE

Anti-child and forced labour

fRE T Koa g T

Supply chain management

HrEgEEn

Product responsibility

EmaE

Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money
laundering

R&S - By IEFFBR M RO £

Community programs, employee volunteering and
donation

HEREE - BESEE TREHARIBR



Environmental

It is the Group’s mission to be mindful for protection
of the environment by minimising the environmental
impact regarding our business activities, materials
and services engaged. Apart from complying with the
applicable environmental laws and regulations to which
the Group subscribes, we are committed to preventing
pollution, reducing waste, recycling and minimising
use of natural resources by continually improving our
environmental practices and measures, educating
our employees to adopt environmentally responsible
behaviour, and promoting environmental protection in
our supply chain and marketplace.

A1.1. Emissions Data from Gaseous Fuel Consumption

Compliance Measures

Based on the impacts of the Group's operations
on the environment, we have identified the
relevance but not limited to the following
environmental laws and regulations:

The “Air Pollution Control Ordinance” of Hong
Kong - controls the emission of air pollutants and
noxious odour from construction, industrial and
commercial activities and other polluting sources,
as well as controls the air pollutant emissions from
certain operations through the issue of licences
and permits.

The “Noise Control Ordinance” of Hong Kong
- regulates noise from construction activities,
including the use of powered mechanical
equipment (other than percussive piling) beyond
the regulated hours under normal situation (i.e.
without prior approval).

Annual Report 2022 F3R
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The “Waste Disposal Ordinance” of Hong Kong
- controls the production, storage, collection,
treatment, recycling and disposal of wastes.
Whilst unlawful deposition of waste is prohibited,
import and export of waste into and from Hong
Kong is generally controlled through a permit
system.

The “Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance” of Hong Kong - regulates emission
of dust from building under construction or
demolition in such manner not considered as to
be a nuisance.

During the Year, the Group did not identify any
legal non-compliance or complaint regarding
emissions and other environmental issues.

Control Measures Against Pollution

For mitigation of pollution risks as mentioned in
the aforesaid compliance aspects, the Group is
striving to adopt the following measures at the
operation sites covered by this Report:

Water pollution

General wastewater should be discharged
to sink basin or toilet.

Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2REMR AR Annual Report 2022 F3R
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Noise pollution IREISH
Great care is taken to minimize noise - EETEFRIRE BRE
generated when carrying out company RENEDK - HFIDIER

activities such as renovations work, formwork, ERITEENRE I
etc., and to comply with applicable laws ST E AR AR RISk

and other requirements of the venue or
workplace.

All renovation work that generates loud
noise has to be arranged after office hours,
in accordance with the rules set by property
management office and legal requirements.

Hearing protection approved by Labour
Department is available to the colleagues
who may be affected.

TIEBRREEMES -

PMEELEEXRBRENEE
TRUBARFERAKRE
BET ATEMEERE
BRI E R AIFDERZESR -

REKLE TR ENTES
RERKERTAEITE

HRE -

Air pollution Rkl P

IHEABERRFBERAEZRER
i AR ERBRBXRRE R
high if appropriate EHEE o

The staff should maintain office with good
ventilation, adjust the fan coil speed to medium or

Some items are known to emit volatile
organic chemicals (VOCs), which is irritating
or even harmful to health. Therefore,
when purchasing the following items like
furniture, paints & inks, glues & adhesives,
pesticides and air fresheners, attention
is paid to their specification and those at
low VOC emission values are preferred in
selection.

Road traffic is another well-known source
of air pollution in Hong Kong. When
selecting fuel for vehicle (company or not),
preference is given to use those emitting
lower level of air pollutants (e.g. SOx, NOx,
soot & dusts, etc.).
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Given old-model refrigerators or some air-
conditioner models may use greenhouse
gases or ozone depleting substances as
refrigerants, measures are taken to prevent
these gases from leaking when disposing
them.

Waste Management

Regarding the general operation of formwork
services, the Group would not generate
hazardous waste nor significant discharge
of sewage, and the waste generated by the
Group’s operation was mainly non-hazardous
construction wastes. As similar with other site
operations, all construction wastes generated
would be responsible and managed by the main
contractors for recording and handling. Therefore,
there was no record of such wastes generated in
FY2022 under the scope of the Group's operation.

For wastes generated from our headquarters
office, there was only a small amount of office
trash, such as paper wastes generated from
the scrap documents, which all belong to non-
hazardous wastes. The associated wastes would
then be handed over and centrally collected by
the property management office of the building
where the Group's office is located, this facilitates
the subsequent arrangement with the qualified
agencies for waste processing and disposal.
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Waste Reduction Measures in Office

Paper was the key source of solid wastes
generated from the office’s operation. The
Group's office has made good use of electronic
operation system, through which documents
were saved in electronic form and external
communication was readily proceeded via
e-mails. Use of paper was mainly for record
purpose and consequently no significant amount
of paper-based waste was generated during the
operations. In addition, the Group has adopted
administrative measures for reducing use of
paper, as described in section “Effective Utilisation
of Paper Resources” of this Report.

Control of Greenhouse Gases (GHG) Emission

The source of GHG incurred by our business
activities mainly originated in the form of energy
indirect emission, which was the consequence of
electricity consumed in the office operations. In
response to reducing these GHG emissions, the
Group adopted the measures for saving electricity
as mentioned in section “Energy Conservation
Measures” of this Report.

The following table identified the total
greenhouse gas emission in the Year and the
greenhouse gas emission intensity calculated on
the basis of the number of employees:

The Group did not have emissions released from
town fuel and town gas consumed. The Group
also did not have motor vehicles for operation at
project site during the Year.
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A1.2. Greenhouse Gas Emission

Greenhouse gas emissions are the main factors
contributing to global warming, leading to
climate changes and threatening the ecosystem
of the world. To continuously fulfill the duties as
an enterprise with corporate social responsibility,
the Group embraces in driving green practices in

day-to-day operations so as to reduce greenhouse
gas emissions in the business operations.

Key Performance Index (“KP1")

A1.2. BETREHK

BEREHRASZRE(ZER
RE - RIRE ML - 2ERER
ERRIEE - RFERTHR
—HERLEHEREEIEEN
BE AEEBNORATELESR
MARKEER - WD R EE
EEZREREHRE

RRENER
FY2022 Unit %
2022
B B %
Scope 1 Direct Emission HE— FEHRY - Kg AT 0%
Scope 2 Indirect Emission g BEERY 31,530 Kg 2T 83%
Scope 3 Other indirect Emission gE= HiEEERY 6,339 Kg 2T 17%
Total st 37,869 Kg Afr 100%
Scope 1: It mainly represents the towngas, #oE—: FERABEAIK

liquefied petroleum gas and diesel oil
from consumption of motor vehicles.

Scope 2: It mainly represents the electricity
purchased from power suppliers.

Scope 3: It mainly represents the paper waste
disposed at landfills and water used.

During the Year, there was 37,869 (FY2021: 7,350)
kg of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse
gases emitted from the Group’s operation.

When considering the greenhouse gas emissions
intensity, the Group recorded approximately 511
(FY2021: 245) kg of greenhouse gas emissions
per number of full time staff during the Year. The
increase was because the Group engaged new
e-commerce operation during the Year.

Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2REMR AR Annual Report 2022 F3R

R AL T R
o

#ig—: IEHAHERER
ZEH e

#HiE=: FEEFENHEERE
ZER AR TR AR
K o

NAFEE  REEEERHZS
EREEZE37,869(2021F B BL
€ 1 7350) AT —&1bhix o

HAEREEREEMNS @ A%
ERAFERSBEERESR
H 49511 (2021 FHREE : 245)
DB EREHERY) - 1iE 5 H
RAEERAFERETHNE
TRTEER -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - g REAWmE

Al.3

The Group set the targets to less than 600 kg of
greenhouse gas emissions per number of full time
staff. The Group has achieved the target during
the Year.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations:

The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes of the Group during
the Year. In addition, no significant fines or non-
monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported
in the Year.

Hazardous Waste and Non-hazardous Waste

Hazardous Waste

The business operations of the Group produced
insignificant hazardous waste, including chemical
wastes and hazardous chemicals, during the Year.

Non-hazardous Waste

The major non-hazardous waste produced by the
Group was the paper waste during the Year. It
amounted to approximately 0.35 (FY2021: 0.93)
tonnes during the Year, the Group strives to
create a working environment by reducing the
waste.
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A2.1 Use of Resource

While resource consumption at project sites were
tracked by main contractors under the contracted
responsibility and the Group did not directly own
any vehicles for operation at the project sites, the
main resources consumed and tracked by the
Group were electricity and paper consumption
in office. Relatively, water consumption was not
significant

The following table set forth the main resources
consumed by the Group at the headquarters

office in Hong Kong during the Year:

The summary of the resources consumed are set

A2.1 BRERH

FR A TE B A8 Y & R E FE R 4
EEBEANETETER M
BAREBYEFEESTMER
BB A M ER - NEBAH
EREGNEEZEREHAEM

BHRKFRERE - BYEME - &
IKEWNFEE ©

T%ﬂﬁ$¢ﬁ$ﬁlﬁﬁﬁw
W AENEBERHEFES)

AEBEFEZERBEMAT

out below:
KPI
RARENIEE
% increase/
FY2022 FY2021 Unit (decrease)
20224 20214 %3 hn,~
MBREE MREE By (R 2)
Electricity consumed #FEE= 37,126 19,875 kWh T FLBF 87%
Paper 4 1,321 800 Kg AfT 65%
The summary of the resources consumed per BRE KRB E IR
million of revenue are set out below: ™
KPI
BRENEE
% increase/
FY2022 FY2021 Unit (decrease)
20224 20214 %Ki,
MBEE MBEE = (R2)
No. of full-time staff 2BREEAK 74 30 Staff % 196%
Electricity consumed HEERE 502 663 kWh/no. of (24%)
intensity full-time staff
FEE
2RIES A
Paper 48 18 26 Kg/no. of (31%)
full-time staff
A/
2HEE AH
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The Group set the targets to 650 kWh of electricity
per number of full-time staff, which is closed to
electricity consumed last year, was consumed
for the Year. The Group has achieved the target
during the Year.

Energy Conservation Measures

Understood electricity was the key type of energy
consumption, which also indirectly generated
greenhouse gases into the environment. The
Group has implemented various measures for
energy saving purpose through the direction
towards green office management:

(1) Lighting

turn off some lightings when the
occupancy is low, e.g. during lunch
and after office hours;

switch off unnecessary lighting in
public communal areas, such as
reception counters, corridors, etc.,
after normal office hours;

reduce the use of high-power
incandescent lamps.
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(2)  Air-conditioning 2 Z=H
keep room temperature at HIRFEEER -
appropriate level, e.g. 25.5°C; K255 ¢
turn off some air-conditioning units T 1l A 3R B B 8 B
when the occupancy is low, e.g. BB =AM - Hlan
during lunch, after office hours; FE B R A
1& ;
switch on air-conditioning for pre- PNERRE R R
cooling no earlier than a specified ZEFEITIRR ¢ Bl
period, e.g. 15 minutes before EREWIEAAINIS
conference rooms are to be occupied o8& - WEFEHEEA
and switch off once the room is Wz BNEAET ¢
unoccupied;
dress lightly to minimize use of Z-E ¢ &R %;E'J)EH
air-conditioning in months of hot ZHEXAR 2
weather; BAE R ZET
lower window blinds or curtains EREFA P A ZE AR
before leaving office to reduce direct AEFNEE - AR
sunlight on the following day N N =l
(3) Computers B) BT

activate the standby mode or
hibernation mode features of
personal computers;

switch off the monitors during lunch
and when the staff is away from the
workplace for meeting, albeit a short
one;

switch off personal computers
(including both monitor and
computer processing unit) after office
hours.
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(4)  Other Electric Appliance

Purchase electric appliance with
energy-efficient mode or energy
efficiency label.

Water Conservation Measures

All stages of formwork services engaged by the
Group, not taking account of the concreting
process undertaken by the subcontractors
engaged by main contractors before striking of
the formwork, generally would not consume
significant amount of water. On the other hand,
the amount of water consumption at the project
sites engaged by Group would be tracked and
managed by the main contractors under the
contracted responsibility. Therefore, there was no
record of water consumption by the Group at the
project sites during the Year.

Water consumption equipment in the office
areas of the Group was managed by the property
management offices responsible for those
areas. Despite water consumption is relatively
insignificant, the Group is still conveying message
on water conservation to enhance the relevant
awareness of employees.

Use of Materials

Within the Year, the site projects managed
by the Group were mainly formworks, which
did not involve packing of any finished goods,
and therefore the business operation did not
consume any packaging materials. The type of
materials used for formwork services were mainly
timber and plywood, aluminium, as well as some
other parts or components used with relevant
equipment, e.g. scaffolding equipment.
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A3

Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group has a clear understanding of
the environmental impacts incurred by our
operations on the environment. In response
to the public’s concern over environmental
protection topics, we are monitoring closely on
the operation processes and where applicable
pursuing innovative technology for continuous
improvement of environmental performance, in
addition to the aforesaid energy saving measures
and green office management practices.

Increasing Use of Aluminium in Formwork

With advance technology and development
of industrial techniques, it is expected that the
construction market in Hong Kong will also
embrace the adoption of automation technology
to improve its competitiveness in the long run.
For instance, the mechanised prefabrication
construction system is expected to be applied
for the purpose to improve construction safety
and cost effectiveness and to strengthen
environmental protection.

It tends to become a trend in the market
of formwork services that more contractors
would use aluminium formworks to gradually
replace formworks made of other materials,
such as timber and plywood, for the sake of
environmental protection.

Being one of the market leaders, we will also drive
this trend by persuading the contractors to use
more prefabricated system whenever possible.
Through adoption of aluminium material, we
could substitute the use of timber and plywood
in the formworks and hence reduce the
consumption of such natural wooden resources.
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Effective Utilisation of Paper Resources

Paper was mainly consumed for general office
operations and the Group has adopted electronic
office systems for the applicable processes
with the aim of reducing paper consumption.
Electronic information and records were
classified by department and centralized stored
in electronic folders to minimize the wastage of
papers from duplicated printing by employees in
the same department.

With the advocacy of environmental conservation
over the past few years, staff awareness on
paper saving has been highly enhanced and
staff members have developed good habits for
adoption of the following green practices:

use of recycled paper in office operations;

ii. printing and photocopying on both sides of
paper;

ii. reuse of single-sided used paper for
drafting, printing and receiving fax;

iv.  reuse of envelopes and loose minute jackets
for internal transmission of documents and
correspondence;

V. communication and dissemination of
information by electronic means; and

vi. avoidance in printing or photocopying
documents unless hardcopy is absolutely
necessary.

Moreover, for raising awareness of our employees,
the Group has established relevant policies and
handouts regarding the appropriate ways for
supporting the subsequent recycling of waste
papers.
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A4

Climate change

The Group is fully aware of extreme weather
being the main risk incurred by climate change,
which ultimately leads to danger and damage
caused by typhoons and rainstorms. Management
assesses these weather risks to construction
projects, hence has defined and adopted relevant
measures for responding to the impacts caused
by typhoons and rainstorm weather:

Response to operational impacts incurred from
climate change

The Group has developed guidelines for work
arrangement in adverse weather, which guide
employees to respond to possible emergencies,
such as being unable to work at the time of
warnings hoisted for typhoon and rainstorm
weather.

Appropriate measures have been defined for
implementation by employees in different
workplaces:

For construction sites, prior to typhoon, use
rope or other tools to secure the outdoor
devices or machinery for prevention of
blowing down by strong wind.

For office, prior to typhoon, ensure all
windows to keep closed, as well as regular
window inspection and timely repairs.

Moreover, in order to raise employees’ awareness
of disaster preparedness and to familiarize them
with emergency response measures, the Group
provides appropriate training to ensure that
employees possess relevant knowledge and skills
to tackle with the impacts of extreme weather on
the operations.
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Mitigation against operational impacts incurred
from climate change

Apart from formulating the abovementioned to
preparedness plans in response climate change,
the Group is convinced of greenhouse gas (GHG)
as the key contributor of climate change, and
has adopted various GHG emission reduction
measures, including the use of energy-saving
lighting in the office areas for reduction of energy
indirect GHG emission, as well as the priority
in local procurement for avoiding direct GHG
emission incurred from overseas transportation,
thereby mitigating the trend of climate change.

Social

The Group believes that sustainable business success
relies on the contribution and support of its talented
employees. The Group treated its employees as the
most valuable assets to the Group. The contributions of
the employees promote the Group to achieve corporate
goals and maintain sustainable development. This is the
reason why the Group continues improving its friendly
employment policies. The human resources policy
and procedures, including recruitment, probation,
termination, promotion, retirement, transfer, appraisal,
working hours, salary, bonus, entitled leave and medical
benefits, comply with the relevant legislation.
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B1.

Employment and Labour Practices
Employment

The Group recruits directly employed labour
and subcontracts works to provide adequate
and stable workforce for provision of formwork
services and other construction services.
We consider that the combined uses and
arrangements of subcontracting and direct
labour force could uphold the quality control
of our formwork services and ensure sufficient
manpower to complete our formwork projects
in a timely manner, with regard to the required
skills and manpower for a wide variety of projects
undertaken by the Group.

Depending on the level of complexity and scale
of the formwork projects, our project team is
generally comprised of project manager, safety
supervisor, quantity surveyor and formwork
workers. We generally engage subcontractors,
such as carpenters and metal formwork erectors,
to carry out the labour-intensive formwork and
other construction services in our projects.

The Group strictly abides by the local laws and
regulations of the regions where the Group
is operating for deployment of employment
policies, which cover but not limited to The
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong for
protection of the wages of employees and
defining the general conditions of employment.

During the Year, the Group did not identify any
legal non-compliance or complaints regarding
employment issues.
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Recruitment and Promotion

Whenever there are recruitment needs, the Group
will determine the job requirements specific to
the relevant functions and projects. Recruitment
is simply based on job requirements and shall not
be affected by attributes such as race, ethnicity,
social class, nationality, religion, disability, gender,
sexual orientation, marital status, age, trade union
membership or political party, in order to avoid
any occurrence of discrimination.

Moreover, the Group has established clear
promotion policy to give adequate promotion
opportunities to eligible personnel. The Group
generally performs performance evaluation of
each employee in the Hong Kong headquarters
office on annual basis and evaluation is simply
based on work performance for fair and impartial
determination of promotion decision.

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group provides employees’ remuneration
in strict accordance with relevant laws and
regulations, including the prescribed hourly wage
rate under the Minimum Wage Ordinance of
Hong Kong, as well as enrolment of employees
within the first 60 days of employment in the
Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) scheme for
general staff or the construction-specific “Industry
Schemes” under the MPF system for “casual
employees or workers” whose employment is on
a day-to-day basis or for a fixed period of less than
60 days.

For determination of regular salary adjustment,
the Group will review the rationality and
competitiveness of the current salary structure,
based on employee’s current salary, salary
trends in the market and reference of the
industry average and the results of employee’s
performance evaluation.
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In addition, the Group will abide by the relevant
laws and regulations in strict for provision of other
legal benefits, such as statutory holidays, paid
annual leave and paid maternity leave, etc., as well
as for undertaking separation of employment with
relevant staff.

Compensation for Work-related Incidents

The Group has maintained insurance policies
for employees’ compensation of our office staff
and third-party liabilities. The main contractors
of the Group’s projects are generally responsible
for effecting suitable insurance policies for
employees’ compensation, contractors’ all risks
and third party liabilities in respect of the persons
working at the construction sites (including
the Group's direct labour and workers from our
subcontractors) on a project-by-project basis.

The Group, or the main contractors and/or
ultimate employers (i.e. property developers)
which the Group is engaging for their projects,
are accountable for adherence to undertaking the
required measures whenever necessary pursuant
to the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of
Hong Kong or equivalent regulations in the other
regions where there are project implementation.

Employee compensation system is established
for detailing the respective rights and obligations
of employer and employees in both full-time and
part-time mode and for handling incidents in
respect of injuries or death caused by accidents,
and incapacity or death incurred by prescribed
occupational diseases.

Mechanism is in place for handling claims in
respect of personal injuries and aforesaid labour
compensation.
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Staff Composition

As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed a total
of 1,076 (FY2021: 685) staff. The Group believes
that maintaining a diverse but inclusive workforce
among its working environment is the key to
maintain a sustainable and successful business in
the future.

a) Employee’ s Age and Gender Distribution

1EBAK

202243 A31 0 » 2N E 4
BB R 71,076 (2021 FEARFEE
685) BB T - AEBMBEERET
ERBERHE —BHZTRERER
EmmE s R F XK migE
ERAHERRENAZISK
Tz @@ -

a) EEFERRMERS M

FY2022 FY2021
2022F B E 2021 FBIEE
Age Group Male Female Male Female
Fie Rl E2 z £ z
0-15 0E155% 0% 0% 0% 0%
16-18 162 185% 0% 0% 0% 0%
19-30 19Z303% 17% 2% 11% 0%
31-45 31E455% 28% 2% 27% 1%
46-60 46 2 607% 31% 5% 33% 9%
=61/>61 615%3 A £ 14% 1% 17% 2%
Total et 90% 10% 88% 12%
b)  Employee type Distribution by 1EEERISM
FY2022 FY2021
2022F B E 2021 BRI E
By employment type Male Female Male Female
RESER &S £ z £ z
Full-time employment 28{E& 4% 3% 3% 1%
Part-time employment 3E:{E & 86% 7% 85% 11%
Total #Et 90% 10% 88% 12%
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Employee’ s Geographical Distribution o REEHEDMH
FY2022 FY2021
2022 ARF 2021 F B FE
By location Male Female Male Female
Rt EE 2 £ z 3 z
Hong Kong BB 88% 7% 87% 11%
Mainland China HR B A i, 2% 3% 1% 1%
Total st 90% 10% 88% 12%
Turnover Rate by Gender Distribution d  ERMRIEID ZRKE
FY2022 FY2021
2022F B E 2021 EBIEE
By Gender Male Female Male Female
gl by £ z L z
Full-time staffs’ ERIEB 2T 3% 5% 7% 3%
turnover rate e
Total Bt 3% 5% 7% 3%

The Group is not aware of any material
non-compliance with the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong, Employees’
Compensation Ordinance of Hong
Kong, Labour Law of the PRC and other
applicable laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and
welfare during the Year.
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Employee Health and Safety

Pursuant to the relevant regulations such as “The
Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance”,
“Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance”,
the Group is committed to providing a healthy
and safe working environment for employees
in the projects undertaken by our scope of
responsibility.

The Group has implemented workplace safety
documentation which includes detailed guidance
on general site conditions, potential hazards
and site requirements, construction staff’s
safety responsibilities, safety precautions and
emergency response measures and reporting of
safety incidents.

Over the past years, the Group has been awarded
by various construction stakeholders for the
safety performance during the implementation of
relevant projects.

Supervision by Safety Management Personnel

Through internal establishment or coordination
with main contractor of the responsible projects,
the Group is accountable for the arrangement of
safety management personnel responsible for site
safety inspection, day-to-day communication and
monitoring of workplace safety at construction
sites.

The designated safety management personnel
are in place to supervise the safety of the
construction site and to provide safety training to
employees. The Group will proceed in accordance
with the opinion of safety management personnel
and establish the relevant measures in response
to various safety risks in the workplace.
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Whenever an accident has occurred at the
construction site (e.g. an employee sustaining
an injury at work), the designated safety
management personnel will immediately report
the safety incident to the Group’s management as
well as main contractor of the project engaged by
the Group.

Workplace Safety Management

On the construction sites, the Group collaborates
with main contractor to identify jobs at high risk.
In accordance with the opinions of designated
safety management personnel, control measures
are established in response to different
occupational safety risks. Unless otherwise
specified in the project implementation, main
contractors are obliged to provide all necessary
safety equipment to those employees being
appointed by the Group.

Emergency drill are regularly scheduled in the
construction sites to ensure employee awareness
in response to emergency.

For office safety, the Group also undertakes the
appropriate safety management measures, which
include placing of first aid kits stocked with
emergency medicines, assurance of fire-fighting
supplies in place, posting of fire evacuation route
plans, as well as participation in any fire drill
organized by responsible party.
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Management Measures against COVID-19 Pandemic

Unless there is a confirmed infection case of
COVID-19 among the construction workers in the
project sites or the Hong Kong government has
imposed suspension of construction work against
the impacts from COVID-19, the main contractors
of the Group'’s project generally will not consider
suspending or postponing the works in project
sites due to the potential liquidated damages
for late completion, and therefore the Group has
undertaken the following precautions against
COVID-19 at the project sites:

circulate the guidelines on health
precautions against COVID-19 (including
wearing of mask, measuring body
temperature before entry to the project site,
etc.) issued by the relevant main contractors
and the Construction Industry Council
to our workers and the workers of our
subcontractors;

require our workers and the workers of our
subcontractors to wear masks in project
sites;

report travel history of our staff and their
family members residing with them to
project manager;

require the relevant staff and/or their family
members who have travelled to the PRC
to work from home for 14 days upon their
arrival;

suggest our workers and the workers of
our subcontractors to consult a doctor
promptly and undergo quarantine for 14
days if they have a fever or other symptoms;

keep close communication with main
contractors of the Group’s projects when
any workers in project site confirmed
positive for COVID-19
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Safety Performance

There was no employee record of work related
fatality in this Year. During the Year, the Group did
not identify any legal non-compliance related to
occupational health and safety regulations of the
local operating region.

The Group adopts non-discriminatory
employment practices and provides a healthy
and safe workplace. All employees are required to
keep the construction site and the offices in safety
and cleaning condition. The Group is subject to
and complies with regulations in Hong Kong and
PRC that govern occupational health and safety
issues.

The Group complies with the “Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases” by execution of health and safety
polices to prevent of occupational diseases. As
a result, the Group can effectively protect the
health and safety of its workers during their work
and achieve the Group’s goal and promote the
economic development of the Group.

Smoking is prohibited in office’s areas. Fire
extinguishers, fire alarms and evacuation route are
available for the employees located at the offices.
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Occupational Health and Safety Data BREFR T2 2
The information of work accidence is set out TIEEREFWT -
below:
FY2022 FY2021 FY2020
2022FHREFE  201FHFHRFE 20205 HFE
Health and Safety Male Female Male Female Male Female
REHEZE £ z 5 z 5 z
Rate of work-related AT TH 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
fatalities =
Lost days due to work AT & mE%k 7,156 244 5,058 226 1,229 331
injury B TERER

The Group is not aware of any material non-

compliance with the Occupational Safety and

Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, Prevention and

Control of Disease Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Law on Occupational Safety and Health of PRC
and other applicable laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating

to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards

during the Year.
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B3

Development and Training

The Group has maintained experienced project
management team and each of our project
managers has near 20 years of experience in the
construction industry. They play an important
role in leading the team and guide the workers
towards successful completion of projects. We
will establish training plan for arranging different
types of training to employees. For on-job
training, we will arrange experienced employees
to lead the junior staff for development of their
job skills and completion of jobs properly.

Training arrangement will vary in accordance with
different functions and projects. The scope of on
job trainings will generally include the following
topics:

Special construction requirements in the
Group's responsible project;

ii. Safety measures in the construction sites;
and

ii.  Environmental protection measures of
the Group/main contractor/property
developer.

Whenever appropriate, resources will be allocated
to support employees’ training to raise their
technical competence, and the Group will
support employees to participate in the relevant
development programmes from the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction which are accredited by
the Qualifications Framework.

In the construction sites, main contractors of
the Group's responsible projects generally will
provide safety training for participation by the
Group's employees. In event of the Group being
the main contractor, safety training will be
provided to the site workers in accordance with
the requirements stipulated by the developer.
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All employees are encouraged to enhance their
skills and knowledge in order to perform their
duties more efficiently and effectively. During the
Year, the Group provided approximately 62 hours
of training to its employees.

The Group encourages employees to strike a
balance between work and life. All employees
are encouraged to participate in the recreational
activities in order to enhance the team spirit,
employee’s sense of belonging and morale.

Labour Standard

The Group fully understands that exploitation of
child and forced labour is universally condemned,
and therefore takes the responsibilities against
child and forced labour very seriously. The Group
strictly complies with all laws and regulations
against child and forced labour. Internal policies
are also in place to ensure that no person who is
underage or under coercion is hired and, if any
such case is identified during the recruitment
process, it will report to the relevant authorities.

The Group places a significant emphasis
on developing human capital and provides
competitive remuneration and welfare packages.
Promotion opportunities and salary adjustments
are benchmarked against individual performance.
Employees are entitled to various fringe
benefits, such as annual leave, marriage leave,
compassionate leave and medical coverage, in
accordance with local regulations. With the well-
established benefit systems and support made to
its employees, the Group strives to retain talents
and envision the development of its employees.

The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong, Employment of Children Regulations
of Hong Kong, Labour Law of the PRC, and
other applicable laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group relating to
preventing child or forced labour during the Year.
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B5

Supply Chain Management

The supply chain of the Group is mainly
comprised of material suppliers and
subcontractors. Our suppliers and subcontractors
mainly include:

(i) suppliers of timber, plywood, aluminium
and steel mould, scaffolding equipment
and other equipment; and

(i) subcontractors such as carpenters and
metal formwork erectors, who carry out the
implementation of our formwork and other
construction services.

We have maintained a list of approved suppliers
and subcontractors who are evaluated and
approved by us, for assuring that the quality
of their supplies and services is of acceptable
standard.

Selection of Material Suppliers

The Group will conduct initial assessment before
adding any news supplier to our approved list of
suppliers and subcontractors. We will proceed
annual performance evaluation of the suppliers
on the approved list to ensure the quality of
goods are maintaining at acceptable level.
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Unless specific appointment by the main
contractors and/or property developers, the
Group will conduct assessment of material
suppliers in accordance with the following
selection criteria:

Quality and conditions of goods received

ii. On-time delivery

ii.  Adherence to pre-defined procedures and
instructions

iv.  Quality and timeliness of service

V. Reputation and past reliability record

vi.  Technical capability

vii.  Environmental-friendly characteristics

It is common for our staff to visit the factory or
workshop of our suppliers for inspecting the
design and specifications of the ordered materials
or products, before arranging transportation of
materials to the construction sites.

Selection of Service Subcontractors

The Group will generally only engage
subcontractors on our approved list of
subcontractors, considering the nature and
complexity of each project and the availability of
our resources at the time.

The Group does not limit the engagement to
only the existing subcontractors on our approved
list. We will also consider cooperation with new
subcontractors so as to expand our base of
subcontractors and maintain a stable source of
labour for project implementation.
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We select our subcontractors based on a series of BB IE— R EREED B

criteria, including but not limited to: i BEETERR
Reputation i BE

ii.  Job arrangement, e.g. timely completion, i IELRHE - miRFE
material utilization R A

ii. Competence of management personnel, ii. BIEABRAESD KGR
e.g. complaint rate, adherence to site rules K B AR IR A

iv.  Working performance in the past, e. g. v. BEIERR - LMFE-
workmanship, technology used, quality of RN  RFEER - &
services, safety performance FKRIB

v.  Site cleanliness v. HSREZIEE

vi. Environmentally product and service vii REFEBRRE®@REHIRRE
preferable AR %%

From time to time, the Group will review AEBBEESBEHKRIET

and update our internal approved list of ?f? : T\E%ﬁ%ﬂ‘jﬁ%%ﬁﬁ{?ﬁﬂ’]ﬁqﬁﬁ

subcontractors according to their performance RADBEEa o RIBEB BB

evaluation. During project implementation, our B RMWEREEEETHE R

project managers will regularly meet with the BZEND B WHEYERHE

engaged subcontractors and closely monitor their TEEE MR -

work progress and performance.

During the Year, there was a total of 65 suppliers RAFE @ NEBBHIER T65
and subcontractors, amongst which 62 of them RIEEE LD EE  EF62RKE
were based in Hong Kong and the remaining in BN ES - AR AERE -
PRC.
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Management of Risks from Business Partners in the
Supply Chain

We are liable to our customers for the
performance of our subcontractors as well as any
potential employee’s compensation claims and
personal injuries claims made by the employees
of our subcontractors arising from work injuries
which may happen from time to time.

Therefore, the Group will carry out regular
assessments of our subcontractors during a
project to ensure quality and safety of their works.
Our project managers and foremen will conduct
regular site visits to ensure general compliance
by our subcontractors in all respects, particularly
safety and environmental requirements.
Any details of incident will be recorded and
investigated for subsequent proceedings.

If the supplier or subcontractor is not qualified in
the periodic evaluation, the Group shall review
the impact from those projects still delivered
during the valid period of partnership. If the
impact is significant, the partnership with
that specific supplier or subcontractor shall
be terminated in principle. If it is necessary
to continue the partnership under special
circumstances, the special reasons shall be
recorded in the evaluation files for future
reference and tracking.

Whenever appropriate, suppliers and
subcontractors in the supply chain will also be
evaluated on their operational compliance and
the other associated risks, such as compliance
in employment of labour, anti-corruption and
integrity practices, as well as business continuity,
etc., these aspects are evaluated for mitigation of
social risks along the Group's value chain.
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Mitigation of Environmental Risks in Supply Chain
Priority in Green Procurement

The Group prioritizes the use of materials
and services that do not impose significant
environmental impacts, therefore, as mentioned
in the previous section, environmental friendly
characteristics is one of the selection criteria for
assessment of material suppliers, with the aim
to mitigate the environmental risks in the supply
chain.

Also, as part of complying with the environmental
measures of our customers, we are required to
source timber and plywood from companies
complying with the requirements of an
international recognised certification system,
such as Programme for the Endorsement of
Forest Certification (PEFC) and Forest Stewardship
Council (FSC). PEFC and FSC provide assurance
that the timber and plywood materials used in our
construction projects originate from sustainably
managed sources.
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For mitigation of environmental risks, we may also
prioritize the purchase of timber and plywood
with some examples of the following green
specifications:

The content of free formaldehyde in
adhesives used in the product shall not
exceed 0.5 % by weight of the adhesive.

Formaldehyde Emission: All wood panels
shall be of Class E1 under EN13986 in
respect of formaldehyde emission.

The product shall not contain any heavy
metals or their compounds related to:
Arsenic, Cadmium, Copper, Lead, Mercury.

The following substances shall not be
added during manufacturing: elemental
chlorine, fluorine, PCP and tar oils
containing benzo(a)pyrene

The product shall have no flame retardant
of polybrominated biphenyl (PBB),
polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) or
short-chain chlorinated paraffin added as
formulated components.
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B6

B7

Product Responsibility

When undertaking a formwork project, the
Group is generally responsible for project
planning and implementation, procurement
of materials, quality control and overall
management of our direct labour and workers
of our engaged subcontractors in carrying
out the implementation of formwork services
in accordance with the main contractors’
requirements and specifications.

The Group is committed to maintaining the
stability in project quality and timely completion,
as well as other faults which may exert negative
influence or delay the entire structure work of the
building construction projects.

Our Group has maintained insurance policies
which cover employees’ compensation for our
direct labour, personal accident, third party
liability, and public liability.

For the projects of formwork services undertaken
by the Group, the main contractors of the projects
are generally responsible for maintaining all
risks associated with their contractors, including
employees’ compensation and third party
insurance policies which generally cover liabilities
or claims in respect of (i) personal injury or death;
and (ii) damage to third party’s properties, as a
result of the performance of work undertaken by
the workers of the Group or our subcontractors.

Anti-corruption

The Group takes anti-corruption responsibilities
very seriously. The Group’s anti-corruption
policies set out the standards of conduct to
which all employees are required to adhere to.
The Group has designated hotlines and emails for
relevant stakeholders to report, in confidence, any
illegal or fraudulent behaviours to the Board.
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Employees making such reports are assured of
protection. The designated hotlines and emails
are available on the Company’s website at
http://www.chikanck.com. The Group has also
established a regularly review on its business
practices and anti-corruption measures and
guidelines, as well as reported improprieties
investigation.

The Group establishes an effective whistle-
blowing policy for reporting suspected
irregularities, fraud and corruption via specified
channels. The Group also continues to improve
its internal control and monitoring system. If
any irregularies are identified, the Group takes
immediate action and adopts a zero tolerance
approach to corruption.

During the Year, the Group has provided 10
training hours in relation to anti-corruption to its
staff.

The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance of Hong Kong, Law on Competition
of PRC and other applicable laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering during the Year.

There is no legal case concerning corruption
brought against the Group or its employees
during the Year.

Community Involvement

The Group deems corporate social responsibility
being one of the key elements in fulfilment of
our values to the society, and therefore we are
seeking opportunities for collaboration with
different stakeholders to support activities
beneficial to the community and people in need.
With the goal to bring hope and support to the
needy people in community, our target scope
of community contribution may cover a wide
range of aspects like poverty alleviation, caring
visit, education sponsoring and other support to
charity activities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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K| MOORE

HEHERARIARRE
(RESHETMA I BRAA)

To the Shareholders of Chi Kan Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chi Kan
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries ("the Group")
set out on pages 108 to 223, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants ("the Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR EiE S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended 31
March 2022. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in

BRENEER

FHRETZEARBERMNBENE  RERK
HZE202293 831 B L FEAHMIEHRERNET &
BEZMEE ZEFTERNHEMBTERESOH
BHRERTEAEERREE  MEMATSHZSE
BiREBINESR

forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
HRETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMOEERREETSER

Revenue recognition for provision of construction works
and recognition of contract assets (Refer to Notes 3(m),
5,7 and 17) to the consolidated financial statements)

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's revenue as
recognised from provision of construction works amounted
to approximately HK$1,133,180,000 and the Group's contract
assets as arisen from the provision of construction works
amounted to approximately HK$223,788,000 as at 31 March
2022.

Revenue from provision of construction works is recognised
over time by measuring the progress towards completion of
the Group’s performance obligations as set out in respective
contracts.

RUEZETRENKERARANEENTER(2H
BERFMEE3I(m) - 5 7K17) °

|t

HZE2002F3831BIEFE - BEEHRHEHEEIRZEY
W S HER 40 51,133,180,0008 7T - T SEEEIRHESE
TITRFIEAZALHEER20229F3 A31H 4 4223,788,000
BIT °

BRRHEETRENKGERR
B #) 2 BE P R AR o

BEEEESRNTREN

We performed the following procedures to address the key
audit matter:

Obtained an understanding and evaluated the
key controls over the revenue and contract asset
recognition and determination of the completion
status of construction works including review and
approval procedures on project certificates and
progress reports;

Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and the judgement involved in determining
assumptions to be applied and level of other
inherent risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to management bias or
fraud;

HFIRETT T AT EFARIBEARETFA

TEREFERERGHNEERABAREERET
R TSI IE - BREEN MIL/ER
EENERREZEFRF

BB B3 TR AR - B R AR
Rt $1 B  Eeft B R R K F (AR -
Bl BCRSSERMEGHSREINE)
SH{AIE 5 ) B K 84 SRR AL
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Independent Auditor’s Report
YN 1% BN MR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
HEETEE

BRETEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BANMEEBRRETSE

The Group has used the output method to estimate the
progress of each performance obligation satisfied over
time by reference to the value of construction works
completed to date (as certified by surveyors or other
representatives as appointed by customers (collectively the
external independent parties) or evaluated by the Group’s
internal technicians if such certifications from external
independent parties are not available) as a proportion of the
total contract value of the relevant construction contracts.
Contract assets arise when the Group has completed certain
construction works which are yet to be certified by external
independent parties and/or the Group's right to payment is
still conditional on factors other than passage of time.

The determination of the estimated value of the
construction works completed to date for different projects
involved significant management’s judgement and
estimates which may have significant impact on the amount
and timing of revenue recognised, especially in relation
to change in estimate of revenue and costs arising from
variation orders, litigation and claims with the customers
and sub-contractors, if any.

We focused on this area because the magnitude of revenue
as recognised from provision of construction works and the
contract assets as at the end of reporting period are significant
and determining the value of the construction works
completed to date for the purpose of recognising revenue
from provision of construction works over time involved
significant management’s judgement and estimates.

BEEECRAH A ER B TR SBBOREERE
B EF2REeSERMERTREEER(BISMRE
PZREMEMAR (G [IMNEBIL |)RRE - WA
ESINERBA T UL ERER - Bl ERERERIMA
BFHE)EHBERES MBS NEELD - NEE
R BERECTERMETERIERGINEBLLRE
&%ﬁ BB SR DEUR T B R AN =
REAE °

BETRBRBLSEEMRMEETRNGEFEEIRE
BRENEAHE R - AT MR A S 88 M

ELBATE  FHRANREEZE TREESKERK
K BEPEDBEANFRRBERNETES (WE) -

BFEELTENRRENEERE HRERERME
ETRREHNEENRESHERN  MEBETELESRIE
EKMEETIENEENERBRRERERETR
B R K TR T R B H e R A T o

Obtained an understanding from the project
managers, internal quantity surveying managers
and the management of the Group of the status
of completion of the construction projects during
the year, on a sample basis, and checked to the
supporting documents such as contracts, variation
orders and correspondences with the customers
to evaluate progress, whether the project progress
was consistent with the stage of completion
of construction projects estimated by the
management;

Checked the revenue to underlying construction
contracts entered into with the customers and
other relevant correspondences and supporting
documents in respect of variations in construction
works or price adjustments;

WMEMEELE RAFIHIELCER BE5E
BEEETHERBARFANRIRR - WRE
AR EBFTIRESMETRPHNRHFERX

R ERIE R RS RERE AT
SEEETA B 3 TREERAETT ¢

ZERE S AT AR A U R R BRI
5 T 12 5 58 o 8 1 S 82 IR E JOB AT R ST X
P2t FES

1 00 Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2REM A A Annual Report 2022 F3R



Independent Auditor’s Report
AR EiE S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
HEETEE

HRETEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMOMEERREETSR

Evaluated the accuracy of the construction costs
incurred during the year by agreeing to supplier
invoices or payment applications from sub-
contractors or other supporting documents, on a
sample basis;

Conducted site visits, on a sample basis, to discuss
with site personnel on the status of the project
and evaluate whether the project progress was
consistent with the agreed timetable;

Assessed management’s estimates on the value of
uncertified construction works completed to date
for different projects by inspecting the relevant
underlying supporting documents (e.g. evaluation
reports as prepared by the Group’s internal
technicians, payment applications to customers
etc.), on a sample basis; and comparing these to the
latest certificates issued by the external independent
parties to evaluate the reasonableness of the
revenue recognised;

MEZHEERERND BENREBEFREA
AN - FHEFRE SR REK AR RN

MEETERE - WRRIE A S5 & EREE
EOR A8 Ko 54 TR B 2 7 B 16 T HO B PR R AR AT
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR Ty

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matter
HEETEE

BRETEE )

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BHNMEERRETSE

Evaluated the outcome of the prior period
assessment on the estimated value of the
construction works completed to date for different
projects (primarily focus on those construction
works as completed but not yet certified by external
independent parties) to assess the effectiveness of
management’s estimation process by comparing
with the actual value as subsequently certified by
external independent parties or the actual amounts
as subsequently settled by customers;

Assessed the reliability of the management’s
estimation by comparing the actual costs of
completed construction contracts against their
budgets, on a sample basis; and

Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures related to
the revenue recognition of construction contracts in
the context of HKFRS disclosure requirements.

A ARIERESE RN BEETRAMGE
ENEPFHEER(EZERREZSZE KA X
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REBFEMHEHRELNRERT - FHEEEES
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AVR LT

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2021 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 25 June
2021.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the all the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR EiE S

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the audit committee

in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR EiE S

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AV PR I

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR EiE S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication

Moore Stephens CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hung, Wan Fong Joanne
Practising Certificate Number: P05419

Hong Kong, 24 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

ARG

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A3HILLEE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
P5E FHET T
Revenue &= 7 1,574,341 826,198
Cost of sales and services SHE R AR 8 (1,251,901) (765,502)
Gross profit EF 322,440 60,696
Other income H A 7 1,869 15,713
Listing expenses Nsiilaha - (9,104)
Selling and administrative expenses SHE RITBRH X (245,467) (17,784)
Fair value loss on financial asset at fair B F(EET ABzs
value through profit or loss (“FVPL") (MZ A EFAE
m)ZERMEEZ
NEEEE 15 (338) =
Operating profit Feg— il 78,504 49,521
Finance income, net BB A - JERE 10 900 418
Profit before income tax R P 151 A 5 F 8 79,404 49,939
Income tax expense Frig®if X 11 (19,952) (7,201)
Profit for the year FRER 59,452 42,738
Profit for the year attributable to: T & FEEFRER
Owners of the Company PiN/NETE 2SN 38,751 42,773
Non-controlling interest FEEAR 20,701 (35)
59,452 42,738
Earnings per share attributableto ~ FRALQ THEE AEN
owners of the Company for the year SRZEF| (LSRR EA
(expressed in HK cents per share) 57R)
Basic and diluted BERNEE 12 3.88 471
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

affEERER

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A3HILLEE

2022 2021
20225 20214F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt & FET FHETT
Profit for the year F Nim A 59,452 42,738
Other comprehensive income FREMEEKE
for the year, net of tax (HIRRBLIE)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently H & A] ¢ E #7548
to profit or loss EEmaIEE
Exchange difference on translation of & /GINEFSIE 5 =58
foreign operations 1,403 1,117
Total comprehensive income FREZEKEHAEE
for the year 60,855 43,855
Total comprehensive income LT &FEN
attributable to: EHWEEAEE
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ =N 40,063 43,887
Non-controlling interest ey = 27 20,792 (32)
60,855 43,855

o

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income 3l 7 A2 EW s & ELMN T —HEE
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B FHF IR R

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HKS$’000 HKS'000
B 5 FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property and equipment Y EYNE 14 2,227 1,183
Financial asset at FVPL RATEEABEZ
TRUEE 15 2,417 =
Deposits TR 18 = 77
4,644 1,260
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 16 8,950 -
Trade receivables B 5 eI 17 96,952 37,634
Contract assets BHREE 17 223,788 212,049
Prepayments, deposits and other AR © ke REM
receivables e GRIE 18 3,382 2,477
Tax recoverable EIEN &R 2,335 3,522
Restricted cash ZR S 19 17,500 17,500
Cash at bank RITIER 19 217,901 196,797
570,808 469,979
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables 2 S ERFIE 20 110,204 71,162
Accruals and other payables FEETE R I EAth FE £
TRIH 21 42,938 30,371
Bank borrowings SRITRER 22 15,000 10,000
Lease liabilities HEERE 23 566 545
Tax payable FERTFR IR 1,974 20
170,682 112,098
Net current assets REEEFRE 400,126 357,881
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERARBAERE 404,770 359,141
Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Lease liabilities HEARE 23 1,218 131
Net assets EEFE 403,552 359,010
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B IR R

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2022 2021
20225 20214F
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
Bt & FET FH&TT
Capital and reserves B #E

Share capital f& R 24 10,000 10,000
Share premium B =B 24 120,421 120,421
Reserves HiE 265,618 225,555

Capital and reserves attributable to RRTEEB NELRA
owners of the Company N 396,039 355,976
Non-controlling interest IR S 27 7,513 3,034
403,552 359,010

The consolidated financial statements on pages 114 to 223 were N 114E 2238 2 & I B HMER E R 202256 A
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 4B EEZeH EREETZE YHUTESA

June 2022 and were signed on its behalf. EHE
Lo Hon Kwong Chan May Kiu
Director Director
EFE EFE

o

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be  F7l| 7 & GFEATEAR R FE BB 7 — FF B R
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

—H— N 2\_
/ N =111}

R

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAREEAER
Non-
Share Share Statutory Exchange Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve’ reserve’ eamings' Total interest equity
i REEE  iRRE  EXRE  REEW & FikEg BriE
MDD HSI0HOUO  HSOD MG WO HOO DM
TR TR T Thn TR TR TR TR
(nge ) (qu\e 2)
(Wib) (i)
Asat 1 April 2020 H200%451A o 11,000 - - 181,068 192668 - 192,668
Proftforthe year Emigtl - - - - m 0m %) o738
Other comprehensive income for the year EmifRENG - - - 114 - 1114 3 117
Total comprehensive income for the year EReEhaeE - - - 1114 01 53687 () 13855
Transacions it owners ntheir capecity BB \NERE S
asomners; 5
Capftaliation Issue (Note 24 ER (K 7500 (7500) = = > = = 5
ssuance of ordinary shares upon lsting EnEaERR ()
(Note 24) 2500 127500 - - - 130000 - 130000
Listing expenses charged tosharepremium BN EEARE LR - (10579) - 5 - (10579) - (10579
Contrbuton fiom nor-controling shareholder ofa ~RMBAE 2 FERRE TS
subsdary (Note 2) (i) - - - - - - 2907 2907
Disposalof asubsidiary(NoteN) HE-FHBAR M) - - - : - - 1% 1%
10000 109421 - - - 119421 3066 12487
As at 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 M01E3A31B R0 F4R1R 10,000 120421 - 1114 24441 355,976 3,034 359,010
Proftfor the year EmT - - - - 38751 38751 20,701 59452
Other comprehensive income fo the year ErEpd Al - - - 1312 - 1312 9 1403
Total comprehensive income for the year EReANaeE - - - 1312 38,751 40,063 2079 60,855
Transactions with ownes i their capacity BEEANEER NS0
35 0Wners: Emen:
Dividend paid to non-controling nterests SN P RER 2 RE (s
Note27) - . - - - - - ey 63
Transfer to statutory reserve SRTTRE - - 3,699 - (3,699) - - -
- - 3699 - (3699) <63 (16313
Asat 31 March 2022 H0nE3R31A 10,000 120421 3,699 2426 259,493 396,039 1513 403,552
& Less than HK$1,000 * AP1,000% 7T
# These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  + I GEE IR B 15 A BT BT TS 4R S 2% 1R 49265,618,000

approximately HK$265,618,000 (2021: HK$225,555,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

7 IT(20214F © 225,555,000/8 7T ) Z & HFHEHE ©

LR &G s B B R e S — G BIE

o

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

/_\%:EE\///IL 2%

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A3MBLLEE

2022 2021
20225 20214F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BaE FET FHTT
Cash flows from operating activities R EFHREKRE
Cash generated from operations SIEEIE S 28(a) 50,034 58,791
Income tax paid BAPTSH (16,605) (14,362)
Net cash generated from operating R EEFEREEE
activities 33,429 44,429
Cash flows from investing activities REFEEEHRE
Payments for property and equipment Bt 2 M & B~ 7K (273) (14)
Placement of restricted cash HFAZRHIRE - (17,500)
Interest received 2 & 1,448 431
Purchase of financial asset at FVPL = ?“"1@ st AER
e RVEE (2,705) =
Net cash used in investing activities REFEFMARESFEE (1,530) (17,083)
Cash flows from financing activities REFZEHEESHE
Listing expenses paid BN EmREX - (7.712)
Payments of lease liabilities principal HEABARE IO MR
element 28(b) (839) (539)
Proceeds from bank borrowings, net  $R1TE K Z AT A
HER 28(b) 5,000 10,000
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary sharesiﬁ?ﬁﬁ‘ﬁﬁ’&ﬁ *E
of the Company upon listing i% 2 FTiS s I8 - 130,000
Proceeds from equity contribution from JE¥ERE SR ER EE
non-controlling interest Z TS RIR 27 - 2,907
Interest paid BAF A (548) (13)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest 3z {5 F FE4ZE A& A 25 2 A%
=} 27 (16,313) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from RMEEE(FTA), s
financing activities RE&FHE (12,700) 134,643
Increase in cash and cash equivalents R4 I8 & SN 19,199 161,989
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#3R% MBS EHEY
of the year 196,797 33,310
Effects of exchange rate changes on HE RIS EBYHIE
cash and cash equivalents Redf 7 & 1,905 1,498
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRESRESEEY
of the year 19 217,901 196,797

* Less than HKS 1,000

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Iz aHRERERER

DH1,00078 7T

B 5 — BF B8

o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HEIERERMIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chi Kan Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 16 April 2018 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law (Cap.
22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company's registered office is P.O.
Box 1350, Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of business is
located at Room 1008 and 1009, 10/F., China Shipbuilding
Tower, 650 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The
shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
14 August 2020.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of formwork services and
other construction services in Hong Kong and e-commerce
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The ultimate holding company of the Company is Magnificent
Faith Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI"), and the controlling shareholder is Mr. Lo
Hon Kwong (“Mr. Lo"), who is also the chairman and executive
director of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which includes all individual applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA)
and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
financial instruments which are measured at fair value, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HKS"), unless otherwise stated, which is the
same as the functional currency of the Company. All values
are rounded to the nearest thousands (HK$'000) except when
otherwise indicated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group'’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 5 below.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The principal accounting policies and methods of
computation used by the Group in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 are consistent with those adopted in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021, except
for the application of the amendments to HKFRSs as explained
in below.

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs, for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on or
after 1 April 2021:

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concession beyond
30 June 2021

Amendments to HKFRS 16

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

RBEE )

AN ETBUBMEERN 2 A HUBERE
BEEMETHAREG G - ERETAE
ERARESHREBELHE - FRES
REAEHIERENAE - MR REH
AV BRRAFBEREEARILN T XM
ESHE -

EXETHBERE

B BRERREZED

AREBRBEE202F3831BIEFEZA
HYBERREMERZEBSTHRLTE
FERREEE2021FE3A31BIEFEZA
SRR FTER AN E — B MR T X ATat
BBMISHREER(ERTAR)BRIN -

FEE BB LR E BB IREER (15T F)

RERE 2022603831 B ILFEA I
HEE ASEBXER NEBTERE
ZR(BETA) - ARERI AR 2021F4A 1
H 8k 2 1 F 16 /) 4 [ 2B R o Il AR 4K

FEMEHREERIZE
5 AR ERTERIE39
St~ BB M H RS R
F7% - BEPBREE
RSB 457 R BB SRS
ERIFE 1655 (ERTA)

FEMBREELF 1657
(BRI A)

EF S

— F_PEER

202156 A30H
% 2 Covid-19
HBEHESER

REFREAFBMBRE L (BITAR)HAR
SERAEEMBEFE 2P BHRARERR
R/ HZEEHUBRRAHCRBELES

B/ 48R
-4 X
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASHEEME &)

POLICIES (continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not applied the following new or amendments
to HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these consolidated financial statements.

HEER

3R -

B BERREZ2E(F

E B8 [ R LR 2 Fa] RABIE 5] & B R 7

AEBYEBAZESHMBEHERTEA T
EEME R ER AT LB BBH T

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
RUT BBz &Rl
FEHRLN
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments 1 January 2023
BRMBESENE TR RESHREBEET W3EIA1A
HK Interpretation 5 (2020) (lassification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains 1 January 2023
aRepayment on Demand Clause
BERBEH (200F) PSSttt W3F1A1R
Accounting Guideline 5 (revised) Revised Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations 1 January 2022
LR E et H) BEe R RS RAREN A A e WF1R1A
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
BABASENER () PSERRL W0EIA1A
Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 16 and HKAS 37 Narrow-scope Amendments 1 January 2022
BANBASENEN ARG ENR R RAREEY N ERET WE1RIA
E3H (B A)
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary Exemption from Applying HKFRS 9 1 January 2023
BRMBRE RS (ETR) EREAEANHESENBMNERHE W351R18
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 * Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate To be determined
or Joint Venture
BAMBREENS 0RRERGENELR(BIR)  REEBABELNTRAE LR ANERLENTE fiE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments to 1 January 2023
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
BRGTENE 1% (BTE) H%E\%ﬁ%?ﬁ?@ﬁi#}ﬁ%&ﬁ‘)’éiﬁ%%ﬁ(zozoﬁ) W3F1A1R
LR8I
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Definition of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023
BRI ENR RREANBREENEHABE T (LX) SHURNTE W351R18
Amendments to HKAS 8 Disclosure of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
BRI ERRON (82T 4) S ERNERE W351R18
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 1 January 2023
BREENE 5 (B5TR) REE-RHMEERRELABETLHE WBETIA1R
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment - Proceeds before Intended Use 1 January 2022
BREEAZ 65 (BT A) 0% BRERRE-REREHETE WNETAIR
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022
BRI ENSIR(BTA) BRAN-Brafmmt W0F1A1A
Amendments to HKFRSS Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 1 January 2022
BANHESRRBIR) BRIBREEA0ISF R0 2 FRAE W0F1A1A

* The amendments were original intended to be effective for &
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. The
effective date has now been deferred. Early application of the

amendments continues to be permitted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASHBEME %)

POLICIES (continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far the directors of the
Company have concluded that the application of them is
unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

(a) Basis of consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee. The Group has
power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the
relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect
the entity’s returns. When assessing control, the Group
considers its potential voting rights as well as potential
voting rights held by other parties. A potential voting
right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.

B BERRE2RE(E)

E AR A8 [ R £ R 2 Fa] RABME 5] & B A 7%
HEER (E)

AREBEAENGNERERHARNRANZEN
RIEAIRERIAZEE - 25 AARES
TE BN e R 2 SRR Al R AERT A KA BE &
EHMBHERBRERNTE

(a) #HEEE

MBAREARRHEERKEESR
ZHIENER(BREBEER)
EAKBEREBHES2EAERFTAR
BHRAIZ R RBERN - WhE
HRAKEHSEREENZEL RS
B RREEGEHE - EXAKEN
RAENETHEB A E5 AR5 (A
RIBFEBERLIHRANER) ZRENE
AIRREEZERITERE S - E-HE
THIER  AEEEEERBERE
BAREMALRBZBERERE -
EERBEABERENTEEERR
BZBERT - TEEREEER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FR SRR P ot

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results
of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.

1 1 8 Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2REM A A Annual Report 2022 F3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to
the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements
of control described above. Changes in the Group’s
interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners The carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to the equity shareholders of
the Company.

3.

BEASTEERE 5

(a)

mERE(E

FFEBER W IFA AR A EELH
BERMBAREIENER  RARE
WAREZFEROTAAZREME
SMER - M S AEEER LHZE
REELANMEE EENAZR
BEMNER - JFERERIING HY
BN R AR B R
FEIHERDFES] - RAKERER
HIFERESEAHBEa NEME®
W RA2 RN IFERESEAR
AEaRRZEIEFELBEERE
R 4EFR o

A BE & IERFEN £ AT = 184
HlpEh—IENZIETE LB EE

AEEEEFFEEESTHRELR
HEEGE AEERMBARZHE
sEB R TG BAEE - AIA
RIIREaR 5 (BNEER AAERA
FMETZRS) ° ERMIFERERS
F) AR T B4 5 B DA R BR EL T P B 12 )
RS2 - FERESMNARE
THESNIKEURREAIFERZE
B HEREDER  BARAER
PR o

Annual Report 2022 %} Chi Kan Holdings Limited %5 #1 £ iR B IR 2 7] 1 1 9



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HEIERERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss.
The Group's share of components previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit
or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 3(b)),
investment is classified as held for sale.

unless the

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets,
financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than
the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

3.

BEASTEERE 5

(b)

FERMEERE(E)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HEIERERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and
equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal useful lives for this purpose are as
follows:

20% or over the lease term,
whichever is shorter
Motor vehicles under hire 30% or over the lease term,
purchase arrangement whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 33%
equipment

Leasehold improvement

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Property and equipment (continued)

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Leases

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components. Non-
lease components are separated from lease component
on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by
the Group in dismantling and removing
the underlying assets, restoring the site
on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Leases (continued)

(a)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent
concessions in which the Group applied the
practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets.
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

The Group includes right-of-use assets in property
and equipment on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9")
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered
as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HEIERERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Leases (continued)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities
are adjusted by interest accretion and lease
payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Leases (continued)

(c)

(d)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-
of-use assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a
change in the assessment of exercise of a
purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market
rent review/expected payment under a
guaranteed residual value in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
machinery and equipment (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases
of office equipment and laptop computers that
are considered to be of low value. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low- value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HEIERERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Leases (continued)

(e)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in
which the Group applied the practical expedient,
the Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by
an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted
for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures
the lease liability based on the lease term of the
modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement
of lease liabilities by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or
non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Leases (continued)

(f)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as
a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic,
the Group has elected to apply the practical
expedient not to assess whether the change
is a lease modification if all of the following
conditions are met:

the change in lease payments results in
revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change;

any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments originally due on or before
30 June 2022; and

there is no substantive change to other
terms and conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient
accounts for changes in lease payments resulting
from rent concessions the same way as if the
changes are not lease modifications. Forgiveness
or waiver of lease payments are accounted for
as variable lease payments. The related lease
liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding
adjustment recognised in the profit or loss in the
period in which the event occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FR SRR P ot

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

(f)

Inventories

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

Financial instruments
Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and
FVPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERAR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash
flows characteristics and the Group's business model
for managing them. With the exception of trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets at FVPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient are measured
at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at FVPL, irrespective of the business model.
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FR SRR P ot

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at FVOCI are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in OCI if that equity
investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations

applies.

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI or designated as
FVOCI are measured at FVPL. Financial assets at FVPL
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset is separately
recognised and disclosed in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group's consolidated statements of financial position)
when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent,
it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERAR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its assets
carried at amortised cost. Expected credit losses are a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected
life of the financial assets. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12-m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. For all other financial
assets, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case
the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FR SRR P ot

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of, a financial asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To
assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:

actual or expected significant adverse changes in
external credit rating of the debtors;

actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
debtors’ ability to meet their obligations;

actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the debtors;

significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor; and

significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the debtors, including changes
in the payment status of debtors and changes in
the operating results of the debtors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERAR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

[rrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Note 4(iii) details how the Group determines whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

The Group rebutted the presumption of default under
ECL model for trade receivables over 90 days past
due based on the good repayment records for those
customers with continuous partial settlement.

The Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than two years past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HEIERERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the basis:

Past-due status; and
Nature, size and industry of debtors.
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to

ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the assets.
The ECL on trade receivables and contract assets
are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and collectively for other debtors based on
the Group's internal credit rating, historical credit loss
experience and expected settlement dates, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions
at the reporting date, including time value of money
where appropriate.

At every reporting date, the estimated default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are considered.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECL
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime
ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines
at the current reporting date that the conditions for
lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the
loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-m ECL at the
current reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERAR MR

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

ECL is measured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount
is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Financial liabilities
Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at FVPL, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables,
other payables and accruals, lease liabilities and bank
borrowings.

After initial recognition, the financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate
("EIR"). The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FR SRR P ot

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only
when, the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is renegotiated in
such a way that the liability is extinguished fully or
partially by issuing equity instruments, it is accounted
for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability
and a recognition of equity instrument at the fair value
upon issue with the difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability (or part of the financial
liability) extinguished and the consideration paid
(being the fair value of the equity instruments issued),
recognised to profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Cash that is restricted from withdrawal, from use or from
being pledged as security is reported separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and is not
included in the total cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.

1 42 Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2REM A A Annual Report 2022 F3R

BEREFTHEBRE )

(f)

(9)

SWMIBE)
SHEEE)

IR A E
EHEEREZEHCRET - BUS
skfEm ZERAES T AR IERER -

HWEHFREHREERBENEBET
BETAXHIE O EHZEE - A
ARIIBERERESRAEBERNE
TRERAFERRAESTE MEA
BzeRABE (B ERMEE) Ok
ﬁﬁéﬁiaﬁﬁf (AR ETHEETAZ
2FE) ZAEBENBSER -

TR H

5 B BT /F FE AT AT E AR A # iR A
THREH YERRFRELELH
&Hﬁi“fﬁ;ﬁé{F&/afa Z8fE Al
cREENEBMAERN] THEE > ME

FREMBMRRKR T 2R

RERREEEBYURZIRFIRE

TfA1ﬁ£Ei//\L§i§ﬁﬁ = Iﬁi&iﬁi
ZEMREFERS REBRFR
ARERER SE MMBERSE ffﬁ """""
AR KB HREE (—RNEBAR
=EARNZE) ZEHSRBERE -
WHIRAREREERBRAEER
SEBHEBPHD ZBITEX -

RE - ERSERERERMZ IR
HEORENEHMBRAKREB R
& B RREHBEESRERTAR
fﬁ&fﬁfﬁﬁ BYHEEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h)

(i)

)

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and the amount can
be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period. The discount rate used to
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because
it is not probable that outflow of economic resources
will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be
measured reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HEIERERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries
and associate, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HEIERERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k)

M

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax asset and current tax liabilities
and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relating to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions. Government grants relating to
costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss
over the period necessary to match them with the costs
that they are intended to compensate.

1 46 Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2REM A A Annual Report 2022 F3R

3.

BEREFTHEBRE )

(k)

(U]

FRE® (&)
EEFABERABUNEERERK

BERBESENSER 2B X
B UURBEMRCHEMHEL &
EEMZ B R (RBUE) RE%E -

EREEAKEFER AR RBIMT
RSB EIT TR A E BT IR &
B BREHRAEEMEERA

BEER-REHEY R FRELE
HRENHHRRABEREELFARFER

BERGHEARZA-ERRERNL
TRERHERBK ZAEHAER
RERRERPAERBELEH AR
BHREEFRZGEH AW - AIELT
HMABEMBLERAR B THEH

BT RS

fis AT & 32 310 4R 2 5 o B B R AR R
B 15 & BT A B A R RIERS A5 B
BATERER o B E R BUTH
RE S BIEE - YR % S R S AL
MERAEITC R AR AR AR B
R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERAR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when "control"
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

The Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

The Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FR SRR P ot

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(variation order of construction work), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will
be entitled using the most likely amount.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When there is change in circumstances, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained) to better predict
the circumstances present at the end of the reporting
period and the changes in circumstances during the
reporting period.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects
of the time value of money if the timing of payments
agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customers or the Group with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of services to customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract
or implied by the payment terms agreed by the parties
of the contracts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Existence of significant financing component
(continued)

Notwithstanding the above, a contract does not have
a significant financing component in circumstances
where payments are in accordance with the typical
payment terms of the relevant industry, which has a
primary purpose other than financing.

Warranty

For warranty embedded to the construction contracts,
the Group accounts for the warranty in accordance
with HKAS 37, Provision, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets as the warranty provides the
customer with assurance that the contracting work
complies with the agreed-upon specifications.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses whether
these costs qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of
other relevant standards, failing which it recognises an
asset for these costs only if they meet all of the following
criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the Group can
specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of
the Group that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.
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FR SRR P ot

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Costs to fulfil a contract (continued)

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the
assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is the right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services transferred to the
customer that is not yet conditional. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or
before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised
for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment
in accordance with HKFRS 9, details of which are
included in the accounting policies for impairment of
financial assets. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e, transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided
by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Depending on the terms of the contracts and the laws
that apply to the contract, services may be recognised
over time or at a point in time.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from formwork services and other
construction services

The Group provides formwork services to both private
and public sectors in Hong Kong.

The type of formwork services to be provided
is generally dependent on customers’ project
requirements and specifications. The Group is generally
engaged by the customers for two types of formwork
services, namely, (i) conventional formwork which was
built on-site by mainly using timber and plywood;
and (ii) prefabricated formwork which was built out of
prefabricated modules by mainly using aluminum and
steel.

During the course of providing the formwork services,
the Group may also be requested to provide other
construction services, including plastering, installing
curtain wall and other miscellaneous works on an
ancillary basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from formwork services and other
construction services (continued)

The Group provides formwork services and other
construction services under contracts with customers.
Such contracts are entered into before the services
begin. Under the terms of the contracts, the Group
is contractually required to perform the services at
the customers specified sites that the customers
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs. Revenue from provision of formwork services
and other construction services is therefore recognised
over time for each individual contract by using output
method, i.e. on the basis of measurement of the
value of services transferred to the customer to date.
The measurement is based on surveys of formwork
services and other construction services completed
by the Group to date as certified by surveyors or other
representatives appointed by the customers and
adjusted by the estimated value of work performed
but which is yet to be certified at each of the reporting
date. The management of the Group considers that
output method would faithfully depict the Group’s
performance towards satisfaction of performance
obligation under HKFRS 15.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration from customers in exchange for the
provision of formwork services and other construction
services that the Group has transferred to the customers
that is not yet unconditional. Contract assets arise when
the Group has provided the formwork services and
other construction services under the relevant contracts
but the works have yet to be certified by surveyors
or other representatives appointed by the customers
and/or the Group's right to payment is still conditional
on factors other than passage of time. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified
to trade receivables at the point when the Group's right
to payment becomes unconditional other than passage
of time.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3.

POLICIES (continued)

(m)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from formwork services and other
construction services (continued)

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer the aforesaid services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

The Group does not receive any prepayment from
customers. The revenue recognised from a construction
project is commensurate with the value of the works
performed by the Group.

In accordance with the terms of the contracts entered
into with customers, the Group is required to submit
to customers monthly payment applications for the
value of work done under the contracts along with
any variation orders performed. Customers will settle
normally in 30 days after certifying our monthly
payment applications based on their assessment of
work done by the Group. Customers usually retain an
amount up to 10% of the value of work done, subject
to a maximum limit of 5% of the total contract sum
as retention money for the contract. The terms and
conditions in relation to the release of retention vary
from contract to contract, which is subject to practical
completion, the expiry of the defect liability period or a
pre-agreed time period which normally ranges from six
to twenty- four months after the completion date.

Revenue from e-commerce business

Revenue is recognised when the control of the goods
has transferred according to respective agreed terms
of delivery. Revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good.
The management’s judgements regarding principal
and agent consideration in revenue recognition was
disclosed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m)

(n)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from other sources

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Commission income represents sourcing service
income which is calculated by certain percentage or
amount based of the total sales amount. Such income
are recognised at a point in time when the services are
rendered which is generally the time when the ultimate
customers had received the goods.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating annual leave
that are expected to be settled wholly within
12 months after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees services up to
the end of the reporting period and are measured
at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented
as current employee benefit obligations in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

The Group participates in a pension scheme
under the rules and regulations of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance (MPF Scheme)
for all employees in Hong Kong. The contributions
to the MPF Scheme are based on minimum
statutory contribution requirement of 5% of
eligible employees’ relevant aggregate income
up to a maximum of HKS$1,500 per employee
per month. The assets of this pension scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds. Other than
the contributions, the Group has no further
obligation for the payment of retirement and
other post-retirement benefits of its employees in
Hong Kong.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Pension obligations (continued)

In addition, pursuant to the government
regulations in the Peoples Republic of China (the
“PRC"), the Group is required to contribute an
amount to certain retirement benefit schemes
based on approximately 20% to 23% of the
wages for the year of those employees in the
PRC. The local municipal government undertakes
to assume the retirement benefits obligations of
those employees of the Group. Contributions to
these retirement benefits schemes are charged
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as incurred.

The Group’s contributions to the defined
contribution retirement schemes are expensed as
incurred.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses taking into consideration the profit
of the Group. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is
a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HEIERERMIFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(q)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial
statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented
in HKS, which is the Company's functional
currency and the Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates
are generally recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASHHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

(r)  Foreign currency translation (continued) ( IEBREE)

(iii)  Group companies (iii) FERA

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

assets and liabilities are presented at the
closing rate at the date of that consolidated
statement of financial position

income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions), and

all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment
in foreign entities are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, as part of
the gain or loss on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERAR MR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s) Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FR SRR P ot

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(s) Related parties (continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or
domestic partner; and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person'’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t)

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that will be received from
selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique.

The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that will use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASHHEME &)

POLICIES (continued)

(t)  Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
in Note 4(viii), based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have
occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorization (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise cash at
bank. The main purpose of these financial instruments are to
raise finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables,
financial assets included in deposits and other receivables,
trade payables, lease liabilities, bank borrowings and financial
liabilities included in accruals and other payables, which arise
directly from its operations.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and
cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management procedures focus
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seek to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AT ERAR MR

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to the HKS and Renminbi (RMB). Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions and
recognised financial assets and liabilities denominated
in a currency that is not the respective functional
currency of the subsidiaries.

As at 31 March 2022, if HKS had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, the post-tax profit for the year would
have been approximately HK$1,914,000 (2021:
HK$1,154,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of cash and cash
equivalents.

Currently, the Group has not used derivative financial
instruments to hedge against its foreign currency risk.
The Group manages foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the proportion of its non-Hong Kong dollars
assets and liabilities.

Cash flow interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from cash at bank,
restricted cash and bank borrowings at floating interest
rates.

As at 31 March 2022, if interest rate on bank balances,
restricted cash and bank borrowings had been 50
basis point higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the post-tax profit for the year would have
been HK$882,000 (2021: HK$842,000) higher/lower,
mainly as a result of higher/lower of net finance income.

The Group has not used any derivative contracts to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider other necessary actions when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii)

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash at
bank, restricted cash, trade receivables, contract assets,
deposits and other receivables. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to
cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations at the end of each reporting period in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
The management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
and controlled on an ongoing basis. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information.

The Group has three types of assets that are subject to
the expected credit loss model:

- Trade receivables;

- Contract assets; and

- Other financial assets at amortised cost
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued)

(a) Trade receivables and contract assets

In order to minimise the credit risk, management
has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue

debts.

As part of the Group's credit risk management,
the Group applies internal credit rating for its
customers by reference to background, credit
quality and reputation of the customers, historical
settlement records, past default experience and
current past due exposure of the debtor, and an
analysis of the debtor’s current financial position.
The Group applies simplified approach to
measure the ECL which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables and
contract assets. The Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade receivables
and contract assets individually or based on

provision matrix.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HEIERERMIFE

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (continued)

(a)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Except for the customers with significant
balances or credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the remaining trade
receivables and contract assets, representing
larger number of small customers are grouped
under a provision matrix based on shared credit
risk characteristics by reference to the repayment
history over past twelve months and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within the period. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by the management of the Group
to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated. The historical loss rates
were adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The Group had considered that the
HK’s gross domestic growth are to be the most
relevant factor, and accordingly, adjusted the
historical loss rates based on expected changes of
this factor.

The customers with significant balances
are assessed individually for the credit risk
and risk of default. The Group has used the
financial information or past due information
of counterparties to assess whether credit risk
has been increased significantly since initial
recognition. The ECLs are estimated based on
assumptions about risk of defaults and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment assessment, based on the
Group’s past history, existing market conditions
as well as forward looking information at the end
of each reporting period. In assessing forward-
looking information, the Group consider factors
macroeconomic factors, industry risks and
changes in debtor’s conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (continued)

(a)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The Group rebutted the presumption of default
under ECL model for trade receivables over 90
days past due based on the good repayment
records for those customers with continuous
partial settlement.

The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than two years
past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

The contract assets relate to uncertified work in
progress and retention receivables, which have
substantially the same risk characteristics as
the trade receivables. The Group has therefore
concluded that the expected loss rates and
forward looking information for trade receivables
are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates
for the contract assets, and the forward-looking
information determined in above was also
incorporated to estimate the loss allowance of
contract assets.

Trade receivables and contract assets are written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a long period.
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4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (continued)

(a)

(b)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit
risk as at 31 March 2022 on trade receivables
and contract assets from the Group’s top
five customers amounting to approximately
HKS$284,792,000 (2021: HKS$223,075,000),
and accounted for 89% (2021: 89%) of trade
receivables and contract assets of the Group.
As at 31 March 2022, the trade receivables and
contract assets from the Group’s largest customer
amounting to approximately HK$127,654,000
(2021: HK$139,483,000) and accounted for 40%
(2021: 56%) of trade receivables and contract
assets of the Group. These customers have no
significant financial difficulty and/or historical
default experience.

The directors of the Company considered the
expected credit loss for trade receivable and
contract assets as at 31 March 2022 is immaterial
in view of no history of default and good
repayment history of these customers (2021:
Same).

Other financial assets at amortised costs

For the deposits and other receivables, they
are closely monitored for recoverability and
collectability and the Group maintains close
communications with the counterparties.
The Group uses the past-due information of
counterparties to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. As
at the reporting date, the balances are not past
due, and based on historical experience, majority
of these balances were settled shortly upon
maturity and these counterparties are with sound
financial position, hence the associated credit risk
is minimal. The management considered that the
identified impairment loss under expected credit
loss model was immaterial (2021: Same).
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AT ERAR MR

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (continued)

(b) Other financial assets at amortised costs
(continued)

In respect of cash deposited at banks and
restricted cash, the credit risk is considered to be
low as the counterparties are reputable banks.
The existing counterparties do not have defaults
in the past. Therefore, expected credit loss rate of
cash at bank is assessed to be insignificant as at 31
March 2022 (2021: Same).

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit
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Trade receivables/

rating Description contract assets Other financial assets
B EyRE
R EERR i BUL BREE HttemEE
Performing The counterparty has a low to moderate risk Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
of default and does not have any past-due not-credit impaired
amounts
B17 HBFEHIFEREZHZENRR - BVE THEREEFE-K NEAABRDEEER
AR B FIR BHEEERE
Underperforming  There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —

credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or external
resources
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)z

Non-performing There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-

impaired

TR ARBBRTEECEEESRE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has
no realistic prospect of recovery

s FRBBENMEBARABREM KRS

AEB R OFIENF BT

not-credit impaired

FHEMEERE-
ARBEEEERE

—~

=]

Lifetime ECL —
credit impaired

FHRHGEERRE -
BELEERE

Amount is written off

MEBHETER

not-credit impaired
cHIEREEEE -
AELEEERE
Lifetime ECL —
credit impaired
FHRBEEER -
BELEERE

Amount is written off

MEBHETER
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B IR

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. HBEBEEEERBE @)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(iii) Credit risk (continued) (i) EERE)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TREMINE T EEETEREEE
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL BRENAEBESREENEZERR
assessment:
Gross Gross
Internal 12-month or carrying carrying
Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount
12@ A2 H
s REEENE FEHEERSE HIREE HEREE
2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFE T FAT
Financial assets at amortised cost:
REH AT EC SREBE ¢
Trade receivables 17 Performing Lifetime ECL 96,952 37,634
(not credit—{mpaired)
2 5 RWFIE FBAT FHRBEEES
(REEFERE)
Deposits and other 18  Performing 12m ECL 1,214 2,438
receivables, excluding
prepayments and other
tax recoverable
Be MH M EWIE BT 1218 BFEEAE B EE
T EFETER FRIE K E A
FEU IR
Cash at bank 19  N/A 12m ECL 217,901 196,797
RITHS i 1218 AR E R
Other item:
Hf1gg :
Contract assets 17 Performing Lifetime ECL 223,788 212,049
(not credit-impaired)
BREE FB1T FHRHEEESR
(REEEFEERE)
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B IR

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iv)

4, BIREREEEERBE2)

Liquidity risk (iv) REBELEK
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining EEMTRHSERKREERRRER
sufficient cash and cash equivalents. The Group's EHANBE S RASEEY - AEEE
liquidity risk is further mitigated through the availability BAEAREMIE S ERESHHE @ A
of financing through its own cash resources to meet ENETGAE  BELE—FSREHR
its financial commitments. In the opinion of the MEBELER ARREERA W N
directors of the Company, the Group does not have any SEVETFERNRDESRR -
significant liquidity risk.
The following tables analyses the non-derivative TREVRENRBREHRES LB H
financial liabilities and lease liabilities of the Group into AR TE LR HER LA BRI 215
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining MESHAEEFTECRBERM
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period EREON - ZRIBPENELSEAES
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed ORI ERERANEB AT M
in the table were the contractual undiscounted cash =FHE - ARITBENFELIKR - R
flows and the earliest date the Group can be required to 1218 A AE|EAM S s B E AR A A5 2R (B2
pay. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying R B RAE)EE -
balances (including both interest and principal) as the
impact of discounting is not significant.
On demand
or within  Between 1 Between 2 Carrying
l1year and2years and5 years Total amount
RERH
MER 1FEE28F  2FE5F #st fREE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT THERT TERT THERT THET
As at 31 March 2022 72022%3H31H
- Trade payables —-BSRNFE 110,204 - - 110,204 110,204
— Accruals and other — [ERTER LA
payables FEf TR 26,803 - - 26,803 26,803
- Bank borrowings —RITEK 15,000 = - 15,000 15,000
- Lease liabilities -HEAE 570 536 683 1,789 1,784
152,577 536 683 153,796 153,791
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B IR

4.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iv)

4, BIEREEEERBE2)

Liquidity risk (continued) (iv) REELE(E
On demand
or within Between 1 Between 2 Carrying
Tyear and2years  and5 years Total amount
BRERH
RIERA 1EZEF 2EESE st RHEE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET TET FET
As at 31 March 2021 R202143 4318
~ Trade payables BN
A 71,162 - - 71,162 71,162
— Accruals and other —EFERREM
payables AN 13,130 = L 13,130 13,130
~ Bank borrowings —RITEK 10,000 e L 10,000 10,000
- Lease liabilities -HEAR 553 91 46 690 676
94,845 91 46 94,982 94,968

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of
the loans with a repayment on demand clause based
on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan
agreements. The amounts included interest payments
computed using contractual rates. As a result, these
amounts were greater than the amounts disclosed
in the ‘on demand or within 1 year’ time band in the
maturity analysis contained above. Further details on
the bank borrowings is set out in Note 22.

Taking into account the Group's financial position,
the directors of the Company do not consider that it
is probable that the bank will exercise its discretion
to demand immediate repayment. The directors of
the Company believe that such loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment date set out
in the loan agreements.
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B IR

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iv)

(v)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings subject to a
repayment on demand clause based on scheduled
repayments

BEEREEEERBE®)

(iv)

RBESRRE)

AT —REREBABEMAR
BEREFFA R RAIRITE

Within Between Between
1year 1and2years 2andb5 years Total
1£R 1522F 2EE5F &t
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FAL TAT FAL
As at 31 March 2022 M202253A318
~ Bank borrowings —RITHE 15,000 - - 15,000
— Interest —F 2 34 _ _ 34
15,034 - - 15,034
As at 31 March 2021 R202193A31H
~ Bank borrowings —RITIA N 10,000 = = 10,000
— Interest — 78 19 - - 19
10,019 - - 10,019
Interest rate benchmark reform (v) RIREEHE

The Group's HIBOR bank loan will be subject to
the interest rate benchmark reform. The Group is
closely monitoring the market and managing the
transition to new benchmark interest rates, including
announcements made by the relevant IBOR regulators,
if any.

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA”") has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate
approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby
HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist. The Group’s bank loan
linked to HIBOR will continue till maturity.

AEE 2 BERBRITRAERBIRITER
REBRMEEERSE - AEEIERE
BY TS E R EER XN B
B BREARRTRERSEEHRE
B REINE) °

EETRRIFEEB(ETRRFY
&R EWHBERBBRITRAENR
BOERN R BYELIEFERT
RIEFENTE - BERBZANET
A BARTRAFZKENETRERF
BEERALF - NEBERFERITR
ERBEENRITEFHFEZER
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B IR

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

BEEREEEERBE®)

(vi) Financial instruments by categories (vi) BRENZIPHNERITE

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FH&xT T
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at FVPL R FEFIAERZ
Unlisted equity investment JELEMHEREE 2,417 =
Financial assets at amortised cost Tl S A G E A
Trade receivables Z 5 EWGIE 96,952 37,634
Deposits and other receivables He M A M EWFRIE 1,214 2,438
Restricted cash XRGIHEe 17,500 17,500
Cash at bank RITIRS 217,901 196,797
335,984 254,369
Financial liabilities =R
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ~ HZEEFE K K51 2 B
TEHEE
Trade payables B D ENFIA 110,204 71,162
Accruals and other payables FEET B FA % EL b JE 1< SR T8 26,803 13,130
Bank borrowings RITEN 15,000 10,000
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,784 676
153,791 94,968
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B IR

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4, BIEREEEEREE®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(vii) Capital management

(vii) EXERE

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to AEBEREANBERA
safeguard their ability to continue as a going
concern, so that they can continue to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, and

REAEERFELE N U
BRI RAIER RN AR
MERERENE &

maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce BRI REE LB UAREERK
the cost of capital. 7N o

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the BTHERBNARESERE  A5EA
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to RREREABEINTREZRESTE - M
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new fRREREES «  BITHRSIHEEE
shares or sell assets to reduce debt. PORE BT o

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the following gearing

HITAEMAR B - AEBRAT
BARBELRZEREREAN

ratio:
As at 31 March
M3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FH&xT T
Bank borrowings SRITER 15,000 10,000
Lease liabilities HEARE 1,784 676
Less: cash at bank S R1TIR S (217,901) (196,797)
Net cash & HE8 (201,117) (186,121)
Total equity IS B%E 403,552 359,010
Net debt to equity ratio B FREE AR AL = N/ATE F N/AT 38 A
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B IR

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(vii) Capital management (continued)

(viii)

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed

capital requirements. No changes were made in

the objectives, policies or processes for capital
management during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial

instruments carried at fair value by level of inputs to

valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such

inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair

value hierarchy as follows:

- Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities.

- Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included

within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices)
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

-Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are

(a)

not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets, including trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash, and financial liabilities, including
trade payables, accruals and other payables, bank
borrowings and lease liabilities approximate their
fair values as at the reporting date due to their
short maturities or the interest rates are close to
the market interest rates. The nominal value less
estimated credit adjustments for financial assets
and liabilities with maturities of less than one year
are assumed to approximate their fair values.
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(vii)

(viii)
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= ERAR -
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SERECRERE)

CFE: BRTF-EMERNRE
S REEXBRENAIE
& (RERER) Mz (A
REER) BENE AR
% o

-FEE BERABYIREAER
5 BR A I A RUE (A
FRBRBGABE)

(a) HHBEAFETSEBHEZHIA
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B IR

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(viii) Fair value estimation (continued)

(b)

Financial instruments measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of
the Group's financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities at the measurement date

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs

4, BIREREEEERBE2)

(viii) DFEMEFH(E)

(b)

BR-FETENZHTA

RFEER

TRENAEENHEPRIZE
FUHEEGFENESRIART
B BEAFEREEWBHRE
ZRIE 135 [ R FEE IFTRE
MAFE=EERPETIE -
NHEFEMBRNER LS
Z AT ERM AT AR 8 AR
MABRMENEZEMETE

FE—REE: ERAE-R
WABEAEATE B
HREEXAERFER
e BMEREHAER
B

F_REE AFE _FEH
AHBAHEQNFE  BIX
BEFAFE— MR ENAIE
R A BE - AR AME A
BATAIE R AL o
AN A] B R A BUE B ]
IS T 5 SR M B A BUE

BE=BIEE  LEATH
BB ABBAEATE
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B IR

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 4. HEREMREEEEREE®
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(viii) Fair value estimation (continued) (viii) DFEMGE(E)
(b)  Financial instruments measured at fair value (b) BAFHEENSHTAE)

(continued)

Fair value measurements categorised into
AVEFESBAUTER
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
DV¥E -8 L et =R
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR TET T

Recurring fair value REMATETE

measurement:

As at 31 March 2022 R2022%3A31H

Financial asset; CRAE

Unlisted equity investment ELMiERRE - = = 2,417
During the year, there were no transfers between RER - F—REE —LEITE
Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level L JREEAEEE =4 -
3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers AEBRNBRENRAFERERS
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end 4 B AR ) IR B R TR SR
of the reporting period in which they occur. iz o
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B IR

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Revenue recognition of construction works and
recognition of contract assets

Revenue from provision of construction works is recognised
over time by measuring the progress towards completion
of the Group's performance obligations as set out in
respective contracts. The Group has used the output method
to estimate the progress of each performance obligation
satisfied over time by reference to the value of construction
works completed to date (as certified by surveyors or other
representatives as appointed by customers (collectively the
external independent parties) or evaluated by the Group's
internal technicians if such certifications from external
independent parties are not available) as a proportion of the
total contract value of the relevant construction contracts.

The Group regularly reviews and revises the estimation of
construction contract progresses whenever there is any
change in circumstances. As at 31 March 2022, the value of
work which is completed but yet to be certified was disclosed
in Note 17(b).

5.

EREFHEE R

RESHMBRRFZEEE (L AL - &
AR ERERE  Rx  BERARE
ZEREBERNFEMNEERIABBE IR
o EBRR MM 2T EERZ AR
FEHARRIPE 2 EENRBEZREEF
HEAHE -

BETRUARARGNEERR

RtEETRRNKE BB EREERE
B & #) P8 IE 4 B E #0 5T B 2 BE I R A
R ARBRBH LA G EBRHEER —
BRRAANTREE @ ER2REFETK
MEETREEERIEMIEFPEENH
AR (R T HMRBIL )T | RRE - Sl
RONEDBY T EHARRRE @ RIRAEER
BT A B EHEBRESONBEEH
BELLH -

AEETFHEMRETANBRE SRS Y
BEASXNEENMET - R2022F3831HE
SRR MR R B R T2 B AN 5 17(0)

3= o
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Principal and agent consideration in revenue recognition

The Group engaged in e-commerce business through either
of its own online platform or other retail platform operated
by independent third parties, which involves the principal
versus agent assessment. The Group follows the accounting
guidance for principal-agent considerations to assess whether
the Group controls the specified goods or services before
it is transferred to the customer, the indicators of which
including but not limited to: (a) whether the entity is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified
goods or services; (b) whether the entity has inventory risk
before the specified goods or services has been transferred
to a customer; and (c) whether the entity has discretion in
establishing the prices for the specified goods or services.
The management considers the above factors in totality, as
none of the factors individually are considered presumptive
or determinative, and applies judgement when assessing the
indicators depending on different circumstances.

With respect to the e-commerce business, the Group makes a
judgement that it is acting as a principal instead of an agent
by considering several factors including (a) the Group could
control the goods and direct the use of them; (b) the Group
is acting as the primary obligor to fulfill the obligations to
provided consumer products to its customers; (c) the Group
bears the substantive inventory risk of the specified goods
obtained from the suppliers.

Allowance for ECLs of trade receivables and contract
assets

ECLs are unbiased probability-weighted estimates of credit
losses which are determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes and taking into account past events, current
conditions and assessment of future economic conditions.

1 82 Chi Kan Holdings Limited & ##2REM A A Annual Report 2022 F3R

5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HEIERERMIFE

BEAREFHEFTRAE 2

WaERPETARREBEAZE

AEBERBEASHE LA EMABIS
HEENTEYAREETRARES  H
SR EFANERIEAN G - AEEERE
RREABREAZENGESIRTEAE
EREFERmsREEBRERPRISEHESE
HZFERmRRBHIEGIE - SHEERE
BETRR@QERREIZRAETRME
ERmRBEAR © OEBREERMX
REBEEEFPAIREAAERFRR : RoE
BREODENEREFEBMIRBEHERS
BEE-HEELARE AR EEAE
A REBREAEESOREERE - WKA
BB R BRI R E D HIE -

AETEBEBME  ARERULHEETS
FEEZFEAMIEREA - EFEERETH
= B AKEAZEHEBRERLETR
WMEZRE  OAKELEIEEEA N
BITAEEFRHEER AT+ ROXE
Bt ERRER R EERARERFER

LA
a0

o
ZoN

REZEUREAREGNEERMFESRR
]

TS B 1B B BT — B T S
WS R TR - AR Rk A A
R AT 4 TR 0 5 B A 1B 2 TEHRE S A
5o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Allowance for ECLs of trade receivables and contract
assets (continued)

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade receivables and contract assets individually
or based on provision matrix. Except for customers with
significant balances or credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the Group used provision matrix
to calculate the ECL for its trade receivables and contract
assets. The provision rates are based on repayment history
as groupings of various debtors that have similar credit risk
characteristics. The provision matrix is based on relevant
historical loss rates taking into consideration forward looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the
estimated loss rates are reassessed and changes in forward
looking information are considered.

Management assessed that the expected credit loss rate and
loss allowances for these balances to be insignificant as at 31
March 2022 (2021: same).

The assessment requires management judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation in future
is different from original estimate, such differences will impact
the carrying amount of trade receivables and contract assets
and credit loss allowance in the period in which the estimate
has been changed. As at 31 March 2022, the information
about ECLs of trade receivables and contract assets was
disclosed in Notes 4(iii) and 17.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income tax in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of
transactions and recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. The tax treatment of such transactions is reconsidered
periodically to take into account all changes in tax legislations.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
would impact the current income tax in the period in which
such determination is made.

5.

BEAREFHEFTRAE 2

REZEUREARGNEERMFESRR
#w(&)

AREBSHE HRBRR R E N EERRE
HME BB RR AR R ol R B AR FE s 1 TR
EFHE - RRBERBBRAEERENTFPES
AHESN - REEERBRERETEE SR
EAMANEENTAREREE - ANA
BEHREEERBREINTRERSALETD
B BERDENMEERE - BEERETR
HEABEEIEXRETE Kt RBREFRA
FITERNA BRSNS AREENAEILEE
e REHREAH - EFFBRRXGEHTHU
AT - N E AT R #E

KEIBBIL - P2022F38318 » ZE4
HBEOTEREEEEREXREERBETTEKXR
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FR SRR P ot

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (the “CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors who make strategic decisions. The CODM assesses
the performance based on a measure of profit after income
tax.

The Group is principally engaged in the business of providing
formwork services and other construction services in Hong
Kong. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group
commenced its e-commerce business in the PRC. The Group’s
reportable and operating segments are as follows:

= Contract revenue from construction business: provision
of formwork services and other construction services to
customers in Hong Kong

- E-commerce business revenue: online trading of
products in the PRC

Segment results, segment assets and liabilities

Segment results represent the profit before income tax from
each segment except for the unallocated corporate expenses
and income, being central administrative costs and certain
other income. Segment assets include all current and non-
current assets with the exception of other corporate assets
and other unallocated corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include all current and non-current liabilities with the
exception of other corporate liabilities and other unallocated
corporate liabilities.
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AT ERAR MR

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Segment results, segment assets and liabilities (continued)

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as
provided to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance for the
year is set out below:

Construction

DEER ()
AWEE - P BEEREEE)
ERNANRBBERIEDBER  AAEE

TERBRFEREZAREGAT2HHIHE
o

E-commerce

business business  Unallocated Total
BEEK BSTRHKELR ROE et
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FETT
Year ended 31 March E£202263H31H
2022 tﬁl‘?
Reportable segment A 2R o P
revenue 1,133,180 441,161 - 1,574,341
Reportable segment profit/ & Fr 154 Bl a] £ 2R 5
(loss) before income tax ~ #B%& A,/ (E518) 29,417 57,346 (7,359) 79,404
Amounts included in the st AFTE D EpIEZS
measure of segment SR
profit or loss:
Interest expenses ENEa (548) - - (548)
Interest income FIEW A 1 993 454 1,448
Depreciation e (812) (359) (5) (1,176)
Year ended 31 March EZE2021F3H31R
2021 .IJ:EEJE
Reportable segment L iflgas
revenue 826,198 - - 826,198
Reportable segment profit/ Bx FT 555 Al 7] 2 3 5
(loss) before income tax ~ #B%F,(E548) 59,532 264 (9,857) 49,939
Amounts included in the st AGTE D EIEZS
measure of segment SF
profit or loss:
Interest expenses FEMAZ (13) - = (13)
Interest income B U A —* == 431 431
Depreciation e (850) - ) (852)
o Less than HK$1,000 ¥ 1,000 7T
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DHER (&)

Segment results, segment assets and liabilities (continued) DIEE  SEERAERB(E)

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT T
Segment assets PEEE
Construction business EEER 469,093 405,878
E-commerce business BFEBER 73,197 =
Other corporate assets EMAREE 33,162 65,361
575,452 471,239
Segment liabilities pan =N
Construction business BT 126,794 98,895
E-commerce business BB ER 43,908 =
Other corporate liabilities HiAFAaE 1,198 13,334
171,900 112,229
Geographic information i B E R
Information about the Group’s non-current assets (other than ERAEEIERSEE(IEATETAEBE
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss) is presented HEBMEBERIN BRI INIREEMREER2
based on the geographical location of the assets. Bl o
As at 31 March
M3A31H
2022 2021
20224 202148
HK$’000 HK$'000
THT FH&T
Hong Kong 57 398 1,171
The PRC =2 1,829 12
2,227 1,183
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B IR

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographic information (continued)

The Group's revenue are all derived from external customers
in Hong Kong and PRC for the year. During the year ended 31
March 2022, revenue from 1 (2021: 3) customer individually
contributed over 10% of the Group’s total revenue.
The revenue from each of these customers came from
construction segment, are summarised below:

DEER ()
HEEE ()

FA - AEBHREZBRENES KFEH
GNERER P o IMELE 2022331 HIEEE -
DRIFEE 14 (20214 : 38) B U@ R
HAREERWRBRI0%  FEZERFPHN
WesThRa@2ED S - BT -

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31BLLEE

2022 2021

20224 20214F

HKS$’000 HKS$'000

TExT T T

Customer A ZEA 656,539 405,780

Customer B = FEB N/A RiEH @ 120,823

Customer C 2EC N/A RiEH @ 96,973
Note: MI5E

(a) The corresponding customers did not contribute over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group for the respective year.

@ MHARFPFRESFEYEGAEERSRE
HRE10% ©
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B IR

7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 7. WmRHEAYEA
Revenue and other income recognised are as follows: RS EEMIEALT

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31BLLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHET
Over time Fi& b5 [
Contract revenue from construction EEEBEA W E -
business:
Formwork services AR R 1,093,563 807,798
Other construction services Hth 22 SRR A% 39,617 18,400
1,133,180 826,198
Point in time X —REE
E-commerce business revenue ERRE Y e 441,161 -
1,574,341 826,198

Other income: HalA -

Government grant (Note (a)) B HEEL (B 5EG@)) - 15,240
Commission income (Note (b)) WA (HI3ED)) 1,850 =
Sundry income T A 19 473

1,869 15,713

Notes: BdsE -

(@)  Government grant for the year ended 31 March 2021 represent (@) #HE2021F3A31BItFENBFMELENE
the subsidies received from the Employment Support Scheme EERITHRERERFEL ZREEAZEBT
launched by the government of the Hong Kong Special %% 2 E8f o
Administration Region.

(b) Commission income for the year ended 31 March 2022 (b) HZE2022F3 8318 L EE RS WA EELEE
represent the sourcing service income which is calculated by REWA - ENERAEERSETFTAEDL
certain percentage or amount based of the total sales amount. LR E o
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B IR

8.

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 8.

Profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging the

following items:

B FT 15 B Al i3 7

BR AT B AT A TO AR H0RR T B IRIRED

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31BLLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
F#&x FHIT
Subcontracting charges DEEMA 681,386 488,589
Material costs IR =90 185,713 129,546
Cost of inventories sold HEFERA 154,166 -
Commission expense to e-commerce BTV &ME M (Miite))
platform (Note (e)) 216,200 -
Employee benefits expenses, including B 8/@FIF - B FEE EH)
directors’ emoluments % (FIzEDb) * (©&9)
(Notes (b), (c) and 9)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TENMEMET 212,304 141,530
Contribution to defined contribution  EEEMH TR RET 2| MK
retirement plans 8,870 5,654
221,174 147,184
Depreciation (Notes (d) and 14) & (MHEEd) &14)
Self-owned assets BEEEE 251 222
Assets under leases MHEEE 925 630
1,176 852
Consultancy fee (Note (a)) ZERME@E) 1,125 3,000
Legal and professional fees FERREXER 2,333 3,963
Auditor’s remuneration 2% BB B <&
— Audit services - Bwat IR 1,142 1,480
- Non-audit services - EEE RS 150 200
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8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued) 8. ERFTEBiIAIER (2

Notes: st :

(@)  Consultancy fee for the year end 31 March 2022 was paid to (@ BHE2022F3831BIFEZHAERT A

an independent third party for the business development and XBEBRRNKE EXENREEEFHRE
acquisition, industry research and feasibility study of target FRKERTEAN B ZEBH 2 /T HERR
businesses including the e-commerce business in the PRC. SN FRMLE=F -
Consultancy fee for the year end 31 March 2021 was paid HE201F3R3BIEFEZHRABRTA
to an independent third party for the feasibility study of B B A TR S AR 4B AR 7% 2 AT AT MR IR S AT
prefabricated formwork services in the PRC. FRMNE=F °

(b)  Employee benefits expenses, including directors’ emoluments b) EERNHAX PREESHE

Year ended 31 March
BZE3ABLEE

2022 2021
202245 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Amount included in cost of sales and S ASHE KRS A B 50 I8
services 210,922 141,435
Amount included in administrative H AT X 8008
expenses 10,252 5,749
221,174 147,184
No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the BEE R WM HBGER R D RIREE 2’
contributions payable in future years. R o
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8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (continued) 8. BRATEHANGER 2
Notes: (continued) MisE : (&)
() Five highest paid individuals (© HBZEFMAL
The five individuals whose remunerations were the highest in FR - AREBRELZESFMATEIE 2SR
the Group included 2 (2021: 2) directors for the year, whose (20214 : 2%)ES - HEME R Tt
remuneration is reflected in the analysis presented in Note 9(a) Q@FT 25K DI R « £A - AR 3
below. The aggregate remunerations paid to the remaining Z (20214 : 38 ) EEa AT XX~ 48 = i an
3 (2021: 3) highest paid individuals, whose remuneration falls T BEEAATHEHB AN FZ 21,000,000
within the salary band of Nil to HK$1,000,000, for the year are as EITHHENEE
follows:
Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31BLEE
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Wages, salaries, bonuses and other ITE  #H& - K
benefits HibzgF 1,919 2,072
Contribution to defined contribution HEMHIFUR R EIH 0
retirement plans 54 54
1,973 2,126
No incentive payment for joining the Group or compensation HE20202F3A31B IEFEMERTR AL
for loss of office was paid or payable to any of the five highest e A LS EMERMAREE
paid individuals during the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: A B2 ED < SR S BB A (2 (20214F : #H[A))
same).
(d)  Depreciation expense of approximately HK$1,176,000 for the (d)  FR41,176,0007 7T (2021 FF : 852,000 78

year (2021: HK$852,000) has been recorded in administrative
expenses.

Included in the amount, the commission expense of
approximately HK$11,022,000 (2021: Nil) paid to Baiyin
Yunchuang (defined in Note 15) which is classified as the
financial assets at FVPL of the Group, for the service of
providing online sales platform for the Group’s e-commerce
business.

TO)RITERS ESEATTRAX

ATABEFERERARZA(EERM
HI5) AASEE TR EGIRME
EF AR im A H 289 4911,022,000% 7T
CoEF - B)AeFAY  EESIBARAS
EIRATEFABZZSBHEE °
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9. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9. EENEANRREDR

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a)

EEME

The remuneration of the directors of the Company paid

AEEENEENARRESHME

and payable by the Group are set out below:

mF :

Contribution

to defined
contribution
retirement
Name Fees Salary plans Total
REMN
ERHE
3] ue e By ALK me
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Fia Fia Fi# Fi#
Year ended 31 March 2022  #Z2022%3H31H
LEE
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong BENEE - 1,320 18 1,338
Ms. Chan May Kiu BREEL LT - 1,125 18 1,143
Non-executive directors: FEHITES
Mr.Chen Zhongzhou (Note i) B M 55 4 (Bt 3Eii) 50 - - 50
Dr. Yang Tao (Note ii) o (P 3T 100 - - 100
Independent Non-executive ~ BY JFH{TESE :
directors:
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tong 2R IRELT R ERD
(Note i) (P51 150 - - 150
Ms. Chan Sze Man (Note i) BREs 8 £ (Fftati) 150 - - 150
Mr. Jiang Jungan (Note i) e A (FIEE) 150 - - 150
600 2,445 36 3,081
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9. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9. EBEEMWEANRER &)

(continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEME£(E)
Contribution
to defined
contribution
retirement
Name Fees Salary plans Total
REMH-K
BINETE
e ik e AR e
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FET FHET FHT
Year ended 31 March 2021  #Z2021%53A831H
LEE

Executive directors: WITES

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong BEEREE - 957 18 975

Ms. Chan May Kiu BREBRL = 762 18 780

Non-executive director: HERTEE

Dr. Yang Tao BEELT 95 = = 95

Independent Non-executive B JEH{TE S :

directors:
Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tong 2RIRELT R ERM
(Note i) (B 95 = = 95
Ms. Chan Sze Man (Note i) bR =5 d = (FtsE) 95 = = 95
Mr. Jiang Jungan (Note i) &% A (FIEE) 95 = = 95
380 1,719 36 2,135

Notes: BIsE -

0 Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tong, Ms. Chan Sze Man and Mr. (i) RARBE TR EE - RFH LT REERE
Jiang Jungan were appointed as Independent non- FAER2020F7 A7 B ER T AB N IEHTT
executive directors on 17 July 2020. =

(i) Dr. Yang Tao resigned as non-executive director with (i) BEBELN20219F11 A30B B EIHEHRITE
effect from 30 November 2021, Mr. Chen Zhongzhou EORBRAMNEENRBRBESEAERITE
was appointed as non-executive director on the same Eo
day.
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9. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The non-executive director's emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors
of the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

None of the directors has waived any of their
emoluments in respect of the year 31 March 2022 (2021:
Nil).

Directors retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the year (2021: Nil).

Directors termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the year (2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors services

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors services
(2021: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled body
corporates by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year, there were no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors (2021: Nil).
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EENEANRERS2)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

BEEME(E)

EIARTEEME N EEREERM
EERARARAEEEBZRBEM
E o LIPERTESHME NERZRE
FERARAREMBRARAEST 2R
BME - LIBILIFATESME Y
ETE/WFERARRRERTZRHEM

e

FEE2022F3831BILEE  #fiESE
EERRHEEEMIE (2021F : &)

EERNEF

F - BEEE B UCE S IS WEE (AR
KRB (20214 : £E) o

ESRIEEAER

FN - BEE S EUCEL S IS W E T A 4R
IEEEARER(20214F : £E) o

RERHESREQE=SREH#NHK
&

FR - AKEYERBREEERSE
R % =77 XA RE (2021 4F -
&)

FHRUES ESRFNEERES
FHENERAZHANER - Bl
ERREMRZHER

FERBEAENESE  ABPES
T EAB R ERE S A RENER
AT ANER BUEREEMR
SLEE(20214F : ) o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B IR

9. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9. EBEEMWEANRER &)

(continued)

(f)  Directors material interests in transactions, ) ZENXNE  THEFEINERER
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group's business to which the Group
was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,

ANEBBEITIARNNEETNEFRHE
BEARZI(THEESBEE) B
202243 A 31 B 8 % &F [E AT ] B

: y orind 4 B B A B A E AR
okl N AN % - ZHRANH(021F : 1) -
10. FINANCE INCOME, NET 10. MEWAFHE

Year ended 31 March
HE3IAALLEE

2022 2021
20224 20214F
HKS$’000 HKS'000
T FET
Finance income AE WA

Bank interest income RITHBULA 1,448 431

Finance costs on: THEBERRER :
— lease liabilities —HE&aE (9) (13)
— bank overdrafts —IRITEX (539) =
(548) (13)
Finance income, net BB WA FEE 900 418
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FAIEFHAX

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31BLLEE

2022 2021
2022F 20214
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Current income tax BNEAFR 15 HX
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BBFER 4,854 7,181
— PRC Corporate Income Tax — BTSSR 15,098 20
Income tax expense FrigHif 19,952 7,201

No overseas profits tax has been calculated for entities of the
Group that are incorporated in the BVI or the Cayman Islands
as they are exempted from tax in these jurisdictions.

All PRC subsidiaries are subject to income tax at 25% (2021:
25%) for the year under the PRC Corporate Income Tax law
("CIT Law").

Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profit tax rates by
the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong (“IRD”"), the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25% on the first
HKS2 million of estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on
the remaining estimated assessable profits for the year (2021:
Same).

Pursuant to the CIT law, 10% withholding tax is levied on
the foreign investor, (foreign investors which are registered
in Hong Kong and meet certain requirements specified in
the relevant tax regulations in the PRC may be entitled to
a preferential 5% rate), in respect of dividend distributions
arising from profit earned by a foreign investment enterprise
in the PRC after 1 January 2008. As at 31 March 2022,
no deferred tax liability has been recorded in respect of
temporary differences relating to the undistributed profits
amounting to approximately HK$38,548,000 (2021: Nil) that
would be payable on the distribution of these retained
earnings as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probably
that these earnings will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.
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B IR

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax
rate of the group entities as follows:

11.

gy AE )

REERMAEHAGMNNHIERKA R ER
ERNCEMREAENERTENZEN
T

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31HILLEE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHIT
Profit before income tax B BT 15 5 A A 79,404 49,939
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates BAEBTRKB A REA
applicable to different subsidiaries S A R st E Y FL 18
of the Group 18,479 8,201
Tax effect under two-tiered profits tax  FARR 4% 1| 1556 2= 4| E T Y
rates regime WiEE (165) (165)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1~ 8] 1754 5 5% 1,648 1,736
Income not subject to tax BARBA - (2,561)
Tax concession HIGEE (10) (10)
Income tax expense e R 19,952 7,201
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

13.

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year as
follows:

12. 8REF

BRERRF AR REES ARG FIBR
NERBETEBRMETEEGE - 0
T

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A31BLLEE

2022 2021
2022%F 20214F
Profit attributable to owners of IN/NETE ¥ =W X b
the Company (in HK$'000) (F#&T) 38,751 42,773
Weighted average number of BT TR I
ordinary shares in issue (in Thousand)  (FA%) 1,000,000 907,534
Earnings per share (HK cents per share) &A% & A (FR&AL) 3.88 471

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of earnings per share for the year ended 31 March
2021 has been retrospectively adjusted for the effects of the
issuance of shares in connection with the Reorganisation and
the capitalisation issue which took place on 14 August 2020.

There were no differences between the basic and diluted
earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary
shares outstanding during the year (2021: same).

DIVIDENDS

Neither dividend was paid, declared or proposed during the
year, nor has any dividend has been proposed since the end of
reporting period (2021: Nil).
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14. MEREE
Motor
Right of use vehicles
assets- Furniture, under hire
officeunder  Leasehold fixture and purchase
lease improvement equipment arrangement Total
B bk
FREEE - HE BETE#HER ZYET
HERAE MEEE B RE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fer  FaT  FET TR TER
As at 31 March 2020 202053318
Cost BN 1,349 923 122 557 2,951
Accumulated depreciation LI E (424) (143) (99) (264) (930)
Net book amount REFE 925 780 23 293 2,021
Year ended 31 March 2021 HZE202193H31H
LFE
Opening net book amount HAOIBR R E 925 780 23 293 2,021
Additions NE - - 14 - 14
Depreciation (Note 8) & (KizEs) (463) 212) (10) (167) (852)
Closing net book amount HRREFE 462 568 27 126 1,183
As at 31 March 2021 2021934318
Cost XA 1,349 923 136 557 2,965
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (887) (355) (109) (431) (1,782)
Net book amount REFE 462 568 27 126 1,183
Year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE2022F38318
EFE
Opening net book amount B ERE A 462 568 27 126 1,183
Additions NE 1,947 - 273 - 2,220
Depreciation (Note 8) & (i) (799) (213) (38) (126) (1,176)
Exchange realignment M 3, —* - _* _ _*
Closing net book amount HRBEEFE 1,610 355 262 - 2,227
As at 31 March 2022 20223318
Cost BN 3,296 923 409 557 5,185
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (1,686) (568) (147) (557) (2,958)
Net book amount REFE 1,610 355 262 - 2,227
& Less than HK$1,000 . LIA1,00078 7T
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

15.

The Group leases various properties for the use of office and
motor vehicles. Leases are typically made for fixed periods
of one to five years (2021: Same). Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain various different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes. The corresponding lease liabilities is
disclosed in Note 23.

A motor vehicle with net book value of approximately
HK$126,000 at 31 March 2021 was held under a finance lease.
As at 31 March 2022, the motor vehicle is fully depreciated.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

14. MERFRE#)

AEEHEZHERERAENWENARA
BH.—Mms MEHETA AT
(20214F : #8[R) - HEER TR ERIE R
T BRESETRGR RGNS - 2588
ZHW T EIMERRY - EREEETS
AR IR R ARSER - HEAEAENH
FE23IEEE o

2202143 A31 B EREFE A 4)126,00078 70
RSB NEMERERHE - M2022F3A31
B ZAEZEE -

. BAVERABRSENEREE

As at 31 March

R3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HKS$'000
THERT FH&T
Unlisted equity investment EEMERKRE 2,417 -

The balance represented the Group’s investment of 10%
equity interest in Baiyin Yunchuang Space Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Baiyin Yunchuang”) a company
incorporated in PRC, which is primarily engaged in provision
of technical support and other facilitation services in
connection with e-commerce business.

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of the equity investment
is determined by an independent professional valuer. Loss
from changes in fair value of financial asset measured at FVPL
of approximately HK$338,000 was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 March 2022.
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15. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 15.

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

The fair value of the unlisted equity investment is level 3
fair value measurement. There is no transfer under the fair
value hierarchy classification during both years (Note 4(viii)).
The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the
discount for lack of marketability. As at 31 March 2022, it
is estimated that with all other variables held constant, a
decrease/increase in discount for lack of marketability by 5%
would have increased/decreased the Group's profit or loss by
approximately HK$121,000.

16. INVENTORIES 16.

BAVPEFARENEREE

(%)

FLTHEFEENAFEAFEIBAFE
B -MEFE AFEBH S HE BT EE
B (Mixawii) - R EFERRZ THR
BUEYTERAER - R2022F38318 |
FrE B E g5 18 BT TSR
BT DI IN5% Al B A £ E B
#0582 49121,00078 7T

Inventories for E-commerce business ~ BEFHEEBESE

FE
As at 31 March
M3H31H

2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET
8,950 =

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 17. BEEWFERESNEE
ASSETS
As at 31 March
MA3A31H

2022 2021

20224 20214

HKS$’000 HKS'000

FET FET

Trade receivables (Note (a)) B o5 EWMZIE(M5EGQ)) 96,952 37,634
Contract assets (Note (b)) ABHEE(MFE®b)

- Uncertified work in progress - RRBENEETLRR 115,220 128,658

— Retention receivables - EWRE S 108,568 83,391

223,788 212,049
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS (continued)

17. EZRWFIBEREHNEE2)

(@) The balances represented the trade receivables from (a) HKEHRIEZEEBEE HEWRRIE
construction business, the Group's credit terms granted AEBRTFTE=ZAZFPHWEERNT
to third-party customers range from 14 days to 60 days 14BZE60H (20214 : #HR) °
(2021: Same).

At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of
the third-party trade receivables, based on the date of
certification, are as follows:

R|EBMR - F=H B HREKER
e HHmERE AT ¢

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHIT
Up to 30 days =%30H 47,726 30,818
31-90 days 31B&E90H 43,002 6,816
91-181 days 91HZE181H 5,881 z
181-365 days 181 H&365H 343 =
96,952 37,634

At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of NE{REEIR - F=HE 5 FEKHIBIER
the third-party trade receivables, based on the due date, REA B EAMNERIE D AT 0 -
are as follows:

As at 31 March

M3A31H

2022 2021

20225 20214F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

F#&T FHET

Current and not yet past due BNEA B 30 > %61 HA 47,726 30,818
Past due: wHA -

Within 30 days 30HA 26,439 6,316

31-90 days 31HZ90H 19,745 -

91-365 days 91HZ365H 3,042 -

96,952 37,634
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS (continued)

(a)

(continued)

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
have good credit quality and low default rate under
the internal credit assessment adopted by the Group.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances. As at 31 March 2022, included in the Group’s
trade receivables are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$3,042,000 (2021: Nil) has
been past due 90 days or more and is not considered as
in default due to the long-term/on-going relationship,
good repayment record and continuous repayment
from these customers.

Further details on the Group's credit policy for trade
receivables are set out in Note 3(f).

Contract assets represent the Group’s rights to
considerations from customers for the provision of
formwork services and other construction services,
which arise when: (i) the Group completed the relevant
services under such contracts but the works are yet
to be certified by surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers; or (ii) the customers
withhold certain certified amounts payable to
the Group as retention money to secure the due
performance of the contracts.

Any amount previously recognised as a contract asset
is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which
it is certified by surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers and becomes
unconditional other than passage of time.

17. EZRWFIBEREHNEE2)

(%)

BIBEAEEFTRANAIEETE
3 A 180 B e 3 AR ORLE B B S FEUGRIE
EERITEEBERELNLEK - KEE
WARBEZE &R B o 702022
F3H31H - BREAB(E 3,042,000
JC(20214F : T) W EWERAKETAARSE
EE ZEYGIE - EE @0 H 3
b HREZSERFRERS HE
MR ZERFHBERIEERRZER
BEER  WEWREREEL -

REEE S ENREEEREE— 5
SEERAM RS0 -

BHRBEEAEERREHERRSE K
H b2 LR R TP WK E MR
Ao HRATERNEE : ((AKEE
REBEARSOTKEBRS - BZT
RHAEAEMIELZENEMAK
KRR RNFEFPBREETREMNAE
FHERERRERRE S - UHBR
BRZBEIT

TR RENEENTASENE
BREMKTFZEMNEMARRAE
R B A BB A6k A (0 SR BERS R A0 ) s &
N BERE SRR
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Retention sum for contract works are settled in
accordance with the terms of the respective contracts.
In the consolidated statement of financial position,
retention sum for contract works were classified as
current assets based on operating cycle. Prior to
expiration of defect liability period, are classified as
contract assets, which ranges from one to five years
from the date of the practical completion of the
construction. The relevant amount of contract asset is
unsecured and interest-free and reclassified to trade
receivables when the defect liability period expires. The
defect liability period serves as an assurance that the
construction services performed comply with agreed-
upon specifications and such assurance cannot be
purchased separately. The terms and conditions in
relation to the release of retention vary from contract to
contract, which is subject to practical completion or the
expiry of the defect liability period. The Group does not
hold any collateral as security.
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(b)

(%)

BHTRERBEIIIZEOE B MOIERK
B REHMBRRRT - 80T
RRESNDERKLBHRMOBRR
BEE  -NRMEETHERR - BD
BRANEE BERMEEERRT
BEHERR—Z0F - aNEENEH
CHERERALEE BERRBEE
HERREFOBRBEHRWFIA -
BRiE B M AR ERB LN ERIEHZ
RETHRE > BARREL A D
RIEBA - AR MRE & M IR
HERTRSHME  HXERKI N
BRPEE T HIE MR o A5 B 45
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B IR

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 17. EZRRRERENEE #)
ASSETS (continued)
(b)  (continued) (b) (#&)
In the consolidated statement of financial position, REHFBRRAERS - BEEWRE
contract assets relating to retention receivables were CHENBEDENKEBRESEL
classified as current assets based on operating cycle. MBEE - FURBEZAEBHAN
The ageing of the retention receivables, based on the BREQIAT ¢

date of certification, are as follows:

As at 31 March

R3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Within 1 year PIER 106,753 72,727
Between 1 and 2 years 1FEZE2F 1,815 986
Over 2 years HBiE2F - 9,678
108,568 83,391
As at 31 March 2022, the contract assets that are 202293 H31H » TBHITEREE 1218 B
expected to be recovered after more than 12 1BIGE 2 & 4 EELE91,819,0005 7T
months are approximately HK$91,819,000 (2021: (20214F : 69,112,000/ 7T) + EBNE UL
HK$69,112,000), which represented the retention IREB 4 - A THIA Y EEFTEEN12(E
receivables. The remaining contract assets are expected ARUkE o
to be recovered within 12 months.
The following table shows unsatisfied performance TZBTRETERERRESYNES
obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term HABITBHEE -

construction contracts.

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Aggregate amount of the DEEERERITHRIAREE
transaction price allocated to BN EBEE
long-term construction contracts
that are unsatisfied 1,376,133 1,381,647
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17. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 17. EZRRRERENEE #)
ASSETS (continued)
(b)  (continued) by (#&)
As at 31 March 2022, management expects that R2022F3A8318  EEBEEBEHY
approximately HK$913,208,000 (2021: HK$891,092,000), 913,208,000/ 7T (2021 4F : 891,092,000
will be recognised as revenue during the next reporting BIL)BR T —ExfRESBHEER AWK
period and the remaining will be recognised within two o MERERN SRS B RS
years from each reporting date. ATERR ©
Further details on the Group’s credit policy for contract AEBEHNEEGEHRE—FHE
assets are set out in Note 3(f). R MIFE3(R ©
18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 18. ENRIE - HERHMEWFIE
RECEIVABLES
As at 31 March
M3A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHET
Prepayments TEfIFRIE 2,168 116
Deposits and other receivables & M E b W sk I8 1,214 2,438
Prepayments, deposits and TARTRIR ~ e R HEA LY
other receivables EQE] 3,382 2,554
Less: non-current portion deposits W IEREH RS - (77)
3,382 2,477
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B IR

19. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AT BANK 19. IRFBEERETHES

As at 31 March

R3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FHIT
Restricted bank deposits R HIRITIF K
- on demand - mER 10,000 10,000
— maturity of one month - — & AR 7,500 7,500
17,500 17,500
Cash at bank RITIRE
— cash and cash equivalents -REMREEEY 217,901 196,797
As at 31 March 2022, restricted cash are denominated in 202263 318 - ZERHIERE ABTIIE
Hong Kong dollars and held in Hong Kong to secure the bank WRBERBEAERE TAEENRITRE
facilities granted to the Group (Note 22). B R (Bt EE22) -
At 31 March 2022, cash at bank which is denominated in 20223318 - UAREGIERRITIR
Renminbi amounted to approximately HK$89,305,000 (2021 ©#7/389,305,0007% 7T (20214F : 40,005,00078
HK$40,005,000). The Renminbi is not freely convertible TC) c ARBARITEREBAEEMER |
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China'’s BAE A B A 2 CHNEE TR IR ) & CAEEE -
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration EERNEEERE)  AEEEESHK
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange R SZINERER 2 RITHARB LB AHEM
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange Renminbi B o s T IR @& BT HI(E (2021 6 -
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct HBE)

foreign exchange business. The remaining cash at balances
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (2021: Same).

Annual Report 2022 &3¢ Chi Kan Holdings Limited %5 £)#E iR G R A 7] 207



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PSRRI RE

20. TRADE PAYABLES

20. EZRMARE

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HKS$’000 HKS$'000
FET F&TT
Construction business BT 95,899 71,162
E-commerce business BB ER 14,305
110,204 71,162

The average credit period for trade purchases generally
ranged from 15 days to 60 days (2021: 15 days to 60 days).

At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade

ZoRBENTHEER BN T 158 =60H
(20214 : 15HZE608) °

RIERR - BHRNFORIZHT Ak

payables, based on invoice date, are as follows: BROMTUT
As at 31 March
M3A318

2022 2021
20224 20214F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ExT FHTT
Up to 30 days =%30H 98,968 58,170
31-90 days 31HZ90H 10,222 12,702
91 - 180 days 91HZ180H 869 30
Over 180 days HBiE180H 145 260
110,204 71,162
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21. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. EErERAREMEARIE

As at 31 March

R3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&x FHIT
Accruals for staff salaries and ST % MNEMERN A ET
other benefits ZH 15,768 14,676
Contract liabilities AHAEE 10,206 10,827
Other accruals and other payables HEmEABRE R HEME
IR 16,964 4,868
42,938 30,371

BRNABE(AIREEKREFRIR)IDRIZE
5 - FRENBEZBNT

Contract liabilities, representing receipt in advance from
customers, are separately presented. The movement of
contract liabilities during the year is as follows:

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#ET FHET
As at the beginning of the year REFEH] 10,827 =
Revenue recognised that was included 3t AFEHE B EHEHER
in the contract liabilities at beginning A
of the year (10,827) -
Increase due to receipts in advance T8 2 WS = R0 P B
from customers, excluding amounts m e BRERNER LW ZZHR
recognised as revenue during the year  JE4) 10,206 10,827
As at the end of the year RER 10,206 10,827
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22. BANK BORROWINGS 22. IRITER
As at 31 March
M3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
HK$’000 HKS$'000
F#&x FHIT
Bank borrowings, maturity of RITE - —E AR
one month - secured — 2E# 15,000 10,000

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s bank borrowing was
denominated in HKS and carries interest rates at HIBOR plus
a margin per annum (2021: Same). The weighted effective
interest rates of bank borrowings was 2.23% (2021: 2.23%) per
annum. As at 31 March 2022, such revolving loan facility were
secured by (i) restricted cash held by the bank (Note 19); and
(i) corporate guarantee of the Company (2021: Same).

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings approximated their
fair values.

23. LEASE LIABILITIES

23.

R2022%3A31H @ REBARITHERAS
TCHIME - WIREBRIT R ER S INERFE
K B(20214F : FHRA) ° RITE RS F I
FHRAIZR A2.23%(20214F 1 2.23%) ° 2022
F3A318 - EEEAEERMERO)RITAT
B RHEIRS (MFE19) 0 RONARFDE
FERIEERA (20214 : FBR) o

RITERREERE N FERE

HERE

As at 31 March

MA3A31H
2022 2021
20224 20214F
HKS$’000 HKS'000
TExT TETT
Current mE) 566 545
Non-current IETRE 1,218 131
1,784 676
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

The Group leases various properties for the use of office
and motor vehicles (Note 14). The Group has the option
to purchase the motor vehicles under hire purchase
arrangement. These lease liabilities were measured at net
present value of the lease payments during the lease terms
that are not yet paid.

The movement and maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set
out in Notes 28(b) and 4(iv) respectively.

The amount recognised in the profit or loss in relation to lease
are as follows:

23. HEEE»®)
AEBRESERERASHYERSS
(MiEE14) - AEETRIBRIERELHES

AE - ZEHERETRBEIAE RS
HEMNRFRESE -

E‘EE,\%@@J&@J B H 245 B R M 5
b) K4(iv) °

RIERERNEESRWT

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2022 2021
20225 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FH&TT
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 10) HEBGEF B (FFEE10) 9 13
Depreciation charge for office under ~ FAERA=HEM
lease (Note 14) (HtzE14) 799 463
Depreciation charge for motor vehicle & REITER X (MH:X14)
under lease (Note 14) 126 167
934 643
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24. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

24. RAR KRG &E

Number of
ordinary shares Share capital
EEREE BR 2
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: VERE
As at 1 April 2020 R2020F4H1H 38,000,000 380
Increase during the year (Note (i) F R (HTEEG)) 9,962,000,000 99,620
Asat 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 and 720213 A31H * 202144
31 March 2022 HA18 K&2022%3A31H 10,000,000,000 100,000

A summary of movement in the Company'’s share capital and

share premium is as follows:

ARBRA BB EELDEBT -

Number of
ordinary shares Share capital Share premium
ZERHE [N B 13 E
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHRE :
As at 1 April 2020 R20205E4 818 10,000 ¥ 11,000
Capitalisation Issue (Note (ii)) &AL 31T (BEEG)) 749,990,000 7,500 (7,500)
Issuance of ordinary shares upon 1817 E MK
listing (Note (i) (B 5 i) ) 250,000,000 2,500 127,500
Listing expenses charged to share  FNAR (7 & B HIBREY
premium EHRX - - (10,579)
As at 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 7202143 A318 »
and 31 March 2022 2021F4RA1A K&
202293 A31H 1,000,000,000 10,000 120,421

s Less than HK$1,000
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24. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

(continued)

Notes:

U]

(iii)

Pursuant to a shareholders’ resolution passed on 17 July 2020,
the authorised share capital of the Company was increased
from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 shares of HK$0.01
each to HK$100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of
HK$0.01 each by the creation of a further 9,962,000,000 shares
ranking pari passu with the existing shares in all respects.

Pursuant to a shareholder’s resolution passed on 17 July
2020, subject to the share premium account of the Company
being credited as a result of the share offer, the directors are
authorised to allot and issue a total of 749,990,000 shares by
way of capitalisation of the sum of HK$7,499,900 standing to
the credit of the share premium account of the Company (the
Capitalisation Issue). The Capitalisation Issue was completed on
14 August 2020.

On 14 August 2020, the Company issued a total of 250,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each at a price of HK$0.52 per share
as a result of the completion of the share offer. Of the total
gross proceeds amounting to HK$130,000,000, HK$2,500,000
represented the par value credit to the Company’s share capital
and HK$127,500,000, before the share issuance expenses, was
credited to the share premium account. The Company's total
number of issued shares was increased to 1,000,000,000 shares
upon completion of the share offer and Capitalisation Issue as
detailed in note (ii) above.

24. RAEARBRGEE#)

PaE

U]

(ii)

(iii)

BER2020FE7A178BB2RERS
R ARRAWEE KRR E — 2 AlE
9,962,000,0008 R T 75 EELIR B AR H =
(A & 40 17 /9 A& 17 79 75 =X 1 380,000 7T 5 7
38,000,000/ F AR E1E0.01 B TR AR 1D 3 =
100,000,000/ 7T % 410,000,000,000% & %
0.01BTTHIIRAD ©

RIER2020F7 A17BRiE 2 BRERZESR -
FARB 2RO BEREEARNEEM
AER  EZBEREUAERFTFA
RATRRG & ERR B 846 7,499,900/ 7T
#77 AL E R B 1TE $£749,990,000% A% 17
( TZEREBEITER] ) - ZEARLE
TEEBER2020F8A 148 5B ©

MR2020F8 A148 » KA A A TG 5
E 8174 250,000,000 F R EE0.0176
THERR  SERTREMS2ET -
£4 3£130,000,0008 TTHIFR 15 SRIBBREE
# 2,500,000/ TR AR RIRAEE -
M127,500,000% 7 (FMBRARD 1T
A1) F ARG EEIRE  #a £
()R FTEfl 2 R0 & Rz B AT
EHEKE  AARBERITROBEES
1,000,000,0008% A% {7
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25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE 25. B L IRE
The directors of the Company, are of the view that the AKRBEERE W TIALARAFEEAR
following parties were related parties that had transactions or EETBERHHEHRBEE T

balances with the Group during the year:

Name Relationship with the Group £ EAREBHEER
Mr. Lo Executive Director BErA MITES

Ms. Chan May Kiu ("Mrs. Lo")  Executive Director BREBZLE(EAK]) #ITES

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial MEFIBRREMI D PTIRELAI - KE
statements, the Group had the following transactions with BN ANFE LB T ETHRSWT ¢

related parties during the year:

(@) Key management compensation (a) FEEEERM
Key management includes the directors and the senior FTEERERREASRENESIAES
management of the Group. BEBEAE o
The remuneration of directors and compensations paid MERBREENIENTEEEERN
or payable to key management for employment services BEEE BT ¢

are shown below:

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A3MBLEE

2022 2021

2022%F 20214

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Fees e 600 380

Short-term benefits SRR 2,445 2,613
Contribution to defined REHEFTCRRGTEINHR

contribution retirement plans 36 68

3,081 3,061
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26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 26. A BB HEAR R &k
THE COMPANY

As at 31 March

M3H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Notes HK$’000 HKS$'000
B aE F#&x FHIT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIRE 27 155,638 155,638
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG ] 119,072 111,137
Cash at bank RITHEE 224 12,989
119,296 124,126
Current liabilities REEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHIEB A B FE 352 364
Accruals and other payables FEETE R R EAM
JE < RRIE 1,117 1,983
1,469 2,347
Net current assets REBEEFE 117,827 121,779
Net assets BEEFE 273,465 277,417
Equity attributable to owners of 782 B EHE A FE(G RS
the Company
Share capital %N 24 10,000 10,000
Share premium B = (B 24 120,421 120,421
Reserves G @) 143,044 146,996
Total equity RSB 273,465 277,417

The statement of financial position of the Company was AR A FERRKEN2022F6 A4 BEFE G
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 June 2022 & TI% - WHIATESKREREE -
and was signed on behalf.

Lo Hon Kwong Chan May Kiu
= e
Director Director

EE EZE
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26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 26. AATFHMBEMRREK 2
THE COMPANY (continued)

(@) Reserve movement (a) RE2D
Retained
earnings/
Capital (accumulated
reserve losses) Total
RBEF,
BER#E (RFTEE) st
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHIT BT T
(Note)
(B 5E)
As at 1 April 2020 M2020F4 418 155,248 852 156,100
Loss and total FAEBERZEEELRE
comprehensive loss for
the year (9,104) (9,104)
As at 31 March 2021 and 720213 H318 &
1 April 2021 2021F4A1H 155,248 (8,252) 146,996
Loss and total FABELREHBEERE
comprehensive loss for
the year - (3,952) (3,952)
As at 31 March 2022 M2022%3A31H 155,248 (12,204) 143,044
Note: Capital reserve represented the difference between the sk BEARREEMEBERNBRARNEE
net assets value of the subsidiaries acquired and the FEEBBEEABRITRARARGH
consideration settled by issuance of the shares of the FREMNNREMNERNZERE o

Company pursuant to the Reorganisation.
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27. SUBSIDIARIES 27. KB AT

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31

TRE251120243A31 BNEEHBAR :

March 2022:
Country of
incorporation/ Registered/
establishment and Principal activities/ Issued and Attributable equity
Name kind of legal entity Place of operation paid-up capital interest of the Group
Bt/
HEMEY,/ RINER TEES EBTR
&8 REERER EEBE EHRRAE AEEEERE
31 March
3A31H
2022 2021
2022 20214
Directly held
EEEA
Chi Kan Engineering BVI, limited liability Investment holding, US$50,000 100% 100%
Technology Company company BVI
Limited
Chi Kan Engineering RBEAHS WEER  RBREZ 50,000%7T 100% 100%
Technology Company BRAT it
Limited
Indirectly held
BiEEs
Chi Kan Group (BVI) Limited BVI, limited liability Investment holding, US$1,000 100% 100%
company BVI
ChiKan Group (BVl) Limited ~ EBRZEHES - REZER  RBER 1,000% 7T 100% 100%
ARAE £
Chi Kan Technology BVI, limited liability Investment holding, US$50,000 100% 100%
Development Limited company BVI
Chi Kan Technology RBEZHS - REER  RBER 50,0003 7T 100% 100%
Development Limited BRAHE E
Chi Kan Strategy Limited Hong Kong, Investment holding, HKS$1 100% 100%
limited liability HK
company
BYREERRA &% BRAF] REZMR - BE 1B 100% 100%
Chi Kan Woodworks Company  Hong Kong, limited Formwork services and HK$300,000 100% 100%
Limited liability company other construction
services, HK
BYHERERRA BE - BRAF *ﬁ*&ﬁfg%%@ﬂ%é& 300,000 7T 100% 100%
s - &
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27. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

27. B AR (&)

Country of
incorporation/ Registered/
establishment and Principal activities/ Issued and Attributable equity
Name kind of legal entity Place of operation paid-up capital interest of the Group
Bt/
HEMAY, RINER TEES EBTK
% REEERESR EEBE BRRRE AEEEERE
31 March
3A31H
2022 2021
2022% 20215
Chi Kan Engineering (Yangzhou) The PRC, limited liability  Investment holding, US$30,000,000 100% 100%
Investment Company Limited ~ company the PRC
("CK Yangzhou")*#
BHTRRBEBGM)BRLAA FE AREERR REZER +E 30,000,000% 7T 100% 100%
(TEEHM 1)
Nanjing Zhixin Construction ~ The PRC, limited liability  Investment holding, RMB5,000,000 100% 100%
Technology Company company the PRC
Limited**
HREEREMBRARAA 1 AREERF REZR TE AR 100% 100%
5,000,0007T
Baiyin Chi Kan Technology The PRC, limited liability  Trading business, RMB5,000,000 51% 51%
Development Company company the PRC
Limited (“CK Baiyin”)e#
AREYHMBRBRERRA HE BREERR BHEK $H AR 51% 51%
(TBHREG e 5,000,0007T
Zhigin Construction The PRC, limited liability  Investment holding, the ~ US$20,000,000 100% 0%
Development (Nanjing) company PRC
Co, Ltd.*#
BYRERR hE AREERE  RERR T 20,000,000 7T 100% 0%
(FR)BRA R
Xian Zhiqgin Technology The PRC, limited liability Investment holding, the US$5,000,000 100% 0%
Development Co., Ltd.** company PRC (Note a)
AREEHR mE - AREERR  REER PEH 5,000,000 7T 100% 0%
BREBR AT (Mf7a)
Shenzhen Zhigin Engineering  The PRC, limited liability ~ Investment holding, the  RMB1,000,000 100% 100%
Technology Co., Ltd.** company PRC
RIS & TR RE BREERE  REER TE AR 100% 100%
HR N T+ 1,000,0007C
Zhigin Equity Investment The PRC, limited liability Investment holding, the US$5,000,000 100% 0%
(Nanjing) Co., Ltd.** company PRC
BYRERE hE BREERE  REER TE 5,000,0003 7T 100% 0%
(AR)BRRE
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27.

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Registered as wholly foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC

law

Registered as wholly-owned enterprise under the PRC law

Registered as other limited liability enterprise under the PRC

law

The English translation of the company names is for reference

only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

As at 31 March 2022, no registered capital of Xian Zhigin
Technology Development Co., Ltd. has been paid-up and the
Group therefore had an outstanding investment commitment
of US$5,000,000 in Xian Zhigin Technology Development Co.,
Ltd.

Partially-owned subsidiary with material non-
controlling interest (“NCI”)

Set out below is summaries financial information for CK

Baiyin which is the only subsidiary of the Group that has NCI

that are material to the Group. The amount disclosed for the
subsidiary are before intercompany eliminations:

*

@

27. B AR (&)

REBEHEIEEZEMAIEBE RS

REPEEEEMAS2EREG AT

RETEEEEMAEMERETAR

ZERABBHNRGERERSE - ZF
RAN P XA BIEANEHM

MR2022F3H31H - EALESHREE
BRERARzFMBRABESR - At
AEBRAZSHHBEREBRAREA
5,000,0005E 7T M A 32 - 938 B e o

BREEAGFEZERER ([FERER]) 2F
2EMBELTE

TXEN B IR B SRR B —
BEANMBARAREHOMBER

B o

TXFAEEZHNBARNSERRE

RIMSHATHO 288
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27. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 27. B AR (&)

Partially-owned subsidiary with material non-controlling

BREAFERER ((FERER ) 2#F2

interest (“NCI”) (continued) EBAT(E)
2022 2021
2022 20214F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
NCl percentage FEIERR R B DL 49% 49%
As at 31 March M3H31H
Current assets MENEE 68,766 17,531
Current liabilities mBEE (57,668) (11,338)
Non-current assets IEMBEE 4,238 =
Net assets BEFE 15,336 6,193
Carrying amount of NCI R REEE 7,513 3,034
For the year ended 31 March HE3IA3NHILFE
Revenue and other income Wz N B A 449,551 473
Profit for the year F R F 42,247 243
Other comprehensive income EAth 2 185 17
Total comprehensive income FHEW B 42,432 260
Profit allocated to NCI DR E I IR A A i A 20,792 127
Dividend paid to NC| EANEEE T Sl s 16,313 =
Cash flows from operating activities KEEBELE YIRS RE 65,661 6,484
Cash flows from investing activities BEEOEL B nE (3,131) ==
Cash flows from financing activities RMEESEECHRERE (16,271) 5932
Net cash inflows HEeRAFRE 46,259 12,416

N Less than HK$1,000
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27.

28.

AT ERAR MR

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Transactions with NCI

On 11 November 2020, a subsidiary in the PRC with 51%
interest (“Subsidiary A") was incorporated by the Group. On
25 March 2021, the Group has entered into a share transfer
agreement to transfer all of its 51% interest held by the Group
in Subsidiary A to the non-controlling shareholder at net asset
value. The Group recognised an increase in non-controlling
interest of approximately HK$159,000.

On 24 February 2021, another subsidiary in PRC with 51%
interest (“Subsidiary B”) was incorporated by the Group.
The contribution from non-controlling shareholder of
HK$2,907,000 recognised at the incorporation date.

27. B AR (&)

BHEFEREZNRS
R2020F 11 A1 H » AREBER BT
HES1%ERB AR (THBARIAL -

#2021¢3ﬁ255 AEE SRR EEER

% BAREBEEAHE A RAR R EE51%M%
T%E&JSE@EL e T IR AR IR R - ANEERE
R IEVEARAE ZSIE HN49159,00058 7T °

%2021¢2ﬁ245 ’ZK;‘%@EEPEIFH}EZ
—EFMRS1% A B E (B A
BJ) \ufﬂﬁﬁ)z_LEHﬁ ﬁﬁwué'ﬂ HXHX%H:}

% 2,907,000/ I °

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 28. GRS REBRMETE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) KERBHRZL
Year ended 31 March
BZE3A3ALEE
2022 2021
20225 20214F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B2 FBT FHT
Profit before income tax FR P15 25 A& A 79,404 49,939
Adjustments for: AT EIEAR -
Finance income AMEWA 10 (1,448) (431)
Finance costs BE KA 10 548 13
Depreciation of property and L E Y
equipment 8 1,176 852
Fair value changes in financial &2 BT AB&R
assets at FVPL ﬁlﬁﬂﬁﬁz
N EES 15 338 =
80,018 50,373
Changes in working capital: HEERE
Inventories 5 (8,786) =
Trade receivables and contract B S EYGKIERE
assets REE (71,057) (36,462)
Prepayments, deposits and SELNESEIR ?ﬁzi&
other receivables ﬁ{)@}?ﬂﬁz 101 (1,476)
Trade payables féi%ﬂgiﬁ?klﬁ 38,782 33,110
Accruals and other payables FEET 2 R I B fth fE
BESE 10,976 13,246
Net cash generated from KL FT1SIR € F 5
operations 50,034 58,791
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28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group'’s consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

28. EHRERERMT )

(b) BMEFDHELESEOHIR

TRANAEERERHELNAR
2 SRR MFRSEY  BE
ARPEAMNBBENEERSRELR
XKAEREFRNAKERHACRE

RPDBRREEHAERERESE -

activities.
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
(Note 22) (Note 23) Total
BATER HESE
(Pf=E22) (P¥=E23) st
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FH&TT
As at 1 April 2020 M2020F4 318 = 1,215 1,215
Financing cash flows: MERESRE
Proceeds from bank RITE PTG RIE
borrowings 10,000 - 10,000
Repayment of lease EEHEAE
liabilities - (539) (539)
Total changes from BMERCRELEE)
financing cash flows 10,000 (539) 9,461
Asat 31 March 2021 and B Z2021F3A31H &
1 April 2021 202144818 10,000 676 10,676
Financing cash flows: MERESRE
Repayment of bank ERRITHER
borrowings (10,000) - (10,000)
Proceeds from bank RITIEFRFTIS I
borrowings 15,000 - 15,000
Repayment of lease EEHEEARE
liabilities - (839) (839)
Total changes from RMEREREFEEE
financing cash flows 5,000 (839) 4,161
Other changes: Hihts)
Additions of lease liabilities SF B E & & - 1,947 1,947
As at 31 March 2022 R20224E3 318 15,000 1,784 16,784
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28. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 28. e RERERMT &)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash flow for leases (¢ HENHEESRELE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the EHEBEESRERANNHERE S RH &
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: AR -
Year ended 31 March
BZE3A31HILLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
HKS$’000 HKS$'000
TExT T T
Within financing activities EEEBA 839 539
29. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 29. RARERE

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible
obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed
by future events outside the Group’s control, or when it is not
possible to calculate the amount. As at 31 March 2022, the
Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities. The
directors believe that any potential compensation arising from
the ongoing litigations will be covered by relevant insurance
coverage and these litigations will not have a material adverse
effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group
(2021: Same).

SABERA NI AR ER (EEFE
A AIEAR S B e 15 5 M) R 2K B 1R

FRESETEEFTERHEE - 1202293 A31
B AEEWEEHEANAREE - EFHE
2 BARRNREHEBEBESFEFRA
FREAEREMEEEE  MtEFAKTE
HAL BN A O mEREKE(TERTF
(20214 : HE[R]) ©

Annual Report 2022 %} Chi Kan Holdings Limited %5 #1 £ iR B IR 2 7] 223



Financial Summary

B 7547 &

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for

(AETTIIR)

AEESOMEMBREFENEENEENABER]

the last four financial years is as follows: EZMT
Year ended 31 March
BE3H831ALEE
2019 2020 2021 2022
20194 20204 20214 20225
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
TET TET FET FET
RESULTS E
Revenue WS 525,153 685,853 826,198 1,574,341
Profit before income tax M TS5 B ) 49,390 50,331 49,939 79,404
Income tax expense FrS & X (7,833) (10,730) (7,201) (19,952)
Profit for the year F R F 41,557 39,601 42,738 59,452
Attributable to: AR & T FEAg -
Owners of the Company VIN/NECTEZZE DN 41,557 39,601 42,773 38,751
Non-controlling interest FEFERR RS - - (35) 20,701
41,557 39,601 42,738 59,452
As at 31 March
MA3A31H
2019 2020 2021 2022
20194 20204F 20214 20225
$'000 $'000 $'000 $’000
FET FET FET F#&xT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Total assets MEE 221,451 252,338 471,239 575,452
Total liabilities FEN=E (35,923) (59,670) (112,229) (171,900)
Net assets BEFE 185,528 192,668 359,010 403,552
This report is published in both English and Chinese languages. %R &5 AR H X R & EN8Y - fEMIE S BB R &

Should there be any inconsistency between the Chinese and English

versions, the English version shall prevail.
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